Doctoral Dissertation 博士論文

Combinatorial Realization of Minimal Models for Gaiotto-Rapcak's W-algebras (Gaiotto-RapcakによるW代数のミニマル模型の 組み合わせ論的実現)

A Dissertation Submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

 December 2020

 令和2年12月博士(理学)申請

Department of Physics, Graduate School of Science, The University of Tokyo 東京大学大学院理学系研究科 物理学専攻

> Koichi Harada 原田 浩一

Abstract

In this thesis, we study the minimal models' representation theory for a particular class of W-algebras proposed by Gaiotto and Rapcak. They constructed these W-algebras from supersymmetric gauge theories associated with type IIB string theory. One of their interesting features is that we can construct various W-algebras based on the most fundamental ones, which are called Y-algebras. We first study the Y-algebras' representation theory when their parameters agree with those of W_N minimal models. We use the plane partition representation of the affine Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1 , which provides a uniform description for all Y-algebras. We find that a certain constraint on the plane partition matches the Hilbert space of the W_N minimal models. Using this result, we propose a way to describe the Hilbert space for the minimal models of more general W-algebras. As an example, we study the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal models in detail and reproduce the correct primary fields and characters. We also discuss Bershadsky-Polyakov algebra and check the consistency with the literature.

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	4
2	Rev	view of W-algebras and minimal models	10
	2.1	Basics of two-dimensional conformal field theories	10
	2.2	W-algebras	15
		2.2.1 Classical case \ldots	16
		2.2.2 Quantum Drinfeld-Sokolov reduction	17
		2.2.3 Coset construction	23
	2.3	W_N minimal models and $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal models $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	25
		2.3.1 W_N minimal models from free boson realization	25
		2.3.2 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal models $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	29
3	Y-a	lgebra and its generalization	30
	3.1	Y-algebras	30
		3.1.1 Construction from the gauge theory	30
		3.1.2 Triality	34
		3.1.3 Modules of the Y-algebra	35
		3.1.4 The relation to $W_{1+\infty}$ and a plane partition	35
	3.2	Generalization of the Y-algebra	37
4	Affi	ne Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1	41
	4.1	Definition	41
	4.2	The relation to $W_{1+\infty}$	43
	4.3	$U(1)$ and Virasoro subalgebra \ldots	45
	4.4	Plane partition representation of the affine Yangian	45
	4.5	Constrained plane partition and the Y-algebra	49
5	Doi	ubly constrained plane partition and W_N minimal models	52
	5.1	Doubly constrained plane partition	52
	5.2	W_N minimal models from plane partitions $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	55
6	$\mathcal{N}=$	= 2 unitary minimal models from connected plane partitions	60
	6.1	Interpretation of negative weights in terms of a plane partition	61
	6.2	$\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra from plane partitions	62
	6.3	Spectral flow of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	65
	6.4	$\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal models	66
		6.4.1 $n = 1$ case \ldots	67
		6.4.2 General n	72

7	Bershadsky-Polyakov algebra	77	
	7.1 Modules	78	
	7.2 Realization by plane partitions	79	
8	Conclusion	82	
\mathbf{A}	Plane partition representation from the quantum toroidal algebra	85	
	A.1 Construction of the plane partition representation	86	
	A.2 Free field realization and Miki-automorphism	89	
	A.3 Degenerate limit of the quantum toroidal algebra	91	
в	The conformal dimension of the primary field in W_N minimal models from		
	affine Yangian		
\mathbf{C}	The norm of the primary states corresponding to the intermediate Young		
	diagrams	93	
D	The computation for (7.21)	94	

1 Introduction

Two-dimensional conformal field theories (CFTs) belong to a special class of quantum field theories (QFTs). Unlike the other QFTs, they possess infinite dimensional symmetry, which allows us to extract much information on the physical quantities without knowing the system's detail. The infinite dimensional algebra which describes this symmetry is known as Virasoro algebra, and we can study the 2d CFTs through its representation theory. In most cases, the symmetry does not determine the physical quantity completely, but we can sometimes solve the model exactly. The typical example is a minimal model that describes the system with only a finite number of fields.

Historically, the study of exactly solvable 2d CFTs was initiated by Belavin-Polyakov-Zamolodchikov (BPZ) in the pioneering work [1]. Because the conformal symmetry is a generalization of the scaling symmetry, the minimal models played a crucial role in the study of a phase transition. Two-dimensional CFTs also play a fundamental role in the string theory because they describe the theory on a world sheet. Since the BPZ's seminal work, 2d CFTs have been intensively studied, and it has become clear that some models possess larger symmetries than Virasoro symmetry. The algebras which describe such symmetries are usually referred to as W-algebras¹. The W-algebra discovered for the first time is W_3 algebra [2]. While Virasoro algebra is generated by the current T(z), W_3 algebra contains an extra current $W^{(3)}(z)$. One can also generalize it to W_N algebra which consists of the currents with spin 2, 3, 4, \cdots , N [3]. Unlike Virasoro algebra, W-algebras' commutation relation contains nonlinear terms and it is hard to write down the explicit commutation relation. Several techniques to deal with W-algebras have been developed so far, but there are still many points that have not been understood well.

The application of W-algebras is not limited to 2d CFTs. It has recently become clear that W-algebras play a crucial role in higher dimensional field theories. Especially, significant progress has been made in AdS_3/CFT_2 and 4d supersymmetric gauge theories. In these areas, various W-algebras appear and it has been gradually recognized that they can be described uniformly by a much larger W-algebra. For example, it was proposed that W_N minimal models in a large N limit are dual to the higher spin theories on AdS_3 and the underlying symmetry was identified with $W_{\infty}[\mu]$ [4, 5], which consists of the currents $W^{(s)}(z)$ with $s = 2, 3, 4, \dots \infty$. One can obtain W_N algebra as its truncation for arbitrary $N \ge 2$.

Another important example is 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric gauge theories. In [6], a remarkable duality between $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SU(2) gauge theory and Liouville field theory was discovered. It was immediately generalized in [7] to the duality between SU(N) gauge theories and Toda theories with W_N symmetry. These dualities were proved by mathematicians in

¹In this thesis, W-algebras denote the algebras generated by the energy-momentum tensor and other currents whose OPEs are local (i.e. the conformal dimension of the currents is integer or half-integer).

[8, 9] and are now called Alday-Gaiotto-Tachikawa (AGT) correspondence. In the proof process, it has become clear that the underlying symmetry can be understood well by a certain quantum group rather than W-algebras themselves. This quantum group has been studied in several contexts and has several names. In this thesis, we focus on the affine Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1 [10, 11]. One of the main advantages of using this algebra is that it has an explicit representation theory. This feature shed new light on the representation theory of W-algebras. The affine Yangian enables us to explicitly describe the Hilbert space of W_N algebras as opposed to the conventional approaches.

Interestingly, the affine Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1 is equivalent to $W_{\infty}[\mu]$ except that the former contains an extra U(1) free boson. This difference has a significant meaning. Adding the "U(1) factor" to W_{∞} makes it easier to deal with the algebra. We refer to it as $W_{1+\infty}^2$. The main advantage of using $W_{1+\infty}$ instead of W_{∞} is that there is a one-to-one correspondence between its vacuum representation and a plane partition. Here, a plane partition is a twodimensional array of non-negative integers $\pi_{i,j}$ satisfying $\pi_{i,j} \geq \pi_{i+1,j}$ and $\pi_{i,j} \geq \pi_{i,j+1}$. One can interpret a plane partition as a 3d Young diagram as follows:



Figure 1: Left: An example of $\pi_{i,j}$. Right: The corresponding plane partition.

One may wonder why a plane partition appears in the study of W-algebras. The best way to see the relation between them is to consider the vacuum character of $W_{1+\infty}$. Here, the character is the quantity that counts the number of the states. It is defined by

$$\chi(q) = \text{Tr } q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}},\tag{1.1}$$

where L_0 is the zero mode of Virasoro algebra and c is the central charge. It enables us to express the complicated structure of the Hilbert space simply by a power series. It also plays a crucial role as a physical quantity because we can interpret it as the torus partition

²It may be precise to express $W_{1+\infty}[\mu]$, but we denote it by $W_{1+\infty}$ just for simplicity.

function. In the construction of consistent theories, the study of its modular property is indispensable. Let us see how the character provides us crucial information. The vacuum character of $W_{1+\infty}$ serves as a good example. We can generate all the states by the creation operators $W_{-n_s}^{(s)}$ ($s \ge 1$, $n_s \ge s$) and the (normalized) character is given by

$$\frac{1}{\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^n)^n} = 1 + q + 3q^2 + 6q^3 + \cdots$$
 (1.2)

It is precisely the MacMahon function, which counts the number of the boxes in a plane partition [12]. The following figure demonstrates the configurations at low levels:



Figure 2: The configurations of a plane partition at low levels.

One can also describe the Hilbert space of W_N algebra (and an extra U(1) factor) by restricting the height of the plane partition to N. In this way, we can interpret the Hilbert space of the W_N -algebra simply and graphically. Furthermore, the affine Yangian enables us to understand explicitly how the algebra acts on the plane partition. That is quite different from the conventional technique to deal with W-algebras. This difference comes from the fact that the affine Yangian is described by the generators whose algebraic relations are explicitly defined. In other words, the affine Yangian realizes W-algebras in a totally different way from the conventional approaches. As a result, we can study the representation theory of W_N -algebra through manipulation (adding a box or removing a box) to a plane partition [11].

So far, we have seen that the affine Yangian provides a useful way to study the representation theory of $W_{1+\infty}$ or its truncation, W_N algebra. While W_N algebras are the most important and fundamental W-algebras, we often need to deal with other W-algebras.

In AdS_3/CFT_2 and AGT correspondence, many generalizations have been proposed and a variety of W-algebras appeared up until now. For AdS_3/CFT_2 , the correspondence was generalized to supersymmetric cases [13, 14, 15], matrix-valued higher spin fields [16], and so on. For AGT correspondence, it has been generalized to various cases, for example, the asymptotically locally Euclidean (ALE) spaces [17, 18], insertion of surface operators [19, 20] and the other gauge groups [21]. A variety of W-algebras other than W_N algebras showed up in these works. We also note that W-algebras play an important role in other fields such as topological string [22] and 4d/2d duality proposed in [23].

Recently, Gaiotto and Rapcak brought a new development in [24]. They constructed a new family of W-algebras called Y-algebras $Y_{L,M,N}[\Psi]$ from the 4d supersymmetric gauge theories associated with type IIB string theory. These W-algebras are labeled by three nonnegative integers L, M, N and reduce to W_N algebra (and a U(1) factor) when L = M = 0. It turned out that they were truncations of the affine Yangian³. The key observation which leads to this statement is that there is a one-to-one correspondence between the Hilbert space of $Y_{L,M,N}[\Psi]$ and the plane partition with a "pit" at $(L + 1, M + 1, N + 1)^4$. Here, a pit means a place where we cannot put a box [25]. For example, the following figure shows a plane partition with a pit at (3,2,1):



It is worth mentioning that a plane partition not only provides a technically useful tool but also captures the important property of the Y-algebra; $Y_{L,M,N}[\Psi]$ has a nontrivial symmetry which permutes L, M, N. This property is called triality and sometimes plays an important role in the study of W-algebras⁵. One can see that a plane partition manifestly respects the triality. In that sense, we can say that a plane partition provides a natural framework to describe the Hilbert space of the Y-algebra or $W_{1+\infty}$.

³We note that the same W-algebras were also proposed in a different context [25, 26].

⁴We set the coordinate of the origin to (1, 1, 1).

⁵We note that the triality plays an important role also in AdS_3/CFT_2 [5].

One of the remarkable and desirable features in Gaiotto-Rapcak's construction is that one can obtain various W-algebras by considering more general 4d supersymmetric gauge theories. Prochazka and Rapcak studied this construction in detail in [27, 28]. Because various 4d theories can be easily constructed from the brane construction in string theory, we can obtain a vast class of W-algebras. Indeed, many familiar algebras such as the affine Kac-Moody algebras $\hat{U}(N)$ and $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super W-algebras belong to this class. The important point in this construction is that these W-algebras are constructed from the combination of several Y-algebras. In other words, the W-algebra contains several Y-algebras as subalgebras. Therefore, we can describe the Hilbert space by using several plane partitions. In the following, we refer to the W-algebras constructed in this way as generalized Y-algebras.

In this thesis, we study the minimal models' representation theory for the generalized Y-algebras. We first study W_N minimal models in terms of a single plane partition. There are several related works [29, 30, 31, 32], where N-tuple Young diagrams are used as a basis of the Hilbert space. The authors of these works obtained the N-Burge condition, which imposes restrictions on Young diagrams' shape. In [11], Prochazka used a plane partition to study the W_N minimal models and checked that the result is compatible with the Young diagram approach when the central charge takes the particular value. We further study the plane partition description of W_N minimal models and find that the result is consistent with the N-Burge condition in all cases. We also find that all primary fields in the minimal model can be reproduced from a plane partition. As the next step, we study the Hilbert space of the minimal models for the generalized Y-algebras. We mainly focus on $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal models. Fortunately, many physicists have intensively studied them, motivated by their applications to string compactification. Especially, the character formula has already been derived [33, 34, 35], and we can examine whether our approach is correct. We found that the correct character is obtained by counting the number of boxes in a plane partition.

This thesis is organized as follows. In Section 2, we review the W-algebras and minimal models. This section provides the background knowledge for this thesis. We first recall the basics of two-dimensional conformal field theories. Next, we explain several techniques to deal with W-algebras. We also review the minimal models for W_N algebra and $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra. These minimal models are the main subjects of this thesis. In Section 3, we review the Y-algebra and its generalization. The Y-algebra is the W-algebra constructed from a supersymmetric gauge theory associated with type IIB string theory. We review its construction and several algebraic properties. We also explain the generalization of the Y-algebras which provides various W-algebras. In Section 4, we review the affine Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1 . We explain several properties, the plane partition representation for the particular value of the parameter. That is necessary to study minimal models. Next, we study the plane partition with a certain constraint provides the correct Hilbert space of W_N minimal

models. In Section 6, we propose the way to describe the Hilbert space of minimal models for generalized Y-algebras by using the result obtained in Section 5. We focus on $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal models and check that we can reproduce the known character and primary fields from the plane partition approach. In Section 7, we discuss Bershadsky-Polyakov algebra, which is a simplest non-principal W-algebra. We find that our approach reproduces the correct modules.

The original part of this thesis is provided in Section 5, Section 6 and Section 7 (more precisely, Section 7.2). This thesis is based on the paper [36], [37].



Figure 3: The flowchart of this thesis.

2 Review of W-algebras and minimal models

In this section, we review W-algebras and minimal models. We first recall the basics of twodimensional conformal field theories in Section 2.1. In Section 2.2, we review some techniques to deal with W-algebras. Concretely, we explain the quantum Drinfeld-Sokolov reduction and coset construction. We use these techniques in the definition of the Y-algebra, which we will discuss in Section 3. In section 2.3, we review the minimal models for W_N algebra and $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra. For W_N minimal models, we discuss the construction from free field realization. For $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal models, we use the coset construction.

2.1 Basics of two-dimensional conformal field theories

Before reviewing W-algebras, we recall the basics of 2d CFTs. They are governed by the infinite dimensional symmetry generated by Virasoro algebra:

$$[L_n, L_m] = (n-m)L_{n+m} + \frac{c}{12}(n+1)n(n-1) \qquad (n, m \in \mathbb{Z}),$$
(2.1)

where c is called the central charge which commutes with all the other generators. These generators are obtained from the mode expansion of the holomorphic field called an energymomentum tensor:

$$T(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} L_n z^{-n-2}.$$
(2.2)

There is also an anti-holomorphic field $\overline{T}(\overline{z}) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \overline{L}_n \overline{z}^{-n-2}$ and it commutes with the holomorphic part. In the following, we focus on the holomorphic part.

In 2d CFTs, it is often convenient to use the holomorphic field instead of individual modes to describe the algebraic relation. Let us consider the two fields X(z), Y(z). In general, we cannot place them at the same point because their product diverges. In 2d CFTs, we express such behavior as follows:

$$X(z)Y(w) \sim \sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{(XY)_n(w)}{(z-w)^n}.$$
(2.3)

Here, the symbol " \sim " indicates that this relation focuses on the singular behavior when we take the limit of $z \to w$. The order N of the pole depends on X(z) and Y(w). The field $(XY)_n$ in each term can be sometimes written by X(w), Y(w) or their derivatives, but in general, gives a new field. This kind of relation is called operator product expansion (OPE) and provides us enough information. To see that, we consider the case for Virasoro algebra. The OPE relation between two energy-momentum tensors is given as follows:

$$T(z)T(w) \sim \frac{c/2}{(z-w)^4} + \frac{2T(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial T(w)}{z-w},$$
 (2.4)

where ∂ denotes a partial derivative. Let us check that this relation reproduces the commutation relation of Virasoro algebra. We can do that as follows:

$$[L_n, L_m] = \oint_0 \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \oint_w \frac{dz}{2\pi i} z^{n+1} w^{m+1} T(z) T(w)$$

= $\oint_0 \frac{dw}{2\pi i} \oint_w \frac{dz}{2\pi i} z^{n+1} w^{m+1} \left(\frac{c/2}{(z-w)^4} + \frac{2T(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial T(w)}{z-w} \right)$ (2.5)
= $(n-m)L_{n+m} + \frac{c}{12}(n+1)n(n-1).$

It indeed agrees with (2.1).

In 2d CFTs, we usually deal with the fields $\Phi(z)$ which transform covariantly under the action of Virasoro algebra as

$$T(z)\Phi(w) \sim \dots + \frac{h\Phi(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial\Phi(w)}{z-w}.$$
(2.6)

This field is called a quasi-primary field and especially called a primary field when the singular terms $\frac{1}{(z-w)^n}$ with $n \geq 3$ vanish. By setting $\Phi(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi_n z^{-n-h}$, we see that this relation leads to $[L_0, \Phi_n] = -n\Phi_n$. The parameter h is called conformal dimension and corresponds to scaling dimension. One can see that the conformal dimension of T(z) is h = 2. In Section 2.2, we also consider the additional current with conformal dimension greater than 2. The OPE between such currents involves singular terms at the higher order and becomes more complicated.

Let us consider the representation theory of Virasoro algebra. The highest weight representation is defined as follows:

$$L_0 |h\rangle = h |h\rangle, \quad L_n |h\rangle = 0 \ (n > 0). \tag{2.7}$$

When h = 0, the corresponding state $|0\rangle$ is called vacuum state. By considering the action of the raising operator L_n (n < 0) on $|h\rangle$, we can obtain the descendant states $\prod_{n_1 \ge n_2 \ge \dots > 0} L_{-n_1} L_{-n_2} \cdots |h\rangle$. The conformal dimension for this state is given by $h + \sum_i n_i$. The number $\sum_i n_i$ is often called level. The highest weight state $|h\rangle$ can be realized by inserting the primary field $\Phi(z)$ with conformal dimension h at the origin,

$$|h\rangle = \lim_{w \to 0} \Phi(w) |0\rangle.$$
(2.8)

We can see it by considering the action of T(z) on the right hand side, which can be read off from (2.6) as $T(z) |h\rangle = (\frac{h}{z^2} + \cdots) |h\rangle$. Thus, there is a one-to-one correspondence between the state and the field in CFTs.

For generic values of the central charge and the conformal dimension, the highest weight representation is irreducible, but sometimes becomes reducible. That happens when there appears a state $|\xi\rangle$ satisfying

$$L_n \left| \xi \right\rangle = 0 \quad (n > 0) \tag{2.9}$$

other than the highest state $|h\rangle$. Such a state is called singular or null. Because the state $|\xi\rangle$ and its descendant states form subrepresentation, we have to remove them to obtain the irreducible representation. Such representation is called degenerate representation. For a generic value of the central charge, there is at most one null state and it is easy to remove it. However, there appear two null states $|\xi_1\rangle$, $|\xi_2\rangle$ simultaneously for the particular value of the central charge. In such cases, the degree of freedom is extremely reduced, which allows us to construct the exactly solvable models called minimal models. On the other hand, the Hilbert space structure becomes complicated; it is not adequate to remove two subrepresentation spaces independently because some states belong to both of them. Therefore, we need to study the representation theory carefully in such cases.

To express the conformal dimension of the degenerate fields, it is convenient to parametrize the central charge as

$$c = 1 + 6Q^2, \quad Q = b + b^{-1}.$$
 (2.10)

Then the highest weight state with the conformal dimension

$$h_{r,s} = \frac{Q^2}{4} - \left(\frac{br + b^{-1}s}{2}\right)^2 \quad (r, s \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ge 1})$$
(2.11)

has a null vector at level N = rs. The important property is that a set of degenerate fields are closed under the OPE (or fusion rule). However, there are still infinitely many fields. Meanwhile, when the central charge is parametrized by coprime integers $p, q \ge 2$ as

$$b^2 = -\frac{p}{q}, \quad c = 1 - 6\frac{(p-q)^2}{pq},$$
(2.12)

a set of the degenerate fields labeled by

$$1 \le r \le q - 1, \quad 1 \le s \le p - 1.$$
 (2.13)

is closed under the OPE. Because of $h_{r,s} = h_{q-r,p-s}$, there are null vectors at level rs and (q-r)(p-s). Then we can construct the model which contains only a finite number of fields. It is the simplest example of minimal models. In general, we can also consider the algebra larger than Virasoro algebra and it is also possible to construct minimal models for such algebras. We will discuss them in more detail in Section 2.3.

In the representation theory, the character is one of the most important quantities because it captures the structure of the Hilbert space. It is defined as

$$\chi(\tau) = \text{Tr } q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}}, \tag{2.14}$$

where q is the expansion parameter and the trace is taken over all the states. It counts the number of the states in the Hilbert space and provides crucial information for the null states. Furthermore, one can also interpret it as a torus partition function. To see that, let us consider the 2d CFT on the torus with the periodic coordinate $w \simeq w + 2\pi \simeq w + 2\pi\tau$, where $\tau = \tau_1 + i\tau_2 \in \mathbb{C}$. While the cylinder $w \simeq w + 2\pi$ describes the time evolution from $t = -\infty$ to $t = \infty$, the torus describes the system with the periodicity $t \simeq t + \tau_2$ imposed on the time direction. Therefore, the partition function $Z(\tau, \overline{\tau})$ is given by

$$Z(\tau, \overline{\tau}) = \text{Tr } e^{-2\pi\tau_2 H + 2\pi i \tau_1 P}$$

= Tr $e^{-2\pi\tau_2 (L_0 + \overline{L}_0 - \frac{c}{24}) + 2\pi i \tau_1 (L_0 - \overline{L}_0)}$
= Tr $q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}} \overline{q}^{\overline{L}_0 - \frac{c}{24}},$ (2.15)

where $q = e^{2\pi i \tau}$. Here, we use the fact that the Hamiltonian H and the momentum P are given by $H = L_0 + \overline{L}_0 - \frac{c}{24}$ and $P = L_0 - \overline{L}_0$. Thus, we can compute the partition function purely from the representation theory. For generic parameters, the character can be computed as

$$\chi(\tau) = \frac{q^{h - \frac{c}{24}}}{\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^n)},$$
(2.16)

where each factor in the denominator comes from the contribution from L_{-n} . When there is a null state at level N, we need to subtract all of its descendant states, and the character changes as

$$\chi(\tau) = \frac{q^{h-\frac{c}{24}}}{\prod_{n=1}^{\infty}(1-q^n)} - \frac{q^{h+N-\frac{c}{24}}}{\prod_{n=1}^{\infty}(1-q^n)} = \frac{q^{h-\frac{c}{24}}(1-q^N)}{\prod_{n=1}^{\infty}(1-q^n)}.$$
(2.17)

For the case that there are two null states, the character becomes much more complicated. The character for minimal models is one of the most important objects in our study.

Finally, we explain the affine Kac-Moody algebra (also called current algebra), which plays an important role in the next section. It is realized from the currents $J^i(z)$ with conformal dimension h = 1. The possible form of the OPE is given as

$$J^{i}(z)J^{j}(w) \sim \frac{\kappa^{ij}}{(z-w)^{2}} + \frac{f_{k}^{ij}J^{k}(w)}{z-w}.$$
(2.18)

This OPE must satisfy associativity (Jacobi-identity). That requires f_k^{ij} to be a structure constant of some Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . Namely, the current $J^i(z)$ is associated with the element J^i of \mathfrak{g} satisfying

$$[J^{i}, J^{j}] = f_{k}^{ij} J^{k} \qquad (i, j, k = 1, 2, \cdots, \dim \mathfrak{g}),$$
(2.19)

where dim \mathfrak{g} denotes the number of the elements in \mathfrak{g} . For κ^{ij} , it must be proportional to a symmetric invariant bilinear form of \mathfrak{g} . Therefore, we can set

$$\kappa^{ij} = k(J^i|J^j). \tag{2.20}$$

Here, $(\cdot|\cdot)$ is an invariant norm of \mathfrak{g} and we usually set $(J^i|J^j) \propto \text{Tr } J^i J^j$. For later convenience, we introduce the dual element J_i by $(J^i|J_j) = \delta^i_j$. The element k commutes

with all of the other elements and its value is called level⁶. The algebra formed by $J^{i}(z)$ is usually denoted by $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$ or \hat{G} , where G is the corresponding Lie group. When we want to express the level explicitly, we also denote them by $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}_{k}$ or \hat{G}_{k} .

We note that (2.18) is simplified when $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{u}(1)$ because the second term disappears. Therefore, the level k can be absorbed into the normalization of the current and does not have an essential meaning. We often refer to $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ current as U(1) boson because it appears in the free boson theory.

One can construct the energy-momentum tensor T(z) from the current algebra. Because the conformal dimension of T(z) is two, it is expected that we can obtain it as the product of two currents $J^i(z), J_i(z)$. Here, we need to note that we have to remove the divergence from the product. That is possible by defining the normal ordered product as

$$: X(w)Y(w) :\equiv \oint_{w} \frac{dz}{z-w} X(z)Y(w).$$
(2.21)

One can see that the divergent part in (2.3) is indeed removed. After some computation, one can see that the current

$$T(z) = \frac{1}{2(k+h_{g}^{\vee})} (J^{i}J_{i})(z)$$
(2.22)

satisfies the OPE (2.4) with the central charge

$$c = \frac{k \dim \mathfrak{g}}{k + h_{\mathfrak{g}}^{\vee}}.$$
(2.23)

Here, we use the dual Coxeter number $h_{\mathfrak{g}}^{\vee}$ defined by

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\operatorname{ad} J^{i})(\operatorname{ad} J^{j}) = 2h_{\mathfrak{g}}^{\vee}(J^{i}|J^{j}), \qquad (2.24)$$

where ad J^i means the adjoint representation of J^i . The above way to obtain the energymomentum tensor is called Sugawara construction.

One can also generalize the above construction to super Lie algebras. The super Lie algebra consists of bosonic elements and fermionic elements. They are graded by \mathbb{Z}_2 and decomposed by its charge as $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_1$. The representation space V is also decomposed as $V = V_0 \oplus V_1$. The \mathbb{Z}_2 grading is preserved under the product. The different point from Lie algebras is that the commutator is given by

$$[x, y] = xy - (-1)^{p(z)p(y)}yx, \qquad (2.25)$$

where we use the notation

$$p(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & (x \in \mathfrak{g}_0) \\ 1 & (x \in \mathfrak{g}_1). \end{cases}$$
(2.26)

 $^{^{6}}$ We note that this terminology was already used in a different meaning. We need to be careful not to get confused.

We also need to replace dim \mathfrak{g} with sdim $\mathfrak{g} \equiv \dim \mathfrak{g}_0 - \dim \mathfrak{g}_1$ and the trace with the super trace $\operatorname{STr}_V x \equiv \operatorname{Tr}_V \Gamma x$, where Γ acts as $(-1)^i$ on V_i . In this thesis, we consider only $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{u}(N|M)$, which is defined by $(N+M) \times (N+M)$ as follows:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} & \stackrel{N}{\longrightarrow} & \stackrel{M}{\longleftarrow} \\ \stackrel{N}{\uparrow} \left(\begin{array}{c|c} A & B \\ \hline C & D \end{array} \right) \\ \end{array}$$

In this case, we have $\mathfrak{g}_0 = A \oplus D$, $\mathfrak{g}_1 = B \oplus C$.

2.2 W-algebras

Two-dimensional CFTs always possess the Virasoro symmetry, but there are sometimes larger symmetries. To describe them, we have to introduce new currents in addition to the energy-momentum tensor so that they will satisfy the Jacobi-identity and form a closed algebra. Such an algebra is usually called W-algebra. The typical example is W_N algebra, which consists of the currents with the conformal dimension $2, 3, 4, \dots, N$. One can see Virasoro algebra as W_2 algebra. Apart from Virasoro algebra, the simplest example is W_3 algebra, which was constructed in [2]. It is generated by the energy-momentum tensor T(z)and an additional current $W^{(3)}(z)$. The OPE between two $W^{(3)}(z)$ currents is given as follows:

$$W^{(3)}(z)W^{(3)}(w) \sim \frac{c/3}{(z-w)^6} + \frac{2T(w)}{(z-w)^4} + \frac{\partial T(w)}{(z-w)^3} + \frac{1}{(z-w)^2} \left[\frac{32}{22+5c}\Lambda(w) + \frac{3}{10}\partial^2 T(w)\right] + \frac{1}{z-w} \left[\frac{16}{22+5c}\partial\Lambda(w) + \frac{1}{15}\partial^3 T(w)\right],$$
(2.27)

where

$$\Lambda(w) =: T(w)T(w) : -\frac{3}{10}\partial^2 T(w).$$
(2.28)

The relation is complicated compared with Virasoro algebra. For general W-algebras, the OPE relations become much more complicated and it is impossible to write down the explicit OPE relations among currents. Then we have to find an alternative way to deal with W-algebras. In the following, we review some systematic ways to construct and study W-algebras. We refer to the comprehensive reviews [38, 39] for a more detailed explanation of W-algebras.

2.2.1 Classical case ⁷

One of the most powerful ways to construct W-algebras is the quantum Drinfeld-Sokolov reduction. As is clear from the name, it has a classical counterpart. The motivation of the construction comes from the classical integrable system known as KdV system. Before considering the quantum case, let us get an overview of the classical story, based on [40].

The KdV equation is a nonlinear differential equation for the function u(x,t) given by

$$\dot{u} - 6uu' - u''' = 0. \tag{2.29}$$

Here, we set $\dot{u} = \partial_t u$ and $u' = \partial_x u$. It is known that the KdV system is an integrable system and possesses infinitely many conserved charges. That is guaranteed by the fact that the equation (2.29) can be rewritten into the Lax form as follows:

$$\partial_t L = [P, L], \tag{2.30}$$

$$L = \partial_x^2 + u, \quad P = 4\partial_x^3 + 6u\partial_x + 3u_x. \tag{2.31}$$

The Lax form allows us to construct infinitely many flow equations which are compatible with each other in a systematic way.⁸

The KdV equation can also be described as a Hamiltonian system. The Poisson bracket is given by

$$\{u(x), u(y)\} = \delta'''(y-x) + 2u'(x)\delta(y-x) + 4u\delta'(y-x)$$
(2.32)

and the equation (2.29) can be rewritten as follows:

$$\dot{u} = \{H, u\},$$
 (2.33)

where $H = \int \frac{u^2}{2} dx$. Let us define the component of u(x) as follows:

$$h_k = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int x^{k+1} u(x) dx.$$
 (2.34)

Then the Poisson bracket (2.32) implies

$$\{h_k, h_l\} = (k-l)h_{k+l} + \frac{1}{2}\delta_{k+l,0}(k^2 - 1)k.$$
(2.35)

This is precisely the classical Virasoro algebra. Here, we mean by "classical" that the algebraic relation is defined by not a commutator but a Poisson bracket.

 $^{^{7}}$ The reader can skip this section, but it helps us to understand the motivation of the method explained in the next section.

⁸Concretely, the flow equations are given by $\partial_{t_i} L = [P_i, L]$ $(i = 1, 2, 3, \cdots)$, where $P_i = (L^{\frac{2i+1}{2}})_+$. Here, the fractional power of a differential operator contains negative power of derivative ∂^{-n} and the subscript "+" means the projection to the part without nonnegative derivative. These equations are compatible, namely, $\partial_{t_l} \partial_{t_m} = \partial_{t_m} \partial_{t_l}$, which leads to the existence of infinitely many conserved charges.

One can generalize the KdV system by replacing the Lax operator L defined in (2.31) with the higher differential operator,

$$L = \partial^{n} + u_{n-2}\partial^{n-2} + u_{n-3}\partial^{n-3} + \dots + u_{0}.$$
 (2.36)

The generalized KdV system can also be expressed in a Lax formalism similar to (2.30) and written as a Hamiltonian system. The classical W_n algebra is defined as the algebra formed by $u_i(x)$ $(i = 0, 1, \dots, n-2)$ whose algebraic structure is given by the Poisson bracket.

The crucial observation is that one can reduce a higher order differential equation to a first order differential equation. To see that, we introduce n functions $p_0 = p$, $p_1 = p'$, $p_2 = p'_1, \dots, p_{n-1} = p'_{n-2}$. Then the equation Lp = 0 is rewritten as

$$(\partial - J + U)\vec{p} = \vec{0}, \qquad (2.37)$$

where J and U are $n \times n$ matrices whose nonzero components are $J_{i,i+1} = 1$ and $U_{n-1,i} = u_i$ $(i = 0, 1, \dots, n-2)$, namely,

More generally, any n-th order differential equation can be written in the form of

$$l_q \vec{p} = \vec{0}, \qquad l_q \equiv \partial - J + q, \tag{2.39}$$

where q is an $n \times n$ lower triangular matrix. Here, we need to note that the different matrices q_1 and q_2 may give the same L. That happens iff they are related by the similarity transformation $l_{q_1} = g^{-1}l_{q_2}g$ for $g \in \mathcal{N}$. Here, \mathcal{N} denotes a set of the matrices in the form of $I + \nu$ where I is the unit matrix and ν is a strictly lower triangular matrix. Then we need to fix this redundancy. We have already seen one possible choice in (2.38), which is sometimes called U-gauge. On the other hand, we can also fix the gauge without setting a matrix to a particular form. One can consider the whole of $n \times n$ matrices by identifying the elements related by the gauge transformation. Namely, one can obtain the classical W_n algebra as the reduction of \mathfrak{sl}_n . One can also apply this method to the other simple Lie algebras [41]. In the next section, we discuss the quantum counterpart of the above story by using Becchi-Rouet-Stora-Tyutin (BRST) formalism which is known as the gauge fixing procedure.

2.2.2 Quantum Drinfeld-Sokolov reduction

The quantum Drinfeld-Sokolov reduction is the systematic method to construct W-algebras from affine Kac-Moody algebras [42, 43, 44]. The idea is the same as the classical case.

Namely, the W-algebra is defined through the gauge fixing procedure. In this construction, the data which characterizes the W-algebra are given by a simple Lie superalgebra \mathfrak{g} , the level k of affine Kac-Moody algebra $\hat{\mathfrak{g}}$ and \mathfrak{sl}_2 subalgebra $\{e, x, f\}$ in \mathfrak{g}^9 . The last one determines the type of reduction, as we will see below; in the previous discussion, we focused on the matrix in the form of (2.38), but the other reductions are also possible. We give the detailed prescription below:

1. \mathfrak{g} is decomposed by the eigenvalues of x as follows:

$$\mathfrak{g} = \oplus_{i \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{g}_i \tag{2.40}$$

We note that the eigenvalues are half-integer due to the representation theory of \mathfrak{sl}_2 . We set

$$\mathfrak{g}_+ = \bigoplus_{i>0} \mathfrak{g}_i, \qquad \mathfrak{g}_- = \bigoplus_{i<0} \mathfrak{g}_i.$$
 (2.41)

For later convenience, we introduce index sets S, S' such that

$$\mathfrak{g}_{+} = \bigoplus_{i \in S} \mathfrak{g}_{i}, \qquad \mathfrak{g}_{\frac{1}{2}} = \bigoplus_{i \in S'} \mathfrak{g}_{i}.$$
 (2.42)

2. We introduce a pair of the ghost fields $(\varphi^i(z), \varphi^*_i(z))$ called charged ghosts for $i \in S^{10}$. Their statistics (i.e. fermionic or bosonic) are opposite to those of \mathfrak{g}_i . Their OPEs are given by

$$\varphi^i(z)\varphi^*_j(w) \sim \frac{\delta^i_j}{z-w}.$$
(2.43)

We assign the charge 1 (resp. -1) to $\varphi^*(z)$ (resp. $\varphi(z)$). For the other fields, we set the charge to zero.

3. We introduce another ghost field $\Phi_i(z)$ called neutral ghost for $i \in S'$ whose statistics are the same as \mathfrak{g}_i . The OPE is given by

$$\Phi^{i}(z)\Phi^{j}(w) \sim \frac{(f|[J^{i}, J^{j}])}{z-w},$$
(2.44)

where $(\cdot|\cdot)$ is the non-degenerate invariant norm of \mathfrak{g} .

4. We define the operator d as follows:

$$d = \oint dz \ d(z), \tag{2.45}$$

⁹Precisely speaking, we can construct W-algebras from a nilpotent element f and a diagonizable element x satisfying some conditions. The elements f, x do not need to be a part of \mathfrak{sl}_2 -triplet [44].

¹⁰They are often called *bc* ghosts for the fermionic fields and $\beta\gamma$ ghosts for the bosonic fields.

$$d(z) = \sum_{i \in S} \left((-1)^{p(J^{i})} J^{i}(z) + (f|J^{i}) \right) \varphi_{i}^{*}(z) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j,l \in S} (-1)^{p(J^{i})p(J^{l})} f_{l}^{ij} : \varphi^{l}(z)\varphi_{i}^{*}(z)\varphi_{j}^{*}(z) : + \sum_{i \in S'} \varphi_{i}^{*}(z)\Phi^{i}(z).$$

$$(2.46)$$

It is obvious that this operator is fermionic and its charge is 1. Because $d(z)d(w) \sim O((z-w)^0)$, we find $d^2 = 0$. Then we can see d as a BRST operator and define the BRST complex (C_k^{\bullet}, d) graded by the charge introduced above. Here, the subscript k denotes the level of affine Kac-Moody algebra. The W-algebra is defined as the zeroth cohomology.

We note that the first two terms in (2.46) give the standard BRST operator which classically sets $J^i(z)$ to the constant $-(-1)^{p(J^i)}(f|J^i)$ for $i \in S$. The last term may be unfamiliar, but it is necessary in order to impose e(z) = -1 consistently; if we set all the elements of $\mathfrak{g}_{\frac{1}{2}}$ to zero, e(z) is also set to zero because the commutator of the elements in $\mathfrak{g}_{\frac{1}{2}}$ becomes zero.

Let us first check that the W-algebra defined above always contains Virasoro algebra. The total Virasoro algebra should consist of three factors: the affine Lie algebra, the charged ghosts and the neutral ghosts. Let us introduce the following energy-momentum tensor to each sector:

$$T^{\mathfrak{g}}(z) = \frac{1}{2(k+h_{\mathfrak{g}}^{\vee})} \sum_{i \in \text{all}} : J^{i}(z)J_{i}(z) : +\partial x(z), \qquad (2.47)$$

$$T^{ch}(z) = -\sum_{i \in S} m_i : \varphi_i^*(z) \partial \varphi^i(z) : + \sum_{i \in S} (1 - m_i) : (\partial \varphi_i^*(z)) \varphi^i(z) :, \qquad (2.48)$$

$$T^{ne}(z) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \in S'} : (\partial \Phi^i(z)) \Phi_i(z) :,$$
(2.49)

where the parameters m_i are defined by

$$[x, J^i] = m_i J^i. (2.50)$$

These currents are defined so that the conformal dimension of d(z) will be equal to 1; each field behaves as a primary field whose conformal dimension is given as follows¹¹:

$$J^{i}(z): 1 - m_{i}, \quad \varphi_{i}(z): 1 - m_{i}, \quad \varphi_{i}^{*}(z): m_{i}, \quad \Phi_{i}(z): \frac{1}{2} \quad .$$
(2.51)

The central charges of these energy-momentum tensors are given by

$$c^{\mathfrak{g}} = \frac{k \operatorname{sdim}\mathfrak{g}}{k + h^{\vee}_{\mathfrak{g}}} - 12k(x|x), \qquad (2.52)$$

$$c^{ch} = -\sum_{i \in S} (-1)^{p(\varphi^i)} (12m_i^2 - 12m_i + 2), \qquad (2.53)$$

$$c^{ne} = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{sdim}\mathfrak{g}.$$
(2.54)

¹¹Precisely, the Cartan element $J^i(z)$ satisfying $(x|J^i) \neq 0$ behaves as a quasi-primary field.

The total energy-momentum tensor and its central charge are given by

$$T(z) = T^{\mathfrak{g}}(z) + T^{ch}(z) + T^{ne}(z), \qquad (2.55)$$

$$c = c^{\mathfrak{g}} + c^{ch} + c^{ne} = \text{sdim}\mathfrak{g}_0 - \frac{1}{2}\text{sdim}\mathfrak{g}_{\frac{1}{2}} - 12|\frac{\rho}{(k+h_{\mathfrak{g}}^{\vee})^{1/2}} - x(k+h_{\mathfrak{g}}^{\vee})^{1/2}|^2, \quad (2.56)$$

where ρ is the Weyl vector which satisfies $(\rho, \alpha) = 1$ for all the simple roots α . Because the conformal dimension of d(z) is one, it satisfies [d, T(z)] = 0, which implies that T(z) is the energy-momentum tensor for $W_k(\mathfrak{g}, x, f)$.

As an example, let us consider the case of $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{sl}_N^{12}$ and $f = J^{-\theta}$, where θ is the longest root. We note that this case corresponds to (2.38). This \mathfrak{sl}_2 embedding is often called principal. In this case, we can identify S with the positive root system Δ^+ . The BRST charge is given by

$$d = d^{(0)} + d^{(1)},$$

$$d^{(0)} = \int dz \left(\sum_{\alpha \in \Delta^+} J^{\alpha}(z) \varphi^*_{\alpha}(z) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \Delta^+} f^{\alpha\beta}_{\gamma} : \varphi^{\gamma}(z) \varphi^*_{\alpha}(z) \varphi^*_{\beta}(z) : \right),$$

$$d^{(1)} = \int dz \ \chi(J^{\alpha}) \varphi^*_{\alpha}(z)$$
(2.57)

where we set

$$\chi(J^{\alpha}) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \alpha \text{ is simple.} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(2.58)

We note that the neutral ghost does not appear in this case. For the computation of the cohomology, we introduce the current,

$$\widehat{J}^{i}(z) = J^{i}(z) + \sum_{\beta,\gamma \in \Delta^{+}} f_{\gamma}^{i\beta} : \varphi_{\gamma}(z)\varphi_{\beta}^{*}(z) : .$$
(2.59)

We split the complex C_k^{\bullet} into the two parts, $C_k^{\bullet} = C_{k,1}^{\bullet} \otimes C_{k,2}^{\bullet}$. Here, $C_{k,1}^{\bullet}$ is spanned by $\widehat{J}^{\alpha}(z)$ and $\varphi^{\alpha}(z)$ while $C_{k,2}^{\bullet}$ is spanned by $\widehat{J}^{\alpha}(z)$ $(a \in \Delta^- \cup \mathfrak{n})$ and $\varphi^*_{\alpha}(z)$. We note that this decomposition holds not only at the level of the vector space but also at the level of the complex. The cohomology of $C_{k,1}^{\bullet}$ can be easily computed. From the relation

$$[d, \widehat{J}^{\alpha}] = 0, \quad \{d, \varphi^{\alpha}(z)\} = \widehat{J}^{\alpha}(z) + \chi(J^{\alpha}), \tag{2.60}$$

we see that the identification $\widehat{J}^{\alpha}(z) \sim -\chi(J^{\alpha})$ holds in the cohomology, which implies that we can identify the zeroth cohomology of $C_{k,1}^{\bullet}$ as constant \mathbb{C} . This result corresponds to the gauge fixing in (2.38) where the strictly upper triangular part of the matrix is fixed. We note that the cohomological degree (ghost charge) can now take non-negative values.

¹²In this thesis, we do not distinguish \mathfrak{sl}_N and $\mathfrak{su}(N)$.

The remaining task is to compute the cohomology of $C_{k,2}^{\bullet}$. The important observation is that we can associate the structure of a double complex to $C_{k,2}^{\bullet}$ because of the relation $d^{(0)} \cdot d^{(0)} = d^{(1)} \cdot d^{(1)} = \{d^{(0)}, d^{(1)}\} = 0$. Then we can use the technique of the spectral sequence where the zeroth differential and the first differential are given by $d^{(1)}$ and $d^{(0)}$, respectively. Let us consider the cohomology for $d^{(1)}$. From the relation

$$[d^{(1)}, \hat{J}^{a}(z)] = \sum_{\beta \in \Delta^{+}} ([f, J^{a}] | J^{\beta}) \varphi^{*}_{\beta}(z), \qquad (2.61)$$

we see that $\widehat{J}^{a}(z)$ commutes with $d^{(1)}$ if and only if $[f, J^{a}] = 0$ holds, or in other words, J^{a} is the lowest weight vector of \mathfrak{sl}_{2} multiplet. Because \mathfrak{sl}_{N} is decomposed into the irreducible representations of \mathfrak{sl}_{2} as $\mathfrak{sl}_{N} = \underline{3} \oplus \underline{5} \oplus \underline{7} \oplus \cdots \oplus \underline{2N-1}^{13}$, we have N-1 lowest vector. We denote by $P^{(i)}(z)$ $(i = 1, 2, \cdots, N-1)$ the linear combination of the corresponding $\widehat{J}^{a}(z)$ s. We note that these currents correspond to $u_{0}, u_{1}, \cdots, u_{n-2}$ in (2.38). One may also see that the fields $\varphi^{*}_{\alpha}(z)$ also commute with $d^{(1)}$, but they are exact elements, which can be seen from (2.61). That implies the identification $\varphi^{*}_{\alpha}(z) \sim 0$. Thus one can show that the cohomology for $d^{(1)}$ is generated by $P^{(i)}(z)$ if the cohomological degree (i.e. ghost charge) is 0. For the other degree, it vanishes. Next, we need to take the cohomology for $d^{(0)}$. That can be implemented by adding to $P^{(i)}(z)$ the correction terms so that it will commute with the differential $d = d^{(0)} + d^{(1)}$. They can be determined recursively by solving $d^{(1)}X_{j+1}(z) = -d^{(0)}X_{j}(z)$, $X_{0} = P^{(i)}(z)$. Then the generator is given by $W^{(i)}(z) = P^{(i)}(z) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} X_{j}(z)$, where n is an integer such that $d^{(0)}X_{n}(z) = 0$ holds. One can see from (2.51) that the conformal dimension of these generators are $2, 3, 4, \cdots, N$. Thus this W-algebra is W_{N} algebra.

For generic \mathfrak{g} and \mathfrak{sl}_2 embedding, it is difficult to compute the cohomology, but it is expected that the corresponding W-algebra is generated by the currents in the form of $P^{(i)}(z) + \cdots$, where $P^{(i)}$ is again the current associated with the lowest vector of \mathfrak{sl}_2 multiplet. When \mathfrak{g} is decomposed by \mathfrak{sl}_2 into $\mathfrak{g} = \underline{n_1} \oplus \underline{n_2} \oplus \cdots \oplus \underline{n_M}$, the W-algebra is generated by the currents $W^{(i)}(z)$ $(i = 1, 2, \cdots, M)$ with the conformal dimension $\frac{n_1+1}{2}, \frac{n_2+1}{2}, \cdots, \frac{n_M+1}{2}$. One can easily check that this claim is true at least for a singlet of \mathfrak{sl}_2 . Indeed, one can immediately check that the following current $\widehat{J}^i(z)$ satisfies $[d, \widehat{J}^i(z)] = 0$ if \mathfrak{g}_i is a \mathfrak{sl}_2 singlet:

$$\widehat{J}^{i}(z) = J^{i}(z) + J^{i}_{ch}(z) + J^{i}_{ne}(z), \qquad (2.62)$$

where

$$J_{ch}^{i}(z) = -\sum_{j,k\in S} (-1)^{p(\varphi_{\alpha})} f_{j}^{ik} : \varphi^{j}(z)\varphi_{k}^{*}(z) :, \qquad (2.63)$$

$$J_{ne}^{i}(z) = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j,k\in S'} (-1)^{p(\Phi_{i})} f_{j}^{ik} : \Phi^{j}(z)\Phi_{k}(z) :.$$
(2.64)

 $^{^{13}\}mathrm{We}$ denote by \underline{n} the $n\text{-dimensional }\mathfrak{sl}_2$ irreducible representation.

We note that the \mathfrak{sl}_2 embedding of \mathfrak{sl}_N is labeled by the partition of N as follows:

$$f = \begin{array}{c} n_{1} \\ n_{1} \\ \\ n_{2} \\ \\ \\ n_{M} \\ \end{array} \right) \begin{pmatrix} \begin{array}{c} 0 \\ 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \end{array} \right)$$

Figure 4: This figure corresponds to \mathfrak{sl}_2 embedding for the partition $N = n_1 + n_2 + \cdots + n_M$ $(n_1, n_2, \cdots, n_M \ge 1.)$

For later convenience, we denote by $DS_n(\widehat{\mathfrak{sl}}_N)$ the DS reduction for the partition $N = n+1+1+1+\cdots+1$.

Finally, we mention to the case of $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{sl}_{2|1}$. We first fix the notation. We denote the elements of $\mathfrak{sl}_{2|1}$ by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{2h_1+h_2}{3} & e_{12} & e_1\\ f_{12} & \frac{-h_1-2h_2}{3} & f_2\\ \hline f_1 & e_2 & \frac{h_1-h_2}{3} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.65)

In this case, the \mathfrak{sl}_2 embedding is uniquely determined; it is given by $(e_{12}, h_1 + h_2, f_{12})$. Then $\mathfrak{sl}_{2|1}$ is decomposed into $\underline{1} + \underline{2} + \underline{2} + \underline{3}$, which corresponds to $(h_1 - h_2)$, (e_1, f_2) , (e_2, f_1) and $(e_{12}, h_1 + h_2, f_{12})$, respectively. According to the previous discussion, it is expected that we have BRST-closed currents $G^+(z), G^-(z), T(z)$ with conformal dimension $\frac{3}{2}, \frac{3}{2}, 2$ in addition to $J(z) = \widehat{J}^{(h_1 - h_2)}(z)$. This is indeed true and it is not difficult to find an explicit form of these currents by hand ¹⁴. The OPE between these currents are given as follows:

$$T(z)T(w) \sim \frac{\frac{c}{2}}{(z-w)^4} + \frac{2T(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial T(w)}{z-w}, \quad T(z)G^{\pm}(w) \sim \frac{\frac{3}{2}G^{\pm}(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial G^{\pm}(w)}{z-w},$$

$$T(z)J(w) \sim \frac{J(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial J(w)}{z-w}, \quad G^{\pm}(z)G^{\pm}(w) \sim 0, \quad J(z)G^{\pm}(w) \sim \frac{G^{\pm}(w)}{z-w},$$

$$G^{+}(z)G^{-}(w) \sim \frac{\frac{2c}{3}}{(z-w)^3} + \frac{2J(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{2T(w) + \partial J(w)}{z-w},$$

(2.66)

where the central charge is c = -3(2k+1). This algebra is known as $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra. We note that the currents T(z), J(z) are bosonic while $G^{\pm}(z)$ are fermionic.

¹⁴The explicit form can be found in [44].

2.2.3 Coset construction

There is another way to define W-algebras from affine Kac-Moody algebras. It is called coset construction [45]. Let \hat{G} be an affine Kac-Moody algebra and \hat{H} be its subalgebra. One can construct a W-algebra from them as the set of the elements of \hat{G} commuting with \hat{H} . We denote it by \hat{G}/\hat{H} . The energy-momentum tensor which commutes with the \hat{H} currents is given by

$$T(z) = T_G(z) - T_H(z), (2.67)$$

where $T_G(z)$ and $T_H(z)$ are the Sugawara energy-momentum tensors for \widehat{G} and \widehat{H} , respectively. The central charge is given by

$$c = c_G - c_H. (2.68)$$

One of the examples which is important in this thesis is

$$\frac{\widehat{SU}(2)_k}{\widehat{U}(1)},\tag{2.69}$$

which is known as SU(2) parafermion [46]. Let us consider the Hilbert space when k is a positive integer. Here, we fix the normalization of $\widehat{SU}(2)_k$ as

$$J^{3}(z)J^{3}(w) \sim \frac{k/2}{(z-w)^{2}}, \quad J^{3}(z)J^{\pm}(w) \sim \frac{\pm J^{\pm}(w)}{z-w}, \quad J^{+}(z)J^{-}(w) \sim \frac{k}{(z-w)^{2}} + \frac{2J^{3}(w)}{z-w}.$$
 (2.70)

By definition, the integrable representation \mathcal{L}_l of $\widehat{SU}(2)_k$ is decomposed into the representation of the parafermion and that of $\widehat{U}(1)$:

$$\mathcal{L}_{l} = \bigoplus_{\substack{m \in \mathbb{Z} \\ l-m \in 2\mathbb{Z}}} \mathcal{M}_{l,m}^{\mathrm{PF}} \otimes \mathcal{M}_{m}^{\widehat{U}(1)}, \qquad (2.71)$$

where $\mathcal{M}_{m}^{\widehat{U}(1)}$ is the $\widehat{U}(1)$ module whose eigenvalue of J_{3}^{0} is $\frac{m}{2}$. We note that not all of $\mathcal{M}_{l,m}^{\mathrm{PF}}$ give different modules. To see that, let us consider the affine Weyl group. It includes the transformation subgroup labeled by the coroot. In the case of $\widehat{SU}(2)$, it changes J_{0}^{3} to $J_{0}^{3} + nk$ $(n \in \mathbb{Z})$. Because the representation space of the integrable representation is invariant under the affine Weyl group, the RHS of (2.71) should be also invariant. Therefore, we find the identification

$$\mathcal{M}_{l,m}^{\mathrm{PF}} \sim \mathcal{M}_{l,m+2jk}^{\mathrm{PF}} \quad (j \in \mathbb{Z})$$
 (2.72)

and we can rewrite (2.71) as

$$\mathcal{L}_{l} = \bigoplus_{\substack{m \in \mathbb{Z}_{2k} \\ l-m \in 2\mathbb{Z}}} \mathcal{M}_{l,m}^{\mathrm{PF}} \otimes V_{m}^{\widehat{U}(1)}, \qquad V_{m}^{\widehat{U}(1)} \equiv \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{M}_{m+2jk}^{\widehat{U}(1)}.$$
(2.73)

There is still a redundant symmetry which transforms \mathcal{L}_l into \mathcal{L}_{k-l} and J_0^3 into $J_0^3 + \frac{k}{2}$. It corresponds to the permutation of the two simple roots for $\widehat{SU}(2)$. Therefore, the following identification also holds:

$$\mathcal{M}_{l,m}^{\rm PF} \sim \mathcal{M}_{k-l,m+k}^{\rm PF}.$$
(2.74)

From this, one can see that the independent module lies in the region

$$-l \le m \le l. \tag{2.75}$$

The conformal dimension $h_{l,m}^{\text{PF}}$ of $\mathcal{M}_{l,m}^{\text{PF}}$ can be computed from (2.67) as

$$h_{l,m}^{\rm PF} = \frac{l(l+2)}{4(k+2)} - \frac{m^2}{4k}.$$
(2.76)

The character $\chi_{l,m}^{\rm PF}(\tau)$ of the parafermion can be read off from the relation

$$\chi_{l,k}^{\widehat{SU}(2)}(\tau,z) = \sum_{\substack{m \in \mathbb{Z}_{2k} \\ l-m \in 2\mathbb{Z}}} \chi_{l,m}^{\mathrm{PF}}(\tau) \frac{\Theta_{m,k}(\tau,z)}{\eta(\tau)}, \qquad (2.77)$$

where $\chi(\tau, z) = \text{Tr } q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}} y^{J_0^3} (q = e^{2\pi i \tau}, y = e^{2\pi i z})$ measures both L_0 and J_0^3 and we set

$$\eta(\tau) = q^{\frac{1}{24}} \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^i), \quad \Theta_{m,n}(\tau, z) = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} q^{n(j + \frac{m}{2n})^2} y^{n(j + \frac{m}{2n})}.$$
 (2.78)

The character of $\widehat{SU}(2)_k$ is obtained as $\chi_{l,k}^{\widehat{SU}(2)}(\tau, z) = \frac{\Theta_{l+1,k+2}(\tau,z) - \Theta_{-(l+1),k+2}(\tau,z)}{\Theta_{1,2}(\tau,z) - \Theta_{-1,2}(\tau,z)}$ from Weyl-Kac formula. The function $c_{l,m}^{(k)}(\tau) = \chi_{l,m}^{\text{PF}}(\tau)/\eta(\tau)$ is called string function and we will use this function later. Because of (2.72) and (2.74), it satisfies

$$c_{l,m+2k}^{(k)}(\tau) = c_{k-l,m+k}^{(k)}(\tau) = c_{l,m}^{(k)}(\tau).$$
(2.79)

We note that the string function becomes $1/\eta(\tau)$ when k = 1.

Finally, we briefly mention the relation between the coset construction and the BRST approach, based on [47]. In a Lagrangian description, the coset CFT \hat{G}/\hat{H} is realized from a gauged Wess-Zumino-Witten (WZW) model, which is obtained by gauging *H*-symmetry of the *G* WZW mode with level *k*. One can implement the gauge fixing procedure by the standard Fadeev-Popov procedure. As a result, the physical observables are given by BRST-closed operators within

$$\widehat{G}_k \otimes \widehat{H}_{-k-2h_H^{\vee}} \otimes \text{ghost fields},$$
 (2.80)

where the ghost fields are introduced for every element of H. The total central charge is

$$c = \frac{k \dim G}{k + h_G^{\vee}} + \frac{(-k - 2h_H^{\vee})\dim H}{(-k - 2h_H^{\vee}) + h_H^{\vee}} - 2 \dim H$$

= $\frac{k \dim G}{k + h_G^{\vee}} - \frac{k \dim H}{k + h_H^{\vee}},$ (2.81)

which indeed matches the coset construction. We will use this relation in the next section.

2.3 W_N minimal models and $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal models

In this section, we review the minimal models for W_N algebra and $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra. As we mentioned, a minimal model describes the system which consists of a finite number of degenerate primary fields. There are several ways to obtain such fields. In Section 2.3.1, we consider the W_N minimal models by using free boson representation. In Section 2.3.2, we consider the unitary $\mathcal{N} = 2$ minimal models by using the coset construction.

2.3.1 W_N minimal models from free boson realization

In Section 2.2.1, we have seen a close connection between the classical W_N algebra and the N-th order differential operator L given in (2.36). We discussed the particular gauge (2.38), but there is another simple gauge as follows:

$$L = (\partial + v_1)(\partial + v_2) \cdots (\partial + v_N).$$
(2.82)

Motivated by this observation, Fateev and Lukyanov constructed W_N algebra using N-1 free bosons [48]. They introduced the differential operator

$$R^{(N)}(z) =: (Q\partial + \vec{\xi}_N \cdot \partial \vec{\phi}(z))(Q\partial + \vec{\xi}_{N-1} \cdot \partial \vec{\phi}(z)) \cdots (Q\partial + \vec{\xi}_1 \cdot \partial \vec{\phi}(z)) :.$$
(2.83)

Here, $\vec{\phi}$ is the (N-1)-component free bosons

$$\vec{\phi} = (\phi^{(1)}(z), \phi^{(2)}(z), \cdots, \phi^{(N-1)}(z)), \quad \phi^{(i)}(z) = q^{(i)} + a_0^{(i)} \log z - \sum_{n \neq 0} \frac{a_n^{(i)}}{n} z^{-n}$$
(2.84)

with the OPEs

$$\phi^{(i)}(z)\phi^{(j)}(w) \sim -\delta_{i,j}\log(z-w) \quad (i,j=1,2,\cdots,N-1).$$
 (2.85)

 $\vec{\xi_i}$ is an (N-1)-dimensional vector¹⁵ satisfying

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \vec{\xi}_i = 0, \quad \vec{\xi}_i \cdot \vec{\xi}_j = \delta_{i,j} - \frac{1}{N} \quad (i, j = 1, 2, \cdots N).$$
(2.86)

The parameter Q is related to the central charge, as we will see below.

The current $W^{(s)}(z)$ with conformal dimension s is obtained by expanding (2.83) as follows:

$$R^{(N)}(z) = \sum_{s=0}^{N} W^{(s)}(z) (Q\partial)^{n-s}.$$
(2.87)

¹⁵These vectors are the bases of the hyperplane in \mathbb{R}^N . Letting \vec{e}_i $(i = 1, 2, \dots, N)$ be the unit vector along the *i*-th axis, one can see that the vector $\vec{\xi}_i$ can be expressed as $\vec{\xi}_i = \vec{e}_i - \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N \vec{e}_j$.

For example, the explicit form of $W^{(1)}(z)$ and $W^{(2)}(z)$ is given by

$$W^{(1)}(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \vec{\xi}_{i} \cdot \partial \vec{\phi}(z) = 0, \qquad (2.88)$$

$$W^{(2)}(z) = \sum_{1 \le l < m \le N} : (\vec{\xi}_{l} \cdot \partial \vec{\phi}(z))(\vec{\xi}_{m} \cdot \partial \vec{\phi}(z)) : +Q \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} (N-k)\vec{\xi}_{k} \cdot \partial^{2} \vec{\phi}(z)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} : (\partial \vec{\phi}(z))^{2} : +Q \vec{\rho} \cdot \partial^{2} \vec{\phi}, \qquad (2.89)$$

where $\vec{\rho} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^{N} (N+1-2k) \vec{\xi}_k$ corresponds to the Weyl vector of $\mathfrak{su}(N)$. The current $W^{(2)}(z)$ is the energy-momentum tensor with the central charge

$$c = N - 1 + Q^2 (N^2 - 1)N.$$
(2.90)

The explicit form of the higher spin currents is more complicated. Instead, one can characterize them as the operators commuting with a set of the vertex operators as follows:

$$S_i^{\pm} = \oint dz : e^{b^{\pm 1} \vec{\alpha}_i \cdot \vec{\phi}(z)} : \qquad (i = 1, 2, \cdots, N - 1),$$
 (2.91)

$$[W^{(s)}(z), S_i^{\pm}] = 0 \qquad (s = 2, 3, \cdots, N).$$
(2.92)

Here, b and $\vec{\alpha}_i$ are defined by

$$Q = b + b^{-1}, \quad \vec{\alpha}_i = \vec{\xi}_i - \vec{\xi}_{i+1}$$
(2.93)

and the vectors $\vec{\alpha}_i$ correspond to the simple roots of $\mathfrak{su}(N)$. The vertex operators S_i^{\pm} are called screening charges. We note that W_N algebra is invariant under the transformation

$$b \leftrightarrow b^{-1}$$
. (2.94)

This duality is called Feigin-Frenkel duality.

One can construct the highest weight state of W_N algebra by using the Fock spaces given by

$$a_n^{(i)} |\vec{u}\rangle = 0 \ (n > 0), \qquad a_0^{(i)} |\vec{u}\rangle = -u_i |\vec{u}\rangle \qquad (i = 1, 2, \cdots, N - 1).$$
 (2.95)

The conformal dimension h for this state can be computed from (2.89) as

$$h = -\frac{1}{2}\vec{u}^{2} + Q\vec{\rho} \cdot \vec{u}$$
 (2.96)

The screening charges play an important role in the construction of the null vectors. For simplicity, let us consider the N = 2 case. In this case, we have only one boson and can simply express (2.91) and (2.96) as

$$S^{\pm} = \oint dz : e^{\sqrt{2}b^{\pm 1}\phi(z)} :, \quad h = -\frac{u^2}{2} + \frac{Qu}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (2.97)

Let us consider the following state¹⁶:

$$(S^{+})^{r} |u - \sqrt{2}rb\rangle = \int dz_{1} \int dz_{2} \cdots \int dz_{r} S^{+}(z_{1}) \cdots S^{+}(z_{r}) |u - \sqrt{2}rb\rangle$$

$$= \int dz_{1} \int dz_{2} \cdots \int dz_{r} \prod_{1 \le i < j \le r} (z_{i} - z_{j})^{-2b^{2}} : S^{+}(z_{1}) \cdots S^{+}(z_{r}) : |u - \sqrt{2}rb\rangle$$
(2.98)

$$= \int dz_{1} \int dz_{2} \cdots \int dz_{r} \prod_{1 \le i < j \le r} (z_{i} - z_{j})^{-2b^{2}} \prod_{k=1}^{r} z_{k}^{-\sqrt{2}b(u - \sqrt{2}rb)} \prod_{l=1}^{r} \exp\left(b\sum_{n > 0} \frac{a_{-n}}{n} z_{l}^{n}\right) |u\rangle.$$

Because of (2.92), one can see that this state also satisfies the condition for the highest weight state. However, there is a possibility that it becomes zero. To obtain a non-vanishing state, we have to discuss the integration contour carefully, but we take a shortcut here. The integrand in (2.98) consists of infinitely many descendant states, but the non-vanishing terms must be invariant under the transformation $z_i \rightarrow \lambda z_i$. That requires

$$r - r(r-1)b^2 - \sqrt{2}rb(u - \sqrt{2}rb) + N = 0$$
(2.99)

for some $N \in \mathbb{N}$. If we set N = rs, it can be rewritten as

$$\sqrt{2}u = (1+r)b + (1+s)b^{-1}.$$
(2.100)

Using (2.97), one can check that the conformal dimension of $|u\rangle$ is equal to $h_{r,s}$ given in (2.11). Here, we note that (2.100) is a necessary condition and does not require s to be a positive integer. One can obtain the sufficient condition by considering the order of Kac determinant. We explain that along the line of [49]. One can read off the information of the null vectors from the determinant of the matrix

$$\langle u | a^{\{m_i\}} L^{\{n_i\}} | u \rangle$$
, (2.101)

where we set $L^{\{n_i\}} |u\rangle = \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} (L_{-i})^{n_i} |u\rangle$ and $\langle u| a^{\{m_i\}} = \langle u| \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} (a_i)^{m_i}$. Because the null state appears in the zero-locus of the determinant, we can find the number of the null states from its order. Let us denote by d_N the order of the determinant at level N. Then we have

$$\sum_{N=1}^{\infty} d_N x^N = \sum_{N=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\{n_i\}\\\sum kn_k = N}} n_k x^N$$

= $\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{x^r}{1 - x^r} \frac{1}{\prod_{j=1}^{\infty} (1 - x^j)}$
= $\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \sum_{s=1}^{\infty} x^{rs} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p(n) x^n$
= $\sum_{N=1}^{\infty} x^N \sum_{\substack{r,s \ge 1\\1 \le rs \le N}} p(N - rs),$ (2.102)

¹⁶One can also construct a similar state by using S^- .

where p(n) denotes the number of the partition of an integer n. This implies that there is a null vector at level rs for each $r, s \ge 1$. Thus, we see that we should set s to a positive integer.

As we mentioned in Section 2.1, the degenerate primary fields labeled by r, s are not independent for the particular central charges. When $b^2 = -\frac{p}{q}$ for coprime integers p, q, the relation $h_{r,s} = h_{r+q,s+p}$ holds. Furthermore, the null state which we should set to zero can be expressed as $h_{r,s} + rs = h_{r+q,p-s} = h_{q-r,p+s}$. Therefore, we can construct the model which contains only a finite number of the degenerate primary fields with

$$1 \le r \le q - 1, \quad 1 \le s \le p - 1.$$
 (2.103)

This is the Virasoro minimal model.

In the same way, we can construct the W_N minimal model. We can express the degenerate module as

$$S_i^{m_i} | \vec{u} \rangle$$
 $(i = 1, 2, \dots N - 1).$ (2.104)

Here, we note that there can be at most N - 1 null vectors in the case of W_N algebra. Such modules are called maximally degenerate modules. In this case, the condition (2.100) becomes

$$\vec{\alpha}_i \cdot \vec{u} = (1+m_i)b + (1+n_i)b^{-1} \tag{2.105}$$

for $m_i, n_i \in \mathbb{N}$. In this module, there are null states at level $m_i n_i$ for $i = 1, 2, \dots, N-1$. By introducing the fundamental weight $\vec{\omega}_j$ which satisfies $\vec{\alpha}_i \cdot \vec{\omega}_j = \delta_{i,j}$, we can express

$$\vec{u} = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \left((1+m_i)b + (1+n_i)b^{-1} \right) \vec{\omega}_i.$$
(2.106)

Similarly to the previous case, we can construct the minimal models when $b^2 = -\frac{p}{q}$. The degenerate primary fields contained in this model are restricted to the following region:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} m_i < q, \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} n_i < p.$$
(2.107)

We note that we need $p, q \ge N$. These modules contain additional null states at level $(q - \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} m_i)(p - \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} n_i)$. We can compute the conformal dimension h from (2.96) as

$$h = -\frac{1}{2}(\vec{u} - Q\vec{\rho})^2 + \frac{Q^2}{2}\vec{\rho}^2$$

= $\frac{12(\sum_{i=1}^{N-1}(pm_i - qn_i)\vec{\omega}_i)^2 - N(N^2 - 1)(p - q)^2}{24pq}$, (2.108)

where we use $\vec{\rho}^{2} = \frac{N(N^{2}-1)}{12}$ and $\vec{\rho} = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \vec{\omega}_{i}$.

2.3.2 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal models

In Section 2.2.2, we discuss $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra (2.66) in terms of the quantum Drinfeld-Sokolov reduction. On the other hand, it is also possible to realize it by the coset construction as follows [50]:

$$\frac{\widehat{SU}(2)_k \otimes \mathrm{Ff}}{\widehat{U}(1)}.$$
(2.109)

Here, Ff denotes the free fermions $\psi^{\pm}(z)$ with the OPE

$$\psi^{+}(z)\psi^{-}(w) \sim \frac{1}{z-w}, \quad \psi^{\pm}(z)\psi^{\pm}(w) \sim 0.$$
 (2.110)

They form a U(1) current $J^f(z) =: \psi^+(z)\psi^-(z)$:. The U(1) current in the denominator of (2.109) is given by the sum of $J^3(z)$ in $\widehat{SU}(2)_k$ and $J^f(z)$. One can explicitly construct the currents of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra as the elements commuting with this U(1) current. For example, the U(1) current J(z) in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra is given by

$$J(z) = \frac{k}{k+2}J^{f}(z) - \frac{2}{k+2}J^{3}(z).$$
(2.111)

One can construct the representation space from that of $\widehat{SU}(2)_k$ and the free fermion. For the free fermion, we only have to determine the eigenvalue of J_0^f for the highest weight state. The Neveu-Schwarz (NS) sector corresponds to $J_0^f = 0$ while the Ramond (R) sector corresponds to $J_0^f = \pm \frac{1}{2}$. For $\widehat{SU}(2)_k$, we may need to remove null states to obtain the irreducible representation. Especially, one can obtain the unitary representation called integrable representation when $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$. These modules realize the unitary minimal model. The central charge is given by

$$c = \frac{3k}{k+2}$$
 $(k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}).$ (2.112)

In the following, we focus on the NS sector.

As in the case of the parafermion discussed in (2.73), we have the following branching relation:

$$\mathcal{L}_{l} \otimes V^{\mathrm{Ff}} = \bigoplus_{\substack{m \in \mathbb{Z}_{2(k+2)} \\ l-m \in 2\mathbb{Z}}} \mathcal{M}_{l,m}^{\mathrm{sVir}} \otimes V_{m}^{\widehat{U}(1)}, \qquad V_{m}^{\widehat{U}(1)} \equiv \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{M}_{-m+2j(k+2)}^{\widehat{U}(1)}.$$
(2.113)

Here, V^{Ff} is the Hilbert space of the free fermion. Because the energy-momentum tensor and the U(1) current are defined as (2.67) and (2.111), the conformal dimension $h_{l,s}$ and the U(1) charge $J_{l,m}$ of the primary fields are given as

$$h_{l,m} = \frac{l(l+2) - m^2}{4(k+2)}, \quad J_{l,m} = \frac{m}{k+2},$$
(2.114)

where $0 \le l \le k$, $-l \le m \le l$ and $l-m \in 2\mathbb{Z}$. The character was derived in [35] as follows¹⁷:

$$\chi_{l,m}(\tau,z) := \operatorname{Tr} q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}} y^{J_0} = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}_{2n}} c_{l,m+2r}^{(n)}(\tau) \Theta_{2m+2r(n+2),2n(n+2)}(\tau,\frac{z}{n+2}).$$
(2.115)

¹⁷Precisely speaking, the character was first derived in [33, 34] by studying the embedding relation of the null states. We note that one can also construct the null states by using the screening charge [49].

3 Y-algebra and its generalization

In this section, we review the Y-algebra, a new family of W-algebras proposed by Gaiotto and Rapcak [24]. In Section 3.1, we review the construction from the gauge theory. We also explain the triality symmetry, the modules and the relation to $W_{1+\infty}$. These properties play an important role in Section 4. In Section 3.2, we discuss the generalization of the Y-algebra studied by Prochazka and Rapcak [27]. We will see that we can construct various W-algebras in this framework.

3.1 Y-algebras

The Y-algebra is constructed from the 4d supersymmetric gauge theory with the 3d Y-shaped domain wall (see Figure 6). It is the W-algebra which appears at the 2d corner of this domain wall. We can find its explicit expression by a step-by-step analysis; the 2d theory at the corner can be specified by first reducing the 4d theory to the 3d theory and then studying its boundary. The final result is given in (3.6).

3.1.1 Construction from the gauge theory

Gaiotto and Rapcak constructed a family of W-algebras from the gauge theory setup which naturally arises from type IIB string theory. In type IIB string theory, there are (1 + 5)dimensional objects labeled by two charges (p,q), where p,q are coprime integers. It is believed that type IIB string theory possesses $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ symmetry, under which the charges (p,q) transform as a doublet. In our notation, the (1,0) brane and (0,1) brane correspond to D5-brane and NS5-brane, respectively. As discussed in [51, 52], one can consider a web of 5-branes which preserves 1/4 supersymmetry. The following figures show some examples:



Figure 5: These figures show some examples for (p, q)-webs. The most fundamental one is the trivalent vertex formed by D5-brane, NS5-brane and (-1,-1) brane.

Let us explain how to interpret these figures. We denote by x_0, x_1, \dots, x_9 the coordinate of ten-dimensional spacetime. Let us consider the situation that all of the 5-branes share (1+4)-dimension, for example, x_0, x_1, x_4, x_5, x_6 direction. Then each brane should fill one more dimension. We can encode the information about the configuration in a web-diagram in a two-dimensional plane, for example, (x_2, x_3) -plane. The web-diagram must satisfy two properties. First, the charge conservation must be satisfied at every junction. That means that each trivalent vertex consists of three (p_i, q_i) -branes (i = 1, 2, 3) satisfying $\sum_{i=1}^{3} p_i = 0$ and $\sum_{i=1}^{3} q_i = 0$. Second, each brane must have an appropriate slope to keep a part of supersymmetry. For simplicity, we draw the (p, q)-fivebrane by the line with slope q/p. The diagrams drawn in this way are called (p, q)-web. The most fundamental diagram is the left one in Figure 5. We can obtain any other trivalent vertex via $SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ transformation and any other (p, q)-web by gluing trivalent vertices.

One can also add (1+3)-dimensional objects called D3-branes to (p,q)-web, keeping a part of supersymmetry. In [24], Gaiotto and Rapcak considered the system consisting of the trivalent vertex and several numbers of D3-branes as follows:



Figure 6: The trivalent vertex consisting of D5-brane, NS5-brane and (-1,-1)-fivebrane divides (x_2, x_3) -plane into the three regions, where L, M, N D3-branes are inserted, respectively. In the right table, the directions along which the branes extend are denoted by bars.

Here, D3-branes are inserted in each region separated by the 5-branes. They extend to both x_2 direction and x_3 direction. The spacetime in which the branes live is summarized in the above table. As is well known, the effective theory on the D3-brane is described by $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills theory (SYM). In the low-energy limit, the above system is described by the four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYMs whose gauge groups are U(L), U(M) and U(N), respectively. These three gauge theories are separated by three-dimensional interfaces. Our concern is the two-dimensional theory living at the corner in the (x_2, x_3) -plane.

In principle, the two-dimensional theory at the corner can be determined by carefully analyzing the boundary condition, but it is much simpler to consider the topologically twisted $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM [53]. The advantage of considering the topologically twisted $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM is that we can use the result of [54]. It was discussed that the path integral of Chern-Simons (CS) theory on the three-dimensional manifold M_3 can be interpreted as that of the topologically twisted $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM on $M_3 \times \mathbb{R}^+$ with a certain boundary condition. One can also think of it as the result of the fact that the degree of freedom in the topological field theory localizes to its boundary. In [24], this result was applied to Figure 6, and M_3 was identified with the intersection between D3-brane and (q, 1)-brane. The relation between the coupling constant Ψ of SYM and the level k of the CS theory is given as

$$\Psi + q = k + h^{\vee},\tag{3.1}$$

where h^{\vee} is the dual Coxeter number of the gauge group.

From the above discussion, the system reduces to the CS theories, which meet at the two-dimensional corner. As is well known, a two-dimensional CFT lives on the boundary of the CS theory. The W-algebra realized at the corner depends on the boundary condition. If we fix the form of the gauge field as in Figure 4 at the boundary, the W-algebra is given by the corresponding DS reduction. Let us first consider the simple case, L = M = 0. In this case, we have the CS theory on $M_3 = \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^+$, where \mathbb{R}^2 corresponds to (x_0, x_1) -plane while \mathbb{R}^+ to $x_3 \geq 0$. This CS theory is mapped to the topologically twisted $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM on $M_3 \times \mathbb{R}^+$, where \mathbb{R}^+ corresponds to $x_2 \geq 0$ (see the following figure):



Figure 7: Left: topologically twisted $\mathcal{N} = 4 \text{ U}(N)$ SYM on $\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+$. Right: U(N) CS theory on $\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^+$.

The boundary condition at $\mathbb{R}^+(x_2 \ge 0)$ is in principle determined by that of the CS theory, and we want to set it so that it will correspond to the D5-boundary. We can guess it from Sduality of string theory. Because NS5-brane and D5-brane are related by $S = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in$ $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, the 2d CFT living at the corner should be invariant under this transformation and the flip of the diagram. Because it changes Ψ to Ψ^{-1} , the W-algebra realized at the corner should possess duality which exchanges Ψ and Ψ^{-1} . That is satisfied if we chose the principal embedding because the corresponding W-algebra $DS_N[\widehat{U}(N)_{\Psi}] = W_N \times \widehat{U}(1)^{18}$ possesses such a duality (2.94).

Next, let us consider the case of L = 0. It is enough to consider the case of $N \ge M$. In this case, there are two CS theories as follows:

¹⁸We fix the normalization for the level of $\widehat{U}(N)$ so that the level of its subalgebra $\widehat{SU}(N)$ will become $\Psi - N$.

It is known that the $U(N) \times U(M)$ gauge symmetry in the bulk is broken to the diagonal part of $U(M) \times U(M)$ by the D5-brane. Then the gauge field of the U(N) CS theory is decomposed at the corner into $(N - M) \times (N - M)$ block and $M \times M$ block. Namely, the $(N - M) \times (N - M)$ part of the gauge symmetry is broken at the corner. Thus, it gives $DS_{N-M}[\hat{U}(N)_{\Psi}]$ current¹⁹ at the corner. On the other hand, U(M) CS theory gives $\hat{U}(M)_{1-\Psi}$ at the corner. The W-algebra realized at the corner is obtained after fixing the redundancy of the remaining U(M) gauge symmetry by the BRST procedure. We note that the level of the total current $\hat{U}(M)$ must be zero because otherwise it would be anomalous. If the level of $\hat{U}(M)$ in $DS_{N-M}[\hat{U}(N)_{\Psi}] \otimes \hat{U}(M)_{1-\Psi} \otimes bc^{U(M)}$ is not zero, that must be canceled out by some matter fields living at the corner. Recalling that the level of $\hat{SU}(M)$ in $\hat{U}(M)_{\Psi}$ is $\Psi - M$ in our normalization, we see that we need to add $\hat{U}(1) \otimes \hat{SU}(N)_{-1}$ if and only if N = M. The matter field which realizes this current is given by U(N) symplectic bosons Sh^{U(N)} which consist of N pairs of a symplectic boson $X^a(z), Y_b(z)$ $(a, b = 1, 2, \dots, N)$ with the following OPEs:

$$X^{a}(z)Y_{b}(w) \sim \frac{\delta^{a}_{b}}{z-w}, \quad X^{a}(z)X^{b}(w) \sim 0, \quad Y_{a}(z)Y_{b}(w) \sim 0.$$
 (3.2)

The $\widehat{U}(N)$ current is given by $J_b^a = X^a(z)Y_b(z)$. Summarizing, the W-algebra at the corner is given by the BRST reduction of

$$\begin{cases} \widehat{U}(N)_{\Psi} \otimes \widehat{U}(N)_{1-\Psi} \otimes \operatorname{Sb}^{U(N)} \otimes \operatorname{bc}^{U(N)} & (N = M) \\ DS_{N-M}[\widehat{U}(N)_{\Psi}] \otimes \widehat{U}(M)_{1-\Psi} \otimes \operatorname{bc}^{U(M)} & (N > M) \\ DS_{M-N}[\widehat{U}(M)_{1-\Psi}] \otimes \widehat{U}(N)_{\Psi} \otimes \operatorname{bc}^{U(N)} & (N < M). \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

We can do a similar analysis in the case of $L \neq 0$. The difference from the previous case is that D3-branes are inserted in both sides of (q, 1)-brane. Then we only have to replace the gauge group U(N), U(M) with the super Lie group U(N|L), U(M|L), respectively [55]. For the matter fields, we need to add U(L) symplectic fermion $\mathrm{Sf}^{U(L)}$ as well as $\mathrm{Sb}^{U(N)}$, where $\mathrm{Sf}^{U(L)}$ consists of L pairs of a symplectic fermion $\psi^a(z), \chi^b(z)$ $(a, b = 1, 2, \dots, L)$ with the following OPEs:

$$\psi^a(z)\chi_b(w) \sim \frac{\delta^a_b}{z-w}.$$
(3.4)

 $^{^{19}\}mathrm{See}$ the comment below Figure 4 for the notation.

We denote by $\operatorname{Sb}^{U(N|L)}$ the combination of $\operatorname{Sb}^{U(N)}$ and $\operatorname{Sf}^{U(L)}$. Then we can generalize (3.3) to generic cases as

$$\begin{cases} \widehat{U}(N|L)_{\Psi} \otimes \widehat{U}(N|L)_{1-\Psi} \otimes \operatorname{Sb}^{U(N|L)} \otimes \operatorname{bc}^{U(N|L)} & (N=M) \\ DS_{N-M}[\widehat{U}(N|L)_{\Psi}] \otimes \widehat{U}(M|L)_{1-\Psi} \otimes \operatorname{bc}^{U(M|L)} & (N>M) \\ DS_{M-N}[\widehat{U}(M|L)_{1-\Psi}] \otimes \widehat{U}(N|L)_{\Psi} \otimes \operatorname{bc}^{U(N|L)} & (N(3.5)$$

where the off-diagonal part of the ghost fields $bc^{U(N|L)}$ should be interpreted as $\beta\gamma$ ghost. We note that the relation between the parameters is given by (3.1), where $h^{\vee} = N - L$ for U(N|L). By using (2.80), we can rewrite (3.5) into a simpler form as

$$Y_{L,M,N}[\Psi] = \begin{cases} \frac{\widehat{U}(N|L)_{\Psi} \otimes \mathrm{Sb}^{U(N|L)}}{\widehat{U}(N|L)_{\Psi-1}} & (N=M) \\ \frac{DS_{N-M}[\widehat{U}(N|L)_{\Psi}]}{\widehat{U}(M|L)_{\Psi-1}} & (N>M) \\ \frac{DS_{M-N}[\widehat{U}(M|L)_{-\Psi+1}]}{\widehat{U}(N|L)_{-\Psi}} & (N(3.6)$$

This is the final result for the W-algebra realized at the corner.

Let us see some examples. According to the above definition, we have $Y_{0,0,N}[\Psi] = DS_N[\widehat{U}(N)_{\Psi}]$. As we explained in Section 2.2.2, it gives W_N algebra with an extra U(1) boson. The next example is $Y_{0,1,2}[\Psi] = \frac{\widehat{U}(2)_{\Psi}}{\widehat{U}(1)}$. As we have seen in 2.2.3, it gives SU(2) parafermion with an extra U(1) boson. In this way, one can obtain various W-algebras by changing the value of L, M, N.

3.1.2 Triality

The Y-algebra possesses a nontrivial automorphism inherited from $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ symmetry of type IIB string theory. While the D3-branes are invariant under $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, 5-branes and the coupling constant Ψ are transformed nontrivially. We will give the detail in Section 3.2. Here, we describe the main point. For some $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, 5-branes are exchanged with each other and the corner configuration is kept invariant. That implies that the Y-algebra has S_3 automorphism under which L, M, N are permuted. This automorphism is called triality.

Let us consider $Y_{0,0,N}[\Psi]$ as an example. The triality implies the following relation:

$$Y_{0,0,N}[\Psi] = Y_{0,N,0}[1 - \Psi^{-1}] = Y_{N,0,0}[\frac{1}{1 - \Psi}].$$
(3.7)

According to (3.6), this relation can be rewritten as

$$DS_N[\widehat{U}(N)_{\Psi}] = DS_N[\widehat{U}(N)_{\Psi^{-1}}] = \frac{\widehat{U}(N)_{-\Psi} \otimes \mathrm{Sf}^{U(N)}}{\widehat{U}(N)_{1-\Psi}}.$$
(3.8)

The first equation is exactly Feigin-Frenkel duality. The second equation is more interesting. The last one is indeed known as the coset realization of W_N algebra²⁰. In this way, the triality provides us nontrivial relations among different realizations of W-algebras.

3.1.3 Modules of the Y-algebra

Let us discuss the module of the Y-algebra. It is realized by the local operators at the corner. The characteristic ones are those induced from the line operators in the 3d interfaces. Concretely, we consider the line operator such that one of its endpoints attaches to the corner while the other one extends to the infinity as follows:



Figure 8: Line operators are inserted in the three-dimensional interfaces.

It is characterized by the weight of the gauge group. As an example, let us consider $Y_{0,0,N}[\Psi] = W_N \times \widehat{U}(1)$. In this case, we have two 3d interfaces and the module is labeled by two U(N) weights. We have already seen such modules in Section 2.3.1. They are expected to give the maximally degenerate modules. For general cases, we can insert three line operators and they are expected to give the maximally degenerate modules for $Y_{L,M,N}[\Psi]$. We will give a more detailed explanation in Section 4.

3.1.4 The relation to $W_{1+\infty}$ and a plane partition

As we have seen, the Y-algebra realizes various W-algebras. Then it is natural to expect that there is a unified description of these algebras. The vacuum character gives crucial information for that²¹. In [24], it was conjectured that the vacuum character of $Y_{L,M,N}$ matches the generating function of the plane partition with a pit at $(L + 1, M + 1, N + 1)^{22}$. Here, we mean by a "pit" the place in which we cannot place a box. This claim was checked for several cases. The observation suggests that the Y-algebra can be seen as a truncation of $W_{1+\infty}$; recall that $W_{1+\infty}$ consists of the currents whose conformal dimensions are $1, 2, 3, 4, \dots, \infty$ and its vacuum character coincides with the MacMahon function (=

²⁰This relation was proved in [56]. Further, the triality has been proved in [57] when one of L, M, N is zero.

²¹In this section, we do not include the factor $q^{-\frac{c}{24}}$ in the character.

 $^{^{22}}$ A plane partition is a 3d version of Young diagram. See the left of Figure 9 or Introduction.
generating function of a plane partition)

$$\chi(q) = \frac{1}{\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^n)^n} = 1 + q + 3q^2 + 6q^3 + 13q^4 + \cdots$$
 (3.9)

For the explanation of a plane partition, see Figure 1. One of the simplest examples is $Y_{0,0,N}$. It is well known that the generating function of the plane partition with height at most N matches with the vacuum character of $W_N \times \hat{U}(1)$. In the following, we consider $Y_{0,N,N}$ as a nontrivial example²³. The algebra is given by the BRST reduction of

$$\widehat{U}(N)_{\Psi} \times \widehat{U}(N)_{1-\Psi} \otimes \operatorname{Sb}^{U(N)} \times \operatorname{bc}^{U(N)}.$$
(3.10)

Its character is obtained by taking the U(N)-invariant part of (3.10). Because $\widehat{U}(N) \times \widehat{U}(N)$ cancels out bc^{U(N)} except the zero modes of c, the character is given by

$$\chi_{0,N,N}(q) = \oint \prod_{i=1}^{N} \frac{dx_i}{x_i} \frac{\prod_{i \neq j} (1 - \frac{x_j}{x_i})}{\prod_{n=0}^{\infty} \prod_{i=1}^{N} (1 - x_i q^{n + \frac{1}{2}})}.$$
(3.11)

Here, the denominator comes from the symplectic boson while the numerator comes from c_0 . We note that a Vandermonde determinant gives a measure of U(N). Because the orthogonal basis under this measure are given by the character of U(N) representation (= Schur polynomial), it is convenient to expand the integrand as

$$\frac{1}{\prod_{i=1}^{N} \prod_{n=0}^{\infty} (1 - x_i q^{n + \frac{1}{2}})} = \sum_{\lambda} d_{\lambda}(q) \chi_{\lambda}(x_i), \qquad (3.12)$$

where $\chi_{\lambda}(x_i)$ is the character of the U(N) representation labeled by the Young diagram $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \cdots, \lambda_N)$. Then (3.11) becomes $\chi_{0,N,N}(q) = \sum_{\lambda} d_{\lambda}(q) d_{\lambda}(q)$.

One can give a combinatorial interpretation to $d_{\lambda}(q)$ by using the Pieri rule

$$\chi_{\lambda}(x_i) \ \frac{1}{\prod_{i=1}^{N} (1-x_i t)} = \sum_{\mu \succ \lambda} \chi_{\mu}(x_i) t^{|\mu| - |\lambda|}, \tag{3.13}$$

where $\mu \succ \lambda$ means

$$\mu_1 \ge \lambda_1 \ge \mu_2 \ge \lambda_2 \ge \dots \ge \mu_N \ge \lambda_N. \tag{3.14}$$

By applying (3.13) repeatedly to the LHS of (3.12), we see

$$d_{\lambda_0}(q) = \sum_{\substack{\lambda_0 \succ \lambda_1 \succ \lambda_2 \succ \lambda_3 \succ \dots}} q^{\frac{1}{2} \left(|\lambda_0| - |\lambda_1| \right) + \frac{3}{2} \left(|\lambda_1| - |\lambda_2| \right) + \frac{5}{2} \left(|\lambda_2| - |\lambda_3| \right) + \dots}$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{\lambda_0 \succ \lambda_1 \succ \lambda_2 \succ \lambda_3 \succ \dots}} q^{\frac{1}{2} |\lambda_0| + |\lambda_1| + |\lambda_2| + |\lambda_3| + \dots}.$$

$$(3.15)$$

One can interpret it in terms of a plane partition as in Figure 9,:

²³We consider the plane partition with a pit at (N + 1, N + 1, 1), not (1, N + 1, N + 1). This is merely because that is convenient to draw a figure.



Figure 9: Left: An example of a plane partition. Right: Diagonal slicing of a plane partition. It satisfies $\lambda_0 \succ \lambda_1 \succ \lambda_2 \succ \cdots$ and $\lambda_0 \succ \lambda_{-1} \succ \lambda_{-2} \succ \cdots$.

From the right of Figure 9, we can interpret $\sum_{\lambda} d_{\lambda}(q) d_{\lambda}(q)$ as the generating function of the plane partition with a pit at (N+1, N+1, 1). Thus, we see that the Hilbert space of $Y_{0,N,N}$ is indeed described by a plane partition with a pit at (N+1, N+1, 1). The relation to $W_{1+\infty}$ plays an important role in Section 4. We note that the triality is manifestly realized in a plane partition because it can be interpreted just as the permutation of three axes.

3.2 Generalization of the Y-algebra

One of the important features in Gaiotto-Rapcak's construction is that one can obtain infinitely many W-algebras from (p,q)-webs [27]. In Figure 5, the internal lines with finite length shrink in the low-energy limit and the web-diagram reduces to a single junction. The W-algebra associated with a (p,q)-web is formed by the local operators living there. Because any (p,q)-webs can be constructed by gluing trivalent vertices, one can obtain the associated W-algebras as the extension of the tensor product of several Y-algebras. In other words, we can obtain various W-algebras by using the Y-algebra as a building block.

We have considered the trivalent vertex which consists of D5-brane, NS5-brane and (-1, -1)-brane so far, but it is necessary to consider the other trivalent vertices to discuss (p, q)-webs. We can obtain them by applying $SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ transformation to the original vertex. Under the transformation, the charge (a, b) of the fivebrane transforms as

$$\begin{pmatrix} a \\ b \end{pmatrix} \to X \begin{pmatrix} a \\ b \end{pmatrix}, \tag{3.16}$$

where X is $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ matrix,

$$X = \begin{pmatrix} p & q \\ r & s \end{pmatrix}, \quad ps - qr = 1.$$
(3.17)

At the same time, the coupling constant Ψ transforms as

$$\Psi \to \frac{p\Psi + q}{r\Psi + s}.\tag{3.18}$$

The D3-branes are invariant under the transformation. Let $Y_{L,M,N}^{A_1,A_2,A_3}[\Psi]$ be the Y-algebra associated with the junction formed by $A_i = (p_i, q_i)$ -fivebranes (i = 1, 2, 3). From the above discussion, we have

$$Y_{L,M,N}^{A_1,A_2,A_3}[\Psi] = Y_{L,M,N} \left[\frac{q_2 \Psi - p_2}{-q_1 \Psi + p_1} \right].$$
(3.19)

Now we are ready to consider the W-algebras associated with various (p, q)-webs. In the following, we refer to them as generalized Y-algebras. Let us see some examples. We first consider the following diagram:



Figure 10: We focus on the case of N > M. The right figure shows the reduction to the Chern-Simons theories. The gauge group of the top CS theory is U(N), which is broken to U(M) in the middle line and completely broken at the bottom.

In the low-energy limit, the diagram reduces to a single junction, and our interest is in the W-algebra formed by the local operators there. It is obvious that the Y-algebra at each corner is the component of the W-algebra. There are also additional elements. Because we consider the low-energy limit where the internal line shrinks, it is natural to expect that the line operators connecting the two corners also behave as the local operators. Thus, it is considered that the W-algebra associated with Figure 10 consists of the two Y-algebras and the line operators. One can read off the parameters of the Y-algebras from (3.19) as $Y_{0,1,2}[\Psi]$ and $Y_{0,0,1}[\Psi - 1]$. The line operators are interpreted as the modules for both $Y_{0,1,2}[\Psi]$ and $Y_{0,0,1}[\Psi - 1]$, as we have seen in 3.1.3. They are characterized by the weight of gauge group U(M) and we need to sum up all representations. The process that several W-algebras and their modules lift to a larger W-algebra is called conformal extension or module extension. In general, it is a highly nontrivial process. Therefore, the above brane construction provides us a powerful tool to construct various W-algebras.

One can also define the above W-algebra by the BRST reduction as in the case of the Y-algebra. Because there are two corners, the reduction is implemented twice. The gauge group is broken from U(N) to U(M) at the upper corner and completely broken at the lower corner. Therefore, the W-algebra under consideration is given by

$$DS_M[DS_{N-M}[\widehat{U}(N)_{\Psi}]]. \tag{3.20}$$

Here, DS_{N-M} means the DS reduction with SU(2) embedding in $(N-M) \times (N-M)$ block while DS_M means the DS reduction with SU(2) embedding in $M \times M$ block. The simplest example is when N = 2, M = 1. In this case, we have affine Kac-Moody algebra $\hat{U}(2)$.

It is nontrivial that the above two descriptions give the same W-algebra. In [27], several consistency checks were provided. For example, it was checked that the conformal dimension of the module realized by the line operator is always integer or half-integer. This fact supports the claim that the two Y-algebras and their modules form a new W-algebra consistently. As an example, let us consider $\hat{U}(2)$. In this case, the conformal dimension of the module with fundamental weight or anti-fundamental weight is 1. They can be interpreted as the current $J^{\pm}(z)$ of $\hat{U}(2)$. In Section 4, we explain how to compute the conformal dimension of these modules in detail.

Next, let us consider the following diagram:



Figure 11: The left figure shows the web-diagram associated with $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro \otimes U(1) boson. The right figure shows the reduction to the Chern-Simons theories. The U(1) symplectic fermion Sf^{U(1)} lives at the lower junction.

The corresponding W-algebra is given by

$$\frac{\widehat{U}(2)_{\Psi} \times \mathrm{Ff}}{\widehat{U}(1)_{\Psi}},\tag{3.21}$$

which realizes $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra and an extra $\widehat{U}(1)$ as we have seen in Section 2.3.2. In terms of the Y-algebras, it is realized as the conformal extension of

$$Y_{0,1,2}[\Psi] \otimes Y_{0,0,1}[1-\frac{1}{\Psi}].$$
(3.22)

Here, we mention why it is convenient to express the algebra (3.21) in terms of the Yalgebras. As we have seen in Section 3.1.4, we can describe the Hilbert space of the Y-algebra by a plane partition. Therefore, we can describe the Hilbert space of (3.22) by two plane partitions. We also need to take into account the elements coming from the line operators. As we will explain in Section 4.5, they can also be interpreted in terms of plane partitions. Thus, we can describe the total Hilbert space by using two plane partitions. The same discussion can be applied to any (p, q)-webs. Therefore, we can describe the representation theory of any generalized Y-algebras by using plane partitions. We will discuss the plane partition representation in detail in the next section.

Finally, let us consider the following diagram.



When $N_1 > N_2 > N_3 \cdots > N_{n-1} > N_n$, this diagram realizes

$$\frac{Ds_{N_{n-1}-N_n}[DS_{N_{n-2}-N_{n-1}}[\cdots DS_{N_1-N_2}[\hat{U}(N_1)_{\Psi}]]]}{\hat{U}(N_n)_{\Psi-n+1}}.$$
(3.23)

Especially, when $N_n = 0$, it provides all the W-algebras obtained from the DS reduction of $\widehat{U}(N)_{\Psi}$. On the other hand, we can also see it as the conformal extension of

$$Y_{0,N_2,N_1}[\Psi] \otimes Y_{0,N_3,N_2}[\Psi-1] \otimes \dots \otimes Y_{0,N_n,N_{n-1}}[\Psi-n+2].$$
(3.24)

In this way, the generalized Y-algebra realizes various W-algebras. Before ending this section, we make a technical comment. The W-algebra (3.23) is constructed from not only (3.24) but the line operators connecting two neighboring corners. They are characterized by the weight of gauge group $U(N_2)$, $U(N_3)$, $\cdots U(N_{n-1})$, respectively. Let us recall that the weight of U(N) is labeled by the Young diagram $\mu = (\mu_1, \mu_2, \cdots, \mu_N)$. As was claimed in [27], we have to sum up all the Young diagrams $\mu_1 \ge \mu_2 \ge \mu_3 \ge \cdots \ge \mu_N$. In the following, we refer to them as intermediate Young diagrams. Here, we note that the length of the row is not necessarily nonnegative. In other words, we have to sum up negative Young diagrams. It may seem unimportant, but it causes a subtle problem when we try to interpret the above construction in terms of a plane partition. We will discuss this point in Section 6.1.

4 Affine Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1

In this section, we review the affine Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1 , mainly based on [11]. We start from a description of its definition in Section 4.1. It is generated by three currents $e(u), f(u), \psi(u)$ and centers. Because these currents are completely different from those of 2d CFTs, the affine Yangian is seemingly unrelated to W-algebras at first sight. However, it is actually isomorphic to $W_{1+\infty}$, as we will see in Section 4.2. In Section 4.3, we show the explicit relation between the generators of the affine Yangian and U(1) and Virasoro subalgebras of $W_{1+\infty}$. In Section 4.4, we discuss the representation theory. One of the advantages of the affine Yangian is that the defining relation between the generating currents can be explicitly written. That allows us to construct an explicit representation theory as opposed to the conventional technique to deal with W-algebras. The representation which is of particular interest in this thesis is a plane partition representation. It provides us a new way to study the representation theory of W-algebras. In Section 4.5, we consider the truncation of the affine Yangian and its connection to the Y-algebra. As we mentioned in Section 3.1.4, the Hilbert space of the Y-algebra is described by a plane partition with a pit. We discuss such a plane partition in terms of the affine Yangian and show the relation between the affine Yangian and the Y-algebra.

4.1 Definition

The affine Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1 is generated by the following elements,

$$e_i, \ f_i, \ \psi_i \quad (i \ge 0). \tag{4.1}$$

The algebra has two parameters, but it is convenient to introduce three parameters $h_1, h_2, h_3 \in \mathbb{C}$ with a constraint,

$$h_1 + h_2 + h_3 = 0. (4.2)$$

We also introduce the parameters

$$\sigma_2 = h_1 h_2 + h_2 h_3 + h_3 h_1, \qquad \sigma_3 = h_1 h_2 h_3. \tag{4.3}$$

The defining relations are given as follows:

$$[\psi_i, \psi_j] = 0, \tag{4.4}$$

$$[e_{i+3}, e_j] - 3[e_{i+2}, e_{j+1}] + 3[e_{i+1}, e_{j+2}] - [e_i, e_{j+3}] + \sigma_2[e_{i+1}, e_j] - \sigma_2[e_i, e_{j+1}] - \sigma_3\{e_i, e_j\} = 0,$$
(4.5)

$$[f_{i+3}, f_j] - 3[f_{i+2}, f_{j+1}] + 3[f_{i+1}, f_{j+2}] - [f_i, f_{j+3}] + \sigma_2[f_{i+1}, f_j] - \sigma_2[f_i, f_{j+1}] + \sigma_3\{f_i, f_j\} = 0,$$
(4.6)

$$[\psi_{i+3}, e_j] - 3[\psi_{i+2}, e_{j+1}] + 3[\psi_{i+1}, e_{j+2}] - [\psi_i, e_{j+3}] + \sigma_2[\psi_{i+1}, e_j] - \sigma_2[\psi_i, e_{j+1}] - \sigma_3\{\psi_i, e_j\} = 0,$$
(4.7)

$$[\psi_{i+3}, f_j] - 3[\psi_{i+2}, f_{j+1}] + 3[\psi_{i+1}, f_{j+2}] - [\psi_i, f_{j+3}] + \sigma_2[\psi_{i+1}, f_j] - \sigma_2[\psi_i, f_{j+1}] + \sigma_3\{\psi_i, f_j\} = 0,$$
(4.8)

$$[e_i, f_j] = \psi_{i+j},\tag{4.9}$$

$$[\psi_0, e_j] = [\psi_1, e_j] = [\psi_0, f_j] = [\psi_1, f_j] = 0, \quad [\psi_2, e_j] = 2e_j, \quad [\psi_2, f_j] = -2f_j.$$
(4.10)

where $i, j \ge 0$ and $\{x, y\} \equiv xy + yx$. The Serre relations are also imposed, but we omit it because we do not use it. By introducing the Drinfeld currents

$$e(u) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{e_j}{u^{j+1}}, \qquad f(u) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{f_j}{u^{j+1}}, \qquad \psi(u) = 1 + \sigma_3 \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{\psi_j}{u^{j+1}}, \tag{4.11}$$

the above relations except (4.10) can be rewritten as follows:

$$[\psi(u), \psi(v)] = 0, \tag{4.12}$$

$$\phi(u-v)e(u)e(v) + \phi(v-u)e(v)e(u) \sim 0, \qquad (4.13)$$

$$\phi(v-u)f(u)f(v) + \phi(u-v)f(v)f(u) \sim 0, \tag{4.14}$$

$$\phi(u-v)\psi(u)e(v) + \phi(v-u)e(v)\psi(u) \sim 0,$$
(4.15)

$$\phi(v-u)\psi(u)f(v) + \phi(u-v)f(v)\psi(u) \sim 0,$$
(4.16)

$$[e(u), f(v)] = -\frac{1}{\sigma_3} \frac{\psi(u) - \psi(v)}{u - v},$$
(4.17)

where

$$\phi(u) = \prod_{i=1}^{3} (u - h_i). \tag{4.18}$$

Here, the notation " \sim " implies that the both hand sides are equal up to the regular terms at u = 0 or v = 0. One can see from the above relations that ψ_0 commutes with all of the other elements. Such an element is called center.

The affine Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1 possesses several automorphisms. One can see that the above defining relations are invariant under the following transformation,

$$h_i \to \alpha h_i, \quad u \to \alpha u, \quad e(u) \to \alpha^{-2} e(u), \quad f(u) \to \alpha^{-2} f(u), \quad \psi(u) \to \psi(u), \quad (4.19)$$

where α is an arbitrary parameter. In terms of the modes, it is rewritten as

$$e_j \to \alpha^{j-1} e_j, \quad f_j \to \alpha^{j-1} f_j, \quad \psi_j \to \alpha^{j-2} \psi_j \qquad (j \ge 0).$$
 (4.20)

Due to this automorphism, the parameters h_i and the center ψ_0 do not have meanings by themselves. It is convenient to introduce the parameters λ_i (i = 1, 2, 3) which are invariant under the automorphism as follows:

$$\lambda_i = -\frac{\psi_0 \sigma_3}{h_i}.\tag{4.21}$$

Because of the constraint (4.2), they are not independent but constrained by the condition,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{3} \lambda_i^{-1} = 0. \tag{4.22}$$

The second automorphism is called spectral shift and given by

$$e(u) \to e(u-q), \quad f(u) \to f(u-q), \quad \psi(u) \to \psi(u-q),$$

$$(4.23)$$

where q is an arbitrary parameter. In terms of the modes, it can be rewritten as

$$e_j \to \sum_{k=0}^j \frac{j!}{k!(j-k)!} q^{j-k} e_k, \quad f_j \to \sum_{k=0}^j \frac{j!}{k!(j-k)!} q^{j-k} f_k, \quad \psi_j \to \sum_{k=0}^j \frac{j!}{k!(j-k)!} q^{j-k} \psi_k.(4.24)$$

Finally, we mention that the algebra is obviously symmetric under the permutation of h_1, h_2, h_3 . We will see that it is related to the triality of Y-algebra.

4.2 The relation to $W_{1+\infty}$

The relation between affine Yangian and $W_{1+\infty}$ can be presented in the following figure:



Figure 12: A rough sketch of the relation between the affine Yangian and $W_{1+\infty}$. The elements of the algebra are depicted in the two dimensional lattice. The concrete relation for U(1) boson and Virasoro algebra is given in the next section.

Before explaining the relation, we mention the linear $W_{1+\infty}$ [58]. Let us recall that the Virasoro algebra is obtained as the central extension of the differential operator $l_n = -z^n D_z$, where we set $D_z = z\partial_z$. As its generalization, we can consider the extended algebra formed by all differential operators $z^n D^m$ ($n \in \mathbb{Z}, m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$). One can see that these differential operators are closed under the commutator as follows:

$$[z^{n}f(D_{z}), z^{m}g(D_{z})] = z^{n+m}f(D_{z}+m)g(D_{z}) - z^{n+m}f(D_{z})g(D_{z}+n),$$
(4.25)

where f and g are arbitrary polynomials. The linear $W_{1+\infty}$ algebra is obtained as the central extension of (4.25). Let us denote by $W(z^n f(D_z))$ the corresponding element. Then the commutation relation after the central extension is given by

$$[W(z^{n}f(D_{z})), W(z^{m}g(D_{z}))] = W(z^{n+m}f(D_{z})g(D_{z}+n)) + C\Psi(z^{n}f(D_{z}), z^{m}g(D_{z})),$$
(4.26)

where the extension term Ψ is fixed by Jacobi-identity as follows:

$$\Psi(z^{n}f(D_{z}), z^{m}g(D_{z})) = \delta_{n+m,0} \left(\theta(n>0) \sum_{j=1}^{n} f(-j)g(n-j) - \theta(m>0) \sum_{j=1}^{m} f(m-j)g(-j) \right).$$
(4.27)

The representation theory of $W_{1+\infty}$ depends on the value of C. It was found that it realizes W_N algebra (and an extra U(1) boson) when C = N. However, it has become clear that it cannot realize W_N algebra for generic central charges. Therefore, we need to add one more parameter to $W_{1+\infty}$ in order to realize W_N algebra with generic central charges. The affine Yangian gives such an algebra.

To see that the affine Yangian is one-parameter deformation of the linear $W_{1+\infty}$, let us consider the case of $h_3 = 0$. For the other two parameters, we can fix them as $h_1 = -h_2 = 1$ by using (4.2) and (4.19). In this case, the elements of $Y(\widehat{\mathfrak{gl}}_1)$ can be realized by the differential operators as follows [11]:

$$e_i \to (-1)^i W(z^{-1}D_z^i), \quad f_i \to (-1)^{i+1} W(D_z^i z), \quad \psi_i \to (-1)^{i+1} W((D_z + 1)^i - D_z^i).$$
 (4.28)

Thus, the affine Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1 degenerates to the linear $W_{1+\infty}$ if we set $h_3 = 0$. We note that the currents $e(u), f(u), \psi(u)$ are totally different from the currents in CFT. For example, the current $\psi(u)$ involves only the zero modes of the CFT currents. On the other hand, it contains all the zero-modes of the currents with conformal dimension $1, 2, 3, \dots, \infty$. The parameter u is called spectral parameter in the context of integrable models and plays a different role from z.

4.3 U(1) and Virasoro subalgebra

Although the relation between the elements of the affine Yangian and those of $W_{1+\infty}$ is highly nontrivial, we can find it for the U(1) current and Virasoro algebra [11]. If we set

$$J_{0} = \psi_{1}, \quad J_{-1} = e_{0}, \quad J_{1} = -f_{0}, \quad L_{-1} = e_{1}, \quad L_{1} = -f_{1}, \quad L_{0} = \frac{1}{2}\psi_{2},$$

$$L_{-2} = \frac{1}{2}[e_{2}, e_{0}] - \frac{\psi_{0}\sigma_{3}}{2}[e_{1}, e_{0}], \quad L_{2} = -\frac{1}{2}[f_{2}, f_{0}] + \frac{\psi_{0}\sigma_{3}}{2}[f_{1}, f_{0}],$$
(4.29)

they satisfy the commutation relations of U(1) current and Virasoro algebra,

$$[J_n, J_m] = \psi_0 n \delta_{n+m,0}, \tag{4.30}$$

$$[L_n, L_m] = (n-m)L_{n+m} + \frac{c}{12}(n+1)n(n-1)\delta_{n+m,0}, \qquad (4.31)$$

$$[L_n, J_m] = -mJ_{n+m}, (4.32)$$

where the central charge is given by

$$c = -\sigma_2 \psi_0 - \sigma_3^2 \psi_0^3 = 1 + (\lambda_1 - 1)(\lambda_2 - 1)(\lambda_3 - 1).$$
(4.33)

As is expected, the central charge is expressed by the parameters λ_i which is invariant under the automorphism. We note that the normalization of the U(1) current is not the standard one due to the factor ψ_0 . We also note that the first term in the last expression of (4.33) comes from the U(1) current. We can remove its contribution from Virasoro algebra by subtracting the Sugawara current as follows:

$$L_n^{\text{decouple}} = L_n - \frac{1}{2\psi_0} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} : J_m J_{n-m} : .$$
 (4.34)

For the zero-mode, we can express

$$L_0^{\text{decouple}} = \frac{1}{2}\psi_2 - \frac{\psi_1^2}{2\psi_0} + \cdots, \qquad (4.35)$$

where the terms other than the first two terms vanish when they act on the highest weight state. The other modes of Virasoro algebra can be obtained from the commutator of the elements in (4.29). For example, we have $L_{-3} = [L_{-1}, L_{-2}] = \frac{1}{2}[e_1, [e_2, e_0]] - \frac{\psi_0 \sigma_3}{2}[e_1, [e_1, e_0]].$

4.4 Plane partition representation of the affine Yangian

In this section, we discuss the representation theory of the affine Yangian. As we mentioned, the vacuum representation of $W_{1+\infty}$ can be described by a plane partition and the level of the state corresponds to the number of boxes. In the following, we see how we can determine the action of e(u), f(u), $\psi(u)$ on the plane partition [11].

Because of $[\psi_i, \psi_j] = 0$, we can diagonalize ψ_i s. Let us denote by Λ configuration of the plane partition, by $|\Lambda\rangle$ the corresponding state and by $\psi_{\Lambda}(u) = 1 + \sigma_3 \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \psi_{\Lambda,i} u^{-j-1}$ the

eigenvalue of $\psi(u)$ for the state $|\Lambda\rangle$. We also denote by $|\emptyset\rangle$ the highest weight state, which satisfies

$$f_j \left| \emptyset \right\rangle = 0. \tag{4.36}$$

Here, we think of f_j (resp. e_j) as the lowering (resp. raising) operators. We also introduce the dual state $\langle \Lambda |$ and the highest weight state $\langle \emptyset |$ which satisfies

$$\langle \emptyset | e_j = 0. \tag{4.37}$$

Because the affine Yangian has infinitely many elements, there are generically infinitely many states even at level 1. To obtain the representation with a finite number of states at level 1, we have to impose some conditions on $\psi_{\emptyset}(u)$. We can obtain this condition by computing the Shapovalov form,

$$\langle \emptyset | f_j e_i | \emptyset \rangle = \langle \emptyset | [f_j, e_i] | \emptyset \rangle = - \langle \emptyset | \psi_{\emptyset, i+j} | \emptyset \rangle.$$
(4.38)

If the rank of this Shapovalov form is finite, the number of the independent states becomes finite. In particular, we are interested in the rank 1 case because there is one configuration at level 1 in the plane partition. This condition leads to

$$\psi_{\emptyset,j} = q^j \psi_0 \tag{4.39}$$

for some $q \in \mathbb{C}^{24}$. It can be rewritten into

$$\psi_{\emptyset}(u) = \frac{u - q + \psi_0 \sigma_3}{u - q}.$$
(4.40)

Because of the spectral shift (4.23), we can fix q to an arbitrary value without loss of generality. In the following, we set q = 0.

Next, let us consider the action of e(u) and f(u). Because e(u) (resp. f(u)) increases (resp. decreases) the level by one, it plays a role of adding to (resp. removing from) the plane partition a box. Let us put the following ansatz:

$$e_j |\Lambda\rangle = \sum_{\square \in \Lambda^+} h^j_{\square} E(\Lambda \to \Lambda + \square) |\Lambda + \square\rangle, \qquad (4.41)$$

$$f_j |\Lambda\rangle = \sum_{\Box \in \Lambda^-} h_{\Box}^j F(\Lambda \to \Lambda - \Box) |\Lambda - \Box\rangle, \qquad (4.42)$$

which can be checked at the lower $level^{25}$. Here, we assign the value

$$h_{\Box} = h_1 x + h_2 y + h_3 z \tag{4.43}$$

 $^{^{24}\}mathrm{We}$ note that ψ_0 is center and takes the same value in the representation space.

 $^{^{25}\}mathrm{For}$ more detail, see Appendix A.

to each box at (x, y, z) and we denote by Λ^{\pm} the places where we can add or remove a box. By considering the action of (4.7) on $|\Lambda\rangle$, we have

$$\frac{\psi_{\Lambda+\Box}(u)}{\psi_{\Lambda}(u)} = \varphi(u - h_{\Box}), \qquad (4.44)$$

where we set

$$\varphi(u) = \frac{(u+h_1)(u+h_2)(u+h_3)}{(u-h_1)(u-h_2)(u-h_3)}.$$
(4.45)

Then we have

$$\psi_{\Lambda}(u) = \frac{u + \psi_0 \sigma_3}{u} \prod_{\Box \in \Lambda} \varphi(u - h_{\Box}).$$
(4.46)

The remaining task is to determine $E(\Lambda \to \Lambda + \Box)$ and $F(\Lambda \to \Lambda - \Box)$. From (4.9), we see

$$\psi_{\Lambda}(u) = 1 + \sigma_{3} \sum_{\Box \in \Lambda^{-}} \frac{E(\Lambda - \Box \to \Lambda)F(\Lambda \to \Lambda - \Box)}{u - h_{\Box}} - \sigma_{3} \sum_{\Box \in \Lambda^{+}} \frac{E(\Lambda \to \Lambda + \Box)F(\Lambda + \Box \to \Lambda)}{u - h_{\Box}}.$$
(4.47)

We note that this expression makes sense because $\psi_{\Lambda}(u)$ has a pole of order one only at $u = h_{\Box} (\Box \in \Lambda^{\pm})$ as was checked in [11]. Because e(u) and f(u) are conjugate to each other, it is natural to set

$$E(\Lambda \to \Lambda + \Box) = F(\Lambda + \Box \to \Lambda). \tag{4.48}$$

Combining it with (4.47), we have

$$E(\Lambda \to \Lambda + \Box) = \sqrt{-\frac{1}{\sigma_3} \operatorname{res}_{u \to h_{\Box}} \psi_{\Lambda}(u)}.$$
(4.49)

Summarizing the above, the action of the currents on the state $|\Lambda\rangle$ is given by

$$\psi(u) |\Lambda\rangle = \psi_{\Lambda}(u) |\Lambda\rangle,$$
(4.50)

$$e(u) |\Lambda\rangle = \sum_{\square \in \Lambda^+} \frac{1}{u - h_{\square}} \sqrt{-\frac{1}{\sigma_3}} \operatorname{res}_{u \to h_{\square}} \psi_{\Lambda}(u) |\Lambda + \square\rangle, \qquad (4.51)$$

$$f(u) |\Lambda\rangle = \sum_{\Box \in \Lambda^{-}} \frac{1}{u - h_{\Box}} \sqrt{-\frac{1}{\sigma_3} \operatorname{res}_{u \to h_{\Box}} \psi_{\Lambda - \Box}(u)} |\Lambda - \Box\rangle, \qquad (4.52)$$

where " $\operatorname{res}_{u \to h_{\Box}}$ " means the residue at $u = h_{\Box}$. This is the final result for the plane partition representation of the affine Yangian. Strictly speaking, we have to check that this formula is compatible with the other defining relations such as (4.5), but we omit it for simplicity. For a more complete derivation of the plane partition representation, see Appendix A.

In the plane partition representation, we can introduce an asymptotic Young diagram to each axis as in the following figure:



Figure 13: The asymptotic Young diagrams λ, μ, ν extend to infinity. They are expressed as $\lambda = (2, 2, 2, 1), \mu = (4, 3)$ and $\nu = (3, 1)$ if we choose the direction of the row and the column appropriately.

The asymptotic Young diagrams provide the module other than the vacuum module. In other words, it plays a role of the primary fields. According to (4.46), the eigenvalue of $\psi(u)$ should be obtained by multiplying the vacuum eigenvalue $\psi_{\emptyset}(u)$ by the contribution $\varphi(u - h_{\Box})$ from each box. Naively, it seems to diverge because there are infinitely many boxes. However, it actually converges because a lot of cancellations occur. As an example, let us consider the asymptotic Young diagram $\mu = \Box$ inserted along the second axis. The eigenvalue $\psi_{\mu=\Box}(u)$ of $\psi(u)$ can be computed as follows:

$$\begin{split} \psi_{\mu=\Box}(u) &= \psi_{\emptyset}(u) \prod_{i=0}^{\infty} \varphi(u-ih_{2}) \\ &= \psi_{\emptyset}(u) \prod_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{\left(u+h_{1}-ih_{2}\right)\left(u-(i-1)h_{2}\right)\left(u+h_{3}-ih_{2}\right)}{\left(u-h_{1}-ih_{2}\right)\left(u-(i+1)h_{2}\right)\left(u-h_{3}-ih_{2}\right)} \\ &= \psi_{\emptyset}(u) \prod_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{\left(u-h_{1}-(i+1)h_{2}\right)\left(u-(i-1)h_{2}\right)\left(u-h_{3}-(i+1)h_{2}\right)}{\left(u-h_{1}-ih_{2}\right)\left(u-(i+1)h_{2}\right)\left(u-h_{3}-ih_{2}\right)} \\ &= \frac{\left(u+\psi_{0}\sigma_{3}\right)\left(u+h_{2}\right)}{\left(u-h_{1}\right)\left(u-h_{3}\right)}, \end{split}$$
(4.53)

where we use (4.2) in the third line. We note that a lot of cancellations occur in the third line, which leads to the last line. Then we have

$$\psi_{\mu=\square}(u) = 1 + \sigma_3 \left(\frac{\psi_0}{u} - \frac{1}{h_2 u^2} + \frac{1 + \lambda_2}{u^3} + \cdots \right).$$
(4.54)

Comparing it with (4.29), we can read off the conformal dimension h and the U(1) charge j'

as

$$h = \frac{1+\lambda_2}{2}, \qquad j' = -\frac{1}{h_2}.$$
 (4.55)

In a similar way, we can obtain the conformal dimension and U(1) charge for generic asymptotic Young diagrams and the formula is given in [27]. For example, when we insert the asymptotic Young diagram $\mu = (\mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_3, \cdots)$ in the second axis²⁶, the U(1) charge $j'(M_{\mu}^2)$ and the conformal dimension $h(M_{\mu}^2)$ are given as

$$j'(M_{\mu}^{2}) = -\frac{1}{h_{2}} \sum_{j} \mu_{j},$$

$$h(M_{\mu}^{2}) = -\frac{\lambda_{2}}{2\lambda_{3}} \sum_{j} \mu_{j}^{2} - \frac{\lambda_{2}}{2\lambda_{1}} \sum_{j} (2j-1)\mu_{j} + \frac{\lambda_{2}}{2} \sum_{j} \mu_{j}$$

$$= -\frac{\lambda_{2}}{2\lambda_{3}} \sum_{j} \mu_{j}^{2} - \frac{\lambda_{2}}{2\lambda_{1}} \sum_{j} (\mu^{T})_{j}^{2} + \frac{\lambda_{2}}{2} \sum_{j} \mu_{j}.$$
(4.56)

where μ^T is a transposition of μ . The formula for the asymptotic Young diagram inserted in another axis is obtained just by replacing h_2, λ_2 with h_i, λ_i (i = 1, 3). When we insert asymptotic Young diagrams in more than one axis, we have to be careful not to count some boxes twice. In the case that we insert the asymptotic Young diagrams λ and μ in the first axis and the second axis, respectively, the conformal dimension h and U(1) charge j' are given as follows:

$$j' = j'(M_{\lambda}^{1}) + j'(M_{\mu}^{2}),$$

$$h = h(M_{\lambda}^{1}) + h(M_{\mu}^{2}) - \#(\lambda \cap \mu),$$
(4.57)

where $\#(\lambda \cap \mu)$ denotes the number of the overlapping boxes. For example, there are three overlapping boxes at $(x_1, x_2, x_3) = (1, 1, 1), (1, 2, 1), (1, 1, 2)$ in the following plane partition:



4.5 Constrained plane partition and the Y-algebra

In the previous section, we have discussed the plane partition representation for generic parameters. In this section, we discuss the special cases where null states appear. In

²⁶In this notation, each row μ_i of the Young diagram extends to the direction of the third axis.

such cases, some configuration of the plane partition is prohibited if it contains a box at a particular position. As we mentioned in Section 3.1.4, we refer to such a position as a "pit", following [25]. We have already seen that the Hilbert space of the Y-algebra is described by a plane partition with a pit and they are expected to be truncations of $W_{1+\infty}$ algebra. Therefore, it is expected that the plane partition representation of the affine Yangian describes the Hilbert space of the Y-algebra when the parameters satisfy a particular condition.

As we mentioned, $\psi_{\Lambda}(u)$ has a non-vanishing residue at $u = h_{\Box}$ for generic parameters iff $\Box \in \Lambda^{\pm}$. However, when the condition

$$\psi_0 \sigma_3 = -(Lh_1 + Mh_2 + Nh_3) \qquad (L, M, N \ge 0) \tag{4.58}$$

is satisfied, the pole of $\psi_{\Lambda}(u)$ at $u = Lh_1 + Mh_2 + Nh_3$ is canceled out (see 4.46). Then (4.51) and (4.52) imply that we cannot place a box at (x, y, z) = (L + 1, M + 1, N + 1) because the corresponding coefficients become zero. As a result, the Hilbert space is described by the plane partition with a pit at (L + 1, M + 1, N + 1). For later convenience, we rewrite the condition (4.58) by using (4.21) into a simpler form,

$$\frac{L}{\lambda_1} + \frac{M}{\lambda_2} + \frac{N}{\lambda_3} = 1. \tag{4.59}$$

Summarizing the above, the affine Yangian truncates to $Y_{L,M,N}[\Psi]$ when the condition (4.59) is satisfied²⁷.

In the remaining part, we explain the relation between the affine Yangian and the Yalgebra in more detail. Let us identify the relation between the parameter of the affine Yangian and that of the Y-algebra. By comparing the central charges, we find

$$\Psi = -\frac{h_2}{h_1} = -\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_2}.$$
(4.60)

Combining (4.22), (4.59) and (4.60), we have

$$\lambda_{1} = L - \Psi M - (1 - \Psi)N, \lambda_{2} = -\frac{L - \Psi M - (1 - \Psi)N}{\Psi}, \lambda_{3} = \frac{L - \Psi M - (1 - \Psi)N}{\Psi - 1}.$$
(4.61)

Next, let us consider the module of the Y-algebra which we discussed in Section 3.1.3 in terms of the affine Yangian. We have seen that the line operators in the three-dimensional edges give the modules of the Y-algebra. As shown in Figure 14, we can introduce three line operators and they are labeled by the weight of the gauge group U(L|M), U(M|N), U(N|L), respectively:

²⁷We note that one of L, M, N can be set to zero by using (4.2). In this thesis, we focus on the case that one of L, M, N is equal to zero.



Figure 14: There are three edges where we can insert line operators. λ, μ, ν denote the weight of U(L, M), U(M|N), U(N|L), respectively.

On the other hand, the affine Yangian has the module labeled by three asymptotic Young diagrams. Then it is natural to identify each line operator with the asymptotic Young diagram inserted in each axis of the plane partition. One can see the validity of this identification by considering the possible shape of the asymptotic Young diagram. As an example, let us consider $Y_{0,0,N}$. In this case, there is a pit at (1, 1, N + 1) and we can insert two asymptotic Young diagrams with height at most N. Such Young diagrams indeed correspond to the weight of U(N) representation. For generic $Y_{L,M,N}$, we can insert hook-shaped Young diagrams, which describe the weight of super Lie algebra (see Figure 15).



Figure 15: Left: The asymptotic Young diagrams λ, μ, ν . Right: The asymptotic Young diagram λ is restricted due to the pit. It is known that such Young diagram corresponds to the weight of U(M|N).

5 Doubly constrained plane partition and W_N minimal models

In this section, we study the W_N minimal model in terms of the plane partition. In the previous section, we discussed the case that only one truncation condition (4.59) is satisfied. In Section 5.1, we consider the case that two truncation conditions are satisfied at the same time. In such cases, a further constraint is imposed on the plane partition. That describes the null state condition and plays an important role in the subsequent discussion. In Section 5.2, we study the W_N minimal model by using the result obtained in Section 5.1. The W_N minimal model by using the result obtained in Section 5.1. The W_N minimal model in terms of N-tuple Young diagrams. We show the compatibility with our result. We will see that the plane partition provides much simpler description for the W_N minimal model's Hilbert space.

5.1 Doubly constrained plane partition

As we have seen, the affine Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1 provides a uniform description of a certain class of W-algebras. Especially, it includes all W_N algebras. Their representation theory is also described uniformly by a constrained plane partition. So far, we have discussed the cases for generic parameters. In this section, we consider the cases such that additional null states appear. In terms of a plane partition, the additional null states imply that some configuration is prohibited. Then we need to understand what happens when two truncation conditions (4.59) are satisfied at the same time as follows:

$$\frac{L_1}{\lambda_1} + \frac{M_1}{\lambda_2} + \frac{N_1}{\lambda_3} = 1, \qquad \frac{L_2}{\lambda_1} + \frac{M_2}{\lambda_2} + \frac{N_2}{\lambda_3} = 1,$$
(5.1)

where $(L_2 - L_1, M_2 - M_1, N_2 - N_1)$ is not proportional to $(1, 1, 1)^{28}$. In the following, we focus on the case that one of the above conditions corresponds to the truncation to W_N algebra. Let us set $(L_2, M_2, N_2) = (0, 0, N)$. For the other condition, we can set $N_1 = 0$ without loss of generality. Let us explain this point in more detail. As we mentioned, we can set one of L_1, M_1, N_1 to zero by using (4.22). When N_1 is the smallest, we can set $N_1 = 0$. The nontrivial case is when L_1 or M_1 is smaller than N_1 . Let us consider the case that L_1 is the smallest. In this case, we can redefine $(L_1, M_1, N_1) = (0, m, n)$. When $n \ge N$, the pit at (1, m + 1, n + 1) does not play any role because the pit at (1, 1, N + 1) already restricts the height of the plane partition to N (see the left of Figure 16). We are not interested in such a case. Let us consider n < N. In this case, there is a pit on the (x_1, x_2) plane. To see that, we recall that the truncation condition (4.59) is satisfied by (-N, -N, 0) and (-n, m - n, 0). That is also true for every integral point on the line connecting them. Thanks to n < N, such a point exists on the first quadrant of the (x_1, x_2) plane. Thus, we can set $(L_1, M_1, N_1) = (L, M, 0)$ without loss of generality.

 $^{^{28}}$ If this condition is not satisfied, one of the two truncation conditions becomes trivial due to (4.22).



Figure 16: Left: The case for $n \ge N$. One can see that the pit at (1, m + 1, n + 1) does not play any role. Right: The case that there are three pits.

In the following, we do not consider the case that there are more than two pits, as shown in the right of Figure 16. This assumption is necessary in the discussion below and we will see in Section 5.2 that all the W_N minimal models satisfy it. For the assumption to be satisfied, there should not be a pit in the (x_2, x_3) plane and (x_1, x_3) plane. To understand the condition for that, we recall that the truncation condition is satisfied by (-N, -N, 0)and (L, M, 0). The same is also true for the integral points on the line segment between them. One can see that the condition is satisfied when there is no pit on the line segment. To understand that, let us consider the case that there is an integral point on the line segment. If it is in the first quadrant of the (x_1, x_2) plane, that means we have to replace the value of L, M with the new ones. If it is not in the first quadrant of the (x_1, x_2) plane, we have a new pit in either of the (x_2, x_3) plane or (x_1, x_3) plane because we can shift the point in the direction of (1, 1, 1). From the above, L + N and M + N must be coprime, namely,

$$gcd(L+N, M+N) = 1,$$
 (5.2)

where gcd means the greatest common divisor.

In the following, we consider what kind of constraint is imposed on the plane partition. For simplicity, we denote by $\boxed{1}$ (resp. $\boxed{2}$) the box at (L + 1, M + 1, 1) (resp. (1, 1, N + 1)). Because of (5.1), one can see that the values of (4.43) for these two boxes are the same. We note that the truncation condition was originally given in (4.58). We set $h = h_{\boxed{1}} = h_{\boxed{2}}^{29}$. Before the analysis, let us recall why a single truncation condition produces a pit. When we have only one truncation condition $\frac{P}{\lambda_1} + \frac{Q}{\lambda_2} + \frac{R}{\lambda_3} = 1$, we have $\psi_0 \sigma_3 = -(Ph_1 + Qh_2 + Rh_3)$. Then $\psi_{\Lambda}(u)$ cannot have a pole at $u = Ph_1 + Qh_2 + Rh_3$ because the factor $u + \psi_0 \sigma_3$ in (4.46) cancels out the pole. According to (4.51), that implies we cannot place a box at (P + 1, Q + 1, R + 1).

However, the situation is different when two truncation conditions are satisfied. When both 1 and 2 belong to Λ^+ , $\psi_{\Lambda}(u)$ has a pole at u = h because both boxes contribute to

²⁹We note that the symbol "h" does not mean a conformal dimension in this section.

the pole;

$$\psi_{\Lambda}(u) \propto \frac{u + \psi_0 \sigma_3}{(u - h_1)(u - h_2)} = \frac{1}{u - h}.$$
(5.3)

Then we can add the boxes $\boxed{1}$, $\boxed{2}$ to the plane partition Λ . However, the two states, $|\Lambda + \boxed{1}\rangle$ and $|\Lambda + \boxed{2}\rangle$, are no longer independent. To see that, let us consider the action of e(u) in more detail. From (4.51), we see that $|\Lambda + \boxed{1}\rangle$ and $|\Lambda + \boxed{2}\rangle$ are generated as follows:

$$e(u) |\Lambda\rangle \propto \frac{1}{u-h} (|\Lambda+1\rangle + |\Lambda+2\rangle) + \cdots$$
 (5.4)

It implies that any modes e_i of e(u) generate only $|\Lambda + 1\rangle + |\Lambda + 2\rangle$ and cannot create the state $|\Lambda + 1\rangle - |\Lambda + 2\rangle$. Then this state becomes null and we should identify $|\Lambda + 1\rangle$ with $|\Lambda + 2\rangle$. The same is also true for their descendant states. These observation suggests that we should identify the box at $(x + L_1, y + M_1, z)$ with the box at $(x, y, z + N)^{30}$.

Due to the identification, there are two perspectives for the representation space; we can describe it by either a plane partition with a pit at (L + 1, M + 1, 1) or a plane partition with a pit at (1, 1, N + 1). One may think that the additional pit does not cause any effects, but the representation space is actually further constrained. That is because some configurations may not make sense as a plane partition in one of the two descriptions. Such states correspond to null states.

We demonstrate what we have explained above by using an example. We consider the case for $(L_1, M_1, N_1) = (1, 2, 0)$ and $(L_2, M_2, N_2) = (0, 0, 1)$. In this case, two boxes are identified if their coordinates are equal modulo (1, 2, -1). The following figure shows how the two plane partitions are identified:



Figure 17: The left figure describes the plane partition with a pit at (1, 1, 2) while the right figure describes the plane partition with a pit at (2, 3, 1). This figure shows how they are identified.

³⁰We note that the identification rule was also suggested in [11] when one of L and M is zero.

The left figure describes the plane partition with a pit at (1, 1, 2), which is just a Young diagram. According to the identification rule, we can also interpret this state in terms of the plane partition with a pit at (2, 3, 1). In order to switch to the latter description, we need to move the boxes along the direction of (-1, -2, 1). For that, we split the Young diagram into the hook-shaped regions with the corners located at (k + 1, 2k + 1, 1) $(k = 0, 1, 2, \cdots)$. Then we shift the k-th region by (-k, -2k, k). In other words, we pile the (k + 1)-th piece on the k-th piece. After this procedure, we obtain the plane partition with a pit at (2, 3, 1), as shown in the right figure. Because both figures make sense as a plane partition, this state is not null. One may see that any Young diagrams are transformed into consistent plane partitions with a pit at (2, 3, 1). That implies that no restrictions are imposed on the Young diagram. This is not surprising because the left figure corresponds to $Y_{0,0,1} = \hat{U}(1)$ and null states cannot arise in the free field. On the other hand, the second plane partition is indeed restricted. As an example, let us consider the following configuration:



Figure 18: The left figure describes the plane partition with a pit at (2, 3, 1) while the right figure shows the plane partition with a pit at (1, 1, 2). While the left figure makes sense as a plane partition, the right figure does not. Therefore, this state is null.

While there is no problem with the left figure, it is clear that the right figure does not make sense. That means this state is null.

In the next section, we consider general N. We will see that both plane partitions are restricted in such cases and that describes the Hilbert space for the minimal model of W_N algebras correctly.

5.2 W_N minimal models from plane partitions

In this section, we discuss W_N minimal models in terms of doubly constrained plane partitions. The product of the W_N algebra and an extra U(1) boson are realized by the affine Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1 when $\lambda_3 = N$. The remaining parameters are λ_1 and λ_2 , but they are subject to the relation (4.22). Then we can parametrize them as $\lambda_1 = N(\beta^{-1}-1)$ and $\lambda_2 = N(\beta-1)$. We see from (4.33) that the central charge is given as follows:

$$c = (N-1)(1 - Q^2 N(N+1)) + 1, \quad Q = \sqrt{\beta} - 1/\sqrt{\beta}.$$
(5.5)

We note that the second term comes from the extra U(1) boson. The minimal models are realized when $\beta = p/q$, where $p, q \ge N$ are coprime integers. For this parameter, the additional truncation condition is satisfied as follows:

$$\frac{p-N}{\lambda_1} + \frac{q-N}{\lambda_2} + \frac{0}{\lambda_3} = 1.$$
 (5.6)

This is precisely the situation that we considered in the previous subsection. We note that the condition for p, q matches the assumption (5.2). As we explained in the previous section, the two positions (x, y, z + N) and (x + p - N, y + q - N, z) are identified and the plane partition must satisfy the identification rule as in Figure 17. The aim of this section is to confirm that the doubly constrained plane partition indeed provides the correct Hilbert space for the W_N minimal model. For that, it is convenient to decompose the plane partition into N-tuple Young diagrams because they are the standard basis of W_N algebra (and an extra U(1) boson)³¹. This decomposition is illustrated in Figure 19. One can see that the plane partition with a pit at (1, 1, N + 1) consists of N-tuple Young diagrams $Y^{(1)}, Y^{(2)}, \dots, Y^{(N)}$ satisfying $Y^{(1)} \supset Y^{(2)} \supset \dots \supset Y^{(N)}$.



Figure 19: There is a Young diagram in each layer of the plane partition.

According to the identification rule, the plane partition is split into the hook-shaped regions and they are piled up one after another as in Figure 17. In this process, only the shape of $Y^{(1)}$ and $Y^{(N)}$ is relevant to whether the new plane partition is in a consistent shape. Summarizing, there are constraints not only between the neighboring Young diagrams but also between the first one and the last one.

Let us express the constraint more explicitly. In the following, we also consider the asymptotic Young diagrams. In the present case, we can insert them in the first axis and

³¹Recall that W_N algebra is constructed from N-1 free bosons as we discussed in Section 2.3.1.

the second axis. We denote by $\mu = (\mu_1, \mu_2, \dots, \mu_N)$ (resp. $\nu = (\nu_1, \nu_2, \dots, \nu_N)$) the first one (resp. the second one).



One can see that the Young diagram (n, n, \dots, n) does not play an essential role because it just shifts the origin of the plane partition. One may interpret it as the module for an extra U(1) boson. Therefore, we can set $\mu_N = \nu_N = 0$ without loss of generality. We also note that we have to impose

$$\mu_1 \le q - N, \quad \nu_1 \le p - N \tag{5.7}$$

because of the second pit at (p - N + 1, q - N + 1, 1).

Now we can compare these asymptotic Young diagrams with the primary fields in the W_N minimal models. Let us define the parameters,

$$\widetilde{m}_{i} = \mu_{i} - \mu_{i+1}, \quad \widetilde{n}_{i} = \nu_{i} - \nu_{i+1},
m_{i} = \widetilde{m}_{i} + 1, \quad n_{i} = \widetilde{n}_{i} + 1$$
(5.8)

for $i = 1, 2, \dots, N-1$. The constraints $\mu_1 \leq q-N, \nu_1 \leq p-N$ are rewritten as $\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} m_i < q$ and $\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} n_i < p$. Such sets of positive integers are exactly the same as that of W_N minimal models. Indeed, one can compute the conformal dimension for the asymptotic Young diagrams by using the affine Yangian's formula (4.56) and see that it reproduces the correct conformal dimension

$$\Delta(\vec{m},\vec{n}) = \frac{12(\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} (pm_i - qn_i)\vec{\omega}_i)^2 - N(N^2 - 1)(p - q)^2}{24pq},$$
(5.9)

which is given in (2.108). The detail for the computation can be found in Appendix B.

Next, let us consider the constraint imposed on the Hilbert space. Due to the asymptotic Young diagrams μ, ν , the location of the *N*-tuple Young diagrams $Y^{(1)}, Y^{(2)}, \cdots, Y^{(N)}$ are shifted as follows:



Figure 20: This figure is viewed from the top. The N-tuple Young diagrams must be in the shape such that they form a plane partition and satisfy the identification rule. This requirement correctly reproduces the Hilbert space of the W_N minimal model.

As we mentioned, we cannot determine the shape of the *N*-tuple Young diagrams independently because they must make sense as a plane partition. They must also satisfy the identification rule. These conditions can be written as follows:

$$Y_k^{(i)} - Y_{k+n_i-1}^{(i+1)} \ge -(m_i - 1) \qquad (i = 1, 2, \cdots, N, \ k \ge 1),$$
(5.10)

where $Y_k^{(i)}$ denotes the length of k-th row of $Y^{(i)}$. Here, we identify $Y^{(N+1)} = Y^{(1)}$ and set $m_N = q - \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} m_i$ and $n_N = p - \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} n_i$. We note that the condition for i = N comes from the identification rule. See the right of Figure 20. The above condition agrees with the N-Burge condition [59, 29, 30, 31, 32], which is known to give the Hilbert space of the W_N minimal model³². Thus, the doubly constrained plane partition provides the correct Hilbert space of W_N minimal models.

Finally, we mention the level-rank duality, which is an equivalence between two different minimal models. So far, we have discussed the Hilbert space in terms of the plane partition with a pit at (1, 1, N+1), but it is also possible to interpret it in terms of the plane partition with a pit at (p-N+1, q-N+1, 1). In this perspective, the W-algebra realized in this space is $Y_{p-N,q-N,0}[\Psi]$. Thus we have two different descriptions for the same Hilbert space. In the case of p = N or q = N, the other W-algebra is also W_M algebra (M = q - N or M = p - N).

 $^{^{32}}$ It was proved in [29] that N-Burge condition matches with the character of the W_N minimal model found in [60]. The N-Burge condition is derived not only from the representation theory but also from the study of conformal blocks in the context of AGT [30].

The equivalence between two W_N minimal model is called level-rank duality [61, 62] and has been studied in terms of N-tuple Young diagrams in [32]. When $p \neq N$ and $q \neq N$, $Y_{p-N,q-N,0}[\Psi]$ is not a familiar W-algebra and the corresponding level-rank duality has not been discussed without a few exceptions; in the case of p = N + 1, q = N + M ($M \geq 2$), the corresponding W-algebra was studied in [63] and the level-rank duality was also mentioned. We emphasize that the level-rank duality is manifestly realized in our construction.

6 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal models from connected plane partitions

In the previous section, we studied the W_N minimal models by using the plane partition representation of the affine Yangian. In terms of Gaiotto-Rapcak's construction, a single plane partition corresponds to the W-algebra associated with a single trivalent vertex. Meanwhile, Gaiotto-Rapcak's construction can be generalized to various (p,q)-webs. Because an affine Yangian lives at each corner, the total Hilbert space is described by several plane partitions. We also need to take into account the modules associated with the line operators connecting the two corners. As we discussed in Section 4.5, we can interpret them as the asymptotic Young diagrams. Therefore, the Hilbert space consists of the plane partitions which share the common asymptotic Young diagrams. As we mentioned, we refer to them as intermediate Young diagrams.

One of the simplest but nontrivial example for the generalized Y-algebra is $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra (with an extra U(1) boson). As we explained in Section 3.2, it is realized from the following diagram:



Figure 21: The diagram which realizes $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra and U(1) boson.

In this section, we study the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal models using plane partitions. We first clarify how the Hilbert space of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra for a generic central charge is described by plane partitions. In Section 6.1, we discuss the prescription for negative intermediate Young diagrams. In Section 6.2, we provide several necessary data such as conformal dimension and U(1) charge, which are used in the subsequent sections. In Section 6.3, we discuss the spectral flow, the automorphism of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra. It is obtained from the spectral shift of the affine Yangian. Because the spectral flow relates the R sector to the NS sector, it allows us to focus on the NS sector. Section 6.4 is the main part of this section. We study $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal models in terms of plane partitions. We find that the correct primary fields and characters are reproduced.

6.1 Interpretation of negative weights in terms of a plane partition

Before starting the analysis, we have to resolve a subtle problem. As we mentioned in the last part of Section 3.2, we need to consider the line operators with negative weights. However, it is not obvious how we should interpret the negative weight in terms of a plane partition. In the following, we focus on the situation that there is a pit at (L + 1, M + 1, 1)and the asymptotic Young diagram $\mu = (\mu_1, \mu_2, \dots, \mu_M)$ (resp. $\nu = (\nu_1, \nu_2, \dots, \nu_L)$) is inserted in the first (resp. second) axis (see Figure 22):



Figure 22: This figure shows the plane partition with a pit at (3, 5.1). The asymptotic Young diagrams are inserted in the first and the second axis. In our notation, the first one is expressed as $\mu = (6, 4, 3, 1)$ while the other one is expressed as $\nu = (5, 2)$.

Let us consider the case of $\mu = (1, 1, \dots, 1)$ and $\nu = (1, 1, \dots, 1)$. Obviously, they just shift the origin of the plane partition by 1 in the third axis direction. It affects the representation theory through the factor h_{\Box} defined in (4.43). Compared with the case without the asymptotic Young diagrams, the value of h_{\Box} is shifted by h_3 . We can take this effect into account by changing the spectral parameter u to $u - h_3$. Similarly, the asymptotic Young diagrams, $(\mu_1 + n, \mu_2 + n, \dots, \mu_M + n)$ and $(\nu_1 + n, \nu_2 + n, \dots, \nu_L + n)$, can be reduced to $(\mu_1, \mu_2, \dots, \mu_M)$ and $(\nu_1, \nu_2, \dots, \nu_L)$ by changing u to $u - nh_3$.

By applying this argument, we can deal with the negative weight. Let us consider the case for $\mu_M < 0$ and $\mu_M < \nu_L$. We can replace μ and ν with $\tilde{\mu} = (\mu_1 - \mu_M, \mu_2 - \mu_M, \cdots, \mu_{M-1} - \mu_M, 0)$ and $\tilde{\nu} = (\nu_1 - \mu_M, \nu_2 - \mu_M, \cdots, \nu_L - \mu_M)$ by changing u to $u - \mu_L h_3$. Due to this shift, the mode of the current $\psi(u)$ changes as follows:

$$\psi(u) \to \psi(u - \mu_M h_3) = 1 + \frac{\psi_0 \sigma_3}{u} + \frac{(\psi_1 + \psi_0 \mu_M h_3)\sigma_3}{u^2} + \frac{(\psi_2 + 2\psi_1 \mu_M h_3 - \frac{\mu_M^2 \lambda_1 \lambda_2}{\lambda_3})\sigma_3}{u^3} + \dots$$
(6.1)

Combining it with (4.29), we see that the U(1) charge j' and the conformal dimension h are modified as follows:

$$j' \to j' + \psi_0 \mu_M h_3,$$

$$h \to h + j' \mu_M h_3 - \frac{\mu_M^2 \lambda_1 \lambda_2}{2\lambda_3}.$$
(6.2)

Then the formula (4.57) for negative asymptotic Young diagrams is given as follows:

$$j' = j'(M_{\tilde{\mu}}^{1}) + j'(M_{\tilde{\nu}}^{2}) + \psi_{0}\mu_{M}h_{3}$$

$$= j'(M_{\mu}^{1}) + j'(M_{\nu}^{2}),$$

$$h = h(M_{\tilde{\mu}}^{1}) + h(M_{\tilde{\nu}}^{2}) + (j'(M_{\tilde{\mu}}^{1}) + j'(M_{\tilde{\nu}}^{2}))\mu_{M}h_{3} - \frac{\mu_{M}^{2}\lambda_{1}\lambda_{2}}{2\lambda_{3}} - \#(\tilde{\mu} \cap \tilde{\nu})$$

$$= h(M_{\mu}^{1}) + h(M_{\nu}^{2}) - \#(\tilde{\mu} \cap \tilde{\nu}) - LM\mu_{M}.$$
(6.3)

One can see that the formula for h becomes a bit complicated.

6.2 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra from plane partitions

Let us interpret the Hilbert space of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra in terms of plane partitions. We note that a similar discussion was made in [27], but we need to rewrite all of the results in terms of the affine Yangian for later analysis. Especially, we need to deal with the negative weight carefully, based on the prescription discussed in the previous section.

As we have seen in Section 3.2, there are two Y-algebras, $Y_{0,1,2}[\Psi]$ and $Y_{0,0,1}[1-\frac{1}{\Psi}]$, in Figure 21. By using (4.61), we can identify them with the affine Yangians, whose parameters are given as follows;

$$\lambda_1^{(1)} = -\frac{n}{n+2}, \quad \lambda_2^{(1)} = \frac{n}{n+1}, \quad \lambda_3^{(1)} = n, \tag{6.4}$$

$$\lambda_1^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{n+2}, \quad \lambda_2^{(2)} = \frac{1}{n+1}, \quad \lambda_3^{(2)} = 1,$$
(6.5)

where $n = \Psi - 2$. Here, we put the subscripts (1) and (2) to distinguish two affine Yangians. In the following, we use a similar notation. We note that we have changed $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3$ to $\lambda_3, \lambda_1, \lambda_2$ in (6.4) just because that is convenient to draw figures. We can read off the central charge c from (4.33) as

$$c = c_{\rm sVir} + 1, \quad c_{\rm sVir} = \frac{3n}{n+2},$$
 (6.6)

where the second term in c comes from an extra U(1) boson.

The line operators connecting the two corners are labeled by the U(1) weight $\mu \in \mathbb{Z}$. In terms of the plane partitions, we can interpret them as the asymptotic Young diagrams inserted in the second axis. For the negative weight $\mu < 0$, we use the prescription discussed in the previous section. Then we can describe the total Hilbert space as follows:



Figure 23: This figure shows the $\mu > 0$ sector where the asymptotic Young diagram is simply given by (μ) .



Figure 24: This figure shows the $\mu < 0$ sector. We shift the origin according to the prescription which we discussed in Section 6.1. The dashed axis means the axis before the shift. In the left plane partition, the Young diagram $(|\mu|, |\mu|)$ is inserted in the first axis instead of the second axis. In the right plane partition, we do not insert an asymptotic Young diagram. Actually, the asymptotic Young diagram in $Y_{0,0,1}$ can be always interpreted as the shift of the origin.

We can compute the conformal dimension h of these asymptotic Young diagrams by

using (4.56). For $\mu > 0$, we have

$$h = \left(-\frac{\lambda_2^{(1)}}{2\lambda_3^{(1)}}\mu^2 - \frac{\lambda_2^{(1)}}{2\lambda_1^{(1)}}\mu + \frac{\lambda_2^{(1)}}{2}\mu\right) + \left(-\frac{\lambda_2^{(2)}}{2\lambda_3^{(2)}}\mu - \frac{\lambda_2^{(2)}}{2\lambda_1^{(2)}}\mu^2 + \frac{\lambda_2^{(2)}}{2}\mu\right)$$

$$= \frac{\mu(\mu+2)}{2}$$
(6.7)

For $\mu < 0$, we need to use (6.3) and we have

$$h = \frac{\mu(\mu+2)}{2} - 2\mu = \frac{\mu(\mu-2)}{2} \tag{6.8}$$

We can summarize these results as

$$h = \frac{|\mu|(|\mu|+2)}{2}.$$
(6.9)

For the U(1) charge, we need to note that there are two U(1) currents. One of their linear combinations should correspond to the decoupled U(1) factor while the other one corresponds to the U(1) current in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra. We denote by j(z) (resp. J(z)) the former (resp. latter) current. We also set their zero modes to j and J, respectively. Because j(z) should give no charge to the asymptotic Young diagram μ , its zero mode jcan be determined as

$$j = \psi_1^{(1)} h_2^{(1)} - \psi_1^{(2)} h_2^{(2)}.$$
(6.10)

We can determine the other zero mode J from the requirement that J(z) commutes with j(z). We fix the normalization so that the charge of the asymptotic Young diagram μ will become μ . Then we have

$$J = -\frac{c_{\rm sVir}}{3} \left(\frac{\psi_1^{(1)}}{\psi_0^{(1)} h_2^{(1)}} + \frac{\psi_1^{(2)}}{\psi_0^{(2)} h_2^{(2)}} \right)$$

= $\frac{n}{n+2} \left(\psi_1^{(1)} h_2^{(1)} \cdot \frac{\lambda_2^{(1)}}{\lambda_1^{(1)} \lambda_3^{(1)}} + \psi_1^{(2)} h_2^{(2)} \cdot \frac{\lambda_2^{(2)}}{\lambda_1^{(2)} \lambda_3^{(2)}} \right)$
= $-\frac{\psi_1^{(1)} h_2^{(1)} + n\psi_1^{(2)} h_2^{(2)}}{n+1},$ (6.11)

where we use (4.21), (6.4) and (6.5). One can check that this normalization agrees with the standard normalization of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra in (2.66). Namely, it is compatible with both of the following two relations:

$$[J_l, J_m] = \frac{c_{\text{sVir}}}{3} l \delta_{l+m,0}, \qquad [J_m, G_r^{\pm}] = \pm G_{m+r}^{\pm}.$$
(6.12)

Finally, we note that the state with the conformal dimension (6.9) and the U(1) charge μ is uniquely determined to be

$$\begin{cases} \prod_{i=1}^{\mu} G_{-i-1/2}^{+} |0\rangle & (\text{for } \mu > 0) \\ \prod_{i=1}^{-\mu} G_{-i-1/2}^{-} |0\rangle & (\text{for } \mu < 0), \end{cases}$$
(6.13)

where $|0\rangle$ denotes the vacuum state.

6.3 Spectral flow of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra

It is known that $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra has an automorphism called spectral flow. It is given as follows [64]:

$$L_n \to L_n - \eta J_n + \frac{c_{\rm sVir}}{6} \eta^2 \delta_{n,0},$$

$$J_n \to J_n - \frac{c_{\rm sVir}}{3} \eta \delta_{n,0},$$

$$G_r^{\pm} \to G_{r\mp\eta}^{\pm},$$
(6.14)

where η is an arbitrary parameter. One can see that the mode of the supercurrents changes under the automorphism. In particular, the integer mode and half-integer mode are exchanged if we set $\eta = \frac{1}{2}$. The former one is known as the NS-sector while the latter one is known as the R-sector. Because of this correspondence, it is enough to consider the NSsector as we have done. In this section, we check that we can reproduce the spectral flow of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra from the automorphism (4.24) of the affine Yangian.

Because we have two affine Yangians, we have two parameters α , β for the automorphisms as follows:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}\psi_{2}^{(1)} \to \frac{1}{2}\psi_{2}^{(1)} + \alpha\psi_{1}^{(1)} + \alpha^{2}\psi_{0}^{(1)} \\ \psi_{1}^{(1)} \to \psi_{1}^{(1)} + \alpha\psi_{0}^{(1)} \end{cases} \qquad \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}\psi_{2}^{(2)} \to \frac{1}{2}\psi_{2}^{(2)} + \beta\psi_{1}^{(2)} + \beta^{2}\psi_{0}^{(2)} \\ \psi_{1}^{(2)} \to \psi_{1}^{(2)} + \beta\psi_{0}^{(2)}. \end{cases}$$
(6.15)

By requiring the invariance of the decoupled U(1) boson (6.10), we have

$$\alpha \psi_0^{(1)} h_2^{(1)} = \beta \psi_0^{(2)} h_2^{(2)}. \tag{6.16}$$

The other U(1) current (6.11) changes as follows:

$$J \to J - \frac{c_{\rm sVir}}{3} \left(\frac{\alpha}{h_2^{(1)}} + \frac{\beta}{h_2^{(2)}} \right)$$

= $J - \frac{c_{\rm sVir}}{3} \left(\frac{\alpha \psi_0^{(1)} h_2^{(1)}}{\psi_0^{(1)} (h_2^{(1)})^2} + \frac{\beta \psi_0^{(2)} h_2^{(2)}}{\psi_0^{(2)} (h_2^{(2)})^2} \right)$
= $J - \alpha \psi_0^{(1)} h_2^{(1)},$ (6.17)

where we use

$$\psi_0^{(i)}(h_2^{(i)})^2 = -\frac{\lambda_1^{(i)}\lambda_3^{(i)}}{\lambda_2^{(i)}} = \begin{cases} \frac{n(n+1)}{n+2} & (i=1)\\ \frac{n+1}{n+2} & (i=2). \end{cases}$$
(6.18)

Comparing it with (6.14), we see that we should set

$$\alpha \psi_0^{(1)} h_2^{(1)} = \frac{c_{\rm sVir}}{3} \eta. \tag{6.19}$$

The element $h = \frac{1}{2}(\psi_2^{(1)} + \psi_2^{(2)})$ which corresponds to L_0 transforms as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} h \to h + (\alpha \psi_1^{(1)} + \beta \psi_1^{(2)}) + (\frac{\alpha^2}{2} \psi_0^{(1)} + \frac{\beta^2}{2} \psi_0^{(2)}) \\ &= h + \frac{c_{\rm sVir}}{3} \eta \left(\frac{\psi_1^{(1)}}{\psi_0^{(1)} h_2^{(1)}} + \frac{\psi_1^{(2)}}{\psi_0^{(2)} h_2^{(2)}} \right) + \frac{c_{\rm sVir}^2}{9} \eta^2 \left(\frac{1}{2\psi_0^{(1)} (h_2^{(1)})^2} + \frac{1}{2\psi_0^{(2)} (h_2^{(2)})^2} \right) \end{aligned}$$
(6.20)
$$&= h - \eta J + \frac{c_{\rm sVir}}{6} \eta^2, \end{aligned}$$

which is consistent with (6.14). In a similar way, one can easily check that the transformation of the other modes is also consistent with (6.14).

6.4 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal models

In this section, we study the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal models. As can be seen from (2.112) and (6.6), they are realized when we set the parameter n to a positive integer. As we explained in (2.114), there are primary fields with the following conformal dimension and U(1) charge:

$$h_{l,m} = \frac{l(l+2) - m^2}{4(n+2)}, \quad J_{l,m} = \frac{m}{n+2},$$
(6.21)

where the integers l, m are in the range of

$$0 \le l \le n, \quad -l \le m \le l, \quad l-m \equiv 0 \pmod{2}. \tag{6.22}$$

For convenience, we write down the character (2.115) again:

$$\chi_{l,m}(\tau,z) = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}_{2n}} c_{l,m+2r}^{(n)}(\tau) \Theta_{2m+2r(n+2),2n(n+2)}(\tau,\frac{z}{n+2}).$$
(6.23)

We also note $c_{l,m}^{(1)}(\tau) = \frac{1}{\eta(\tau)}$.

The aim of this section is to reproduce these results by using plane partitions. We have already studied the Hilbert space for generic parameters in the previous sections. We have seen that it consists of two plane partitions, one of which has a pit at (2,3,1) while the other has a pit at (1,1,2). In the following, we refer to them as the first plane partition and the second plane partition, respectively. We also use terminologies such as the first affine Yangian and the second affine Yangian. In the case of $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$, the first affine Yangian satisfies an additional truncation condition,

$$\frac{0}{\lambda_1} + \frac{0}{\lambda_2} + \frac{n}{\lambda_3} = 1, \tag{6.24}$$

which is clear from (6.4). Then the further constraint is imposed on the first plane partition. Concretely, it must satisfy the identification rule which we discussed in section 5.1. For the second plane partition, there is no additional condition as we mentioned in the last part of Section 5.1.

In the following, we study the Hilbert space in detail. We first discuss the case of n = 1, and then move to the case for the other n.

6.4.1 n = 1 case

Let us start from the simplest case n = 1, which corresponds to c = 1. In this case, there are three states as follows:

1. l = m = 0 (h = J = 0)

2.
$$l = m = 1$$
 $(h = \frac{1}{6}, J = \frac{1}{3})$

3. l = -m = 1 $(h = \frac{1}{6}, J = -\frac{1}{3}).$

The first state corresponds to the vacuum state. The other two states correspond to degenerate primary fields. In terms of plane partitions, they should be realized from the asymptotic Young diagrams. For the first plane partition, we can insert them only in the first axis. We note that we cannot insert them in the other two axes due to the pits. For the second plane partition, we do not need to consider asymptotic Young diagrams because we are not interested in $\hat{U}(1)$ modules. In the following, we consider the three cases one by one.

l = m = 0 This case corresponds to the vacuum state, which should be realized when we insert no asymptotic Young diagram. Because there are pits both at (2, 3, 1) and at (1, 1, 2), we have two descriptions for the first plane partition. We note that this is precisely the situation we considered in Figure 17. Because any Young diagrams satisfy the identification rule, it is better to see the Hilbert space in terms of the plane partition with a pit at (1, 1, 2).

When the intermediate Young diagram μ is positive, the first plane partition is identified with the Young diagram as follows:



Figure 25: According to the identification rule, we can switch the two perspectives by translating boxes in the direction of (1, 2, -1). It is obvious that the right figure does not make sense as a Young diagram. That means it is a null state.

This figure shows that the state is null because we cannot see the right figure as a Young diagram. That leads to the claim that the states (6.13) are null for $\mu > 1$ because the intermediate Young diagrams correspond to the primary states given in (6.13). One can check that this statement is indeed true by using the defining relation of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra. For the detail of the calculation, see Appendix C.

To obtain the non-null states, we have to add at least $2 + 4 + \cdots + 2(\mu - 1)$ boxes as follows:



Figure 26: To obtain the non-null states, we need to fill in the red region with boxes. The left figure shows the corresponding configuration in terms of the first plane partition.

In a similar way, we have the following identification for the $\mu < 0$ sector:



Figure 27: As in the case of $\mu > 0$, the right figure does not make sense as a Young diagram. To obtain non-null states, we need to add boxes.

We can obtain non-null states after we add $2 + 4 + \cdots + 2(|\mu| - 1)$ boxes as follows:



Figure 28: We need to fill the red region with boxes. The left figure shows the corresponding configuration in terms of the first plane partition.

Due to the above process, the conformal dimension increases by the number of the added boxes. After we add the boxes, the conformal dimension of the state changes from (6.9) to

$$h = \frac{|\mu|(|\mu|+2)}{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{|\mu|-1} 2i = \frac{3\mu^2}{2}.$$
 (6.25)

Once we add the boxes, the Hilbert space is described by the tensor product of the two Young diagrams. Thus, we have the character as follows:

$$\chi(\tau, z) = \frac{\sum_{\mu=-\infty}^{\infty} q^{\frac{3\mu^2}{2}} y^{\mu}}{\eta(\tau)} \cdot \frac{1}{\eta(\tau)} = \frac{(\Theta_{0,6}(\tau, \frac{z}{3}) + \Theta_{6,6}(\tau, \frac{z}{3}))}{\eta(\tau)} \cdot \frac{1}{\eta(\tau)}.$$
(6.26)

Up to the factor $\frac{1}{\eta(\tau)}$ coming from the extra U(1) factor, it is exactly the vacuum character of c = 1 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal models [35].

l = 1, m = -1 Next, let us consider the primary field for l = 1, m = -1. To realize a non-vacuum state, we need to introduce an asymptotic Young diagram in the first axis of the first plane partition. Because of the pits, the possible shape is limited to \Box or \Box . Here, we consider the first one. Because of the asymptotic Young diagram, the configuration changes as follows:



Figure 29: The asymptotic Young diagram is inserted in the first axis.

As in the case of the vacuum state, we have to add boxes. The number of the necessary boxes is

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\mu-1} (2i-1) = (\mu-1)^2 \tag{6.27}$$

for $\mu > 0$ and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{|\mu|-1} 2i + |\mu| = \mu^2 \tag{6.28}$$

for $\mu < 0$.

Let us compute the U(1) charge and the conformal dimension. We can compute the U(1) charge (6.11) from (4.56), (4.57). For the asymptotic Young diagram in the first axis, its contribution is evaluated as

$$\frac{h_2^{(1)}}{2h_1^{(1)}} = \frac{\lambda_1^{(1)}}{2\lambda_2^{(1)}} = -\frac{1}{3},$$
(6.29)

where we use (6.4). Combining it with the contribution from the intermediate Young diagram μ , we have

$$J = \mu - \frac{1}{3}.$$
 (6.30)

For the conformal dimension h, the computation is a bit more complicated. We first discuss the case of $\mu > 0$. There are three factors contributing to the conformal dimension: the intermediate Young diagram, the asymptotic Young diagram and the added boxes. The first one gives (6.7). The second one can be evaluated from (4.56) and (6.4) as

$$h(M_{\square}^{1}) = -\frac{\lambda_{1}^{(1)}}{2\lambda_{3}^{(1)}} - \frac{\lambda_{1}^{(1)}}{2\lambda_{2}^{(1)}} + \frac{\lambda_{1}^{(1)}}{2} = \frac{1}{3}.$$
(6.31)

The third one gives (6.27). Because we count the box at the origin twice, we need to subtract 1 from the sum of these contributions. Then we have

$$h = \frac{\mu(\mu+2)}{2} + \frac{1}{3} + (\mu-1)^2 - 1$$

= $\frac{3}{2}(\mu - \frac{1}{3})^2 + \frac{1}{6}.$ (6.32)

For the $\mu < 0$ case, there is no overlapping box and we just have to sum up the three factors. By using (6.8), (6.31) and (6.28), one can immediately check that the expression (6.32) is also true for $\mu < 0$.

We note that this is the conformal dimension for the total Virasoro algebra. Namely, it contains not only $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra but also an extra U(1) current j(z). We have to remove the latter contribution. The energy-momentum tensor is given by the Sugawara construction and its zero-mode $L_0^{U(1)}$ is determined from (6.10) as

$$L_0^{U(1)} = \frac{\left(\psi_1^{(1)}h_2^{(1)} - \psi_1^{(2)}h_2^{(2)}\right)^2}{2\left(\psi_0^{(1)}(h_2^{(1)})^2 + \psi_0^{(2)}(h_2^{(2)})^2\right)} + \cdots$$
(6.33)

We note that the denominator is not standard due to the normalization of U(1) current (4.30). We also note that we can ignore the terms other than the first term because they vanish when they act on the highest weight state. In order to compare (6.32) with the known result (6.21), we have to eliminate the contribution from (6.33). Because the intermediate Young diagram has no charge for j, we only have to consider the contribution from the asymptotic Young diagram in the first axis, which is evaluated as

$$\frac{\left(\psi_1^{(1)}h_2^{(1)} - \psi_1^{(2)}h_2^{(2)}\right)^2}{2\left(\psi_0^{(1)}(h_2^{(1)})^2 + \psi_0^{(2)}(h_2^{(2)})^2\right)} = \frac{(h_2^{(1)}/h_1^{(1)})^2}{-2\left(\frac{\lambda_1^{(1)}\lambda_3^{(1)}}{\lambda_2^{(1)}} + \frac{\lambda_1^{(2)}\lambda_3^{(2)}}{\lambda_2^{(2)}}\right)} = \frac{1}{6}.$$
(6.34)

Let us redefine h as the conformal dimension after subtracting this factor. Then we have

$$h = \frac{3}{2} \left(\mu - \frac{1}{3}\right)^2. \tag{6.35}$$

From this, we see that the highest weight state (= the state with the smallest conformal dimension) exists in the $\mu = 0$ sector. The conformal dimension and the U(1) charge is

$$h = \frac{1}{6}, \quad J = -\frac{1}{3}, \tag{6.36}$$

which agrees with the literature.

We can compute the character in the same way as the vacuum case as follows:

$$\chi(\tau, z) = \frac{\sum_{\mu=-\infty}^{\infty} q^{\frac{3}{2}(\mu-\frac{1}{3})^2} y^{\mu-\frac{1}{3}}}{\eta(\tau)} \cdot \frac{q^{\frac{1}{6}}}{\eta(\tau)}$$

$$= \frac{(\Theta_{-2,6}(\tau, \frac{z}{3}) + \Theta_{4,6}(\tau, \frac{z}{3}))}{\eta(\tau)} \cdot \frac{q^{\frac{1}{6}}}{\eta(\tau)}.$$
(6.37)
Again, it agrees with the literature [35].

l = m = 1 Finally, we consider the case with the asymptotic Young diagram \Box .



(i) $\mu > 0$ (ii) $\mu < 0$

By a similar calculation as in the previous case, we have

$$J = \mu - \frac{2}{3}, \qquad h = \frac{3}{2} \left(\mu - \frac{2}{3}\right)^2 + \frac{2}{3}.$$
 (6.38)

The contribution from $L_0^{U(1)}$ is evaluated as $\frac{2}{3}$. We see that the highest weight state exists in the $\mu = 1$ sector. Its conformal dimension and the U(1) charge is

$$h = \frac{1}{6}, \quad J = \frac{1}{3}, \tag{6.39}$$

which agrees with the literature. The character is

$$\chi(\tau, z) = \frac{\sum_{\mu=-\infty}^{\infty} q^{\frac{3}{2}(\mu-\frac{2}{3})^2} y^{\mu-\frac{2}{3}}}{\eta(\tau)} \cdot \frac{q^{\frac{2}{3}}}{\eta(\tau)}$$

$$= \frac{(\Theta_{2,6}(\tau, \frac{z}{3}) + \Theta_{-4,6}(\tau, \frac{z}{3}))}{\eta(\tau)} \cdot \frac{q^{\frac{2}{3}}}{\eta(\tau)},$$
(6.40)

which agrees with the literature [35].

6.4.2 General n

We have seen that we can reproduce the c = 1 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal model from plane partitions. In this section, we discuss the case for the other integer n. In this case, the first plane partition has a pit at (1, 1, n + 1) as well as at (2, 3, 1). The asymptotic Young diagram $\nu = (\nu_1, \nu_2)$ in the first axis is constrained as $0 \leq \nu_2 \leq \nu_1 \leq n$. Let us first compute the conformal dimension and the U(1) charge. When the intermediate Young diagram is empty, we can immediately obtain them from (4.56) as

$$h = \frac{-2\nu_1\nu_2 + \nu_1 + (2n+3)\nu_2}{2(n+2)}, \quad J = -\frac{\nu_1 + \nu_2}{n+2}.$$
 (6.41)

We note that we have already removed the contribution from the U(1) factor (6.33). In the following, we ignore the U(1) factor.

The highest weight state exists in the $\mu = 1$ sector if $\nu_2 \ge 1$ and in the $\mu = 0$ sector if $\nu_2 = 0$. This is because the intermediate Young diagram not only increases the conformal dimension by (6.9) but also decreases it by the number of the overlapping boxes. Then the conformal dimension and the U(1) charge for the highest weight state are summarized as follows:

$$\begin{cases} h = \frac{-2\nu_1\nu_2 + \nu_1 + (2n+3)\nu_2}{2(n+2)} - \frac{1}{2}, \quad J = 1 - \frac{\nu_1 + \nu_2}{n+2} \qquad (\nu_2 \ge 1), \\ h = \frac{\nu_1}{2(n+2)}, \qquad J = -\frac{\nu_1}{n+2} \qquad (\nu_2 = 0). \end{cases}$$
(6.42)

It should match with (6.21). Indeed, there is a one-to-one correspondence between (6.21) and (6.42) as follows:

$$\begin{cases} \nu_1 = n + 1 - \frac{l+m}{2}, \quad \nu_2 = \frac{l-m}{2} + 1 \qquad (\nu_2 \ge 1), \\ \nu_1 = l = -m \qquad (\nu_2 = 0). \end{cases}$$
(6.43)

Thus, the asymptotic Young diagrams correctly provide all the primary fields in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal model.

In the remaining part, we check that we can reproduce the correct character from plane partitions. As in the case of n = 1, we study the Hilbert space in terms of the plane partition with a pit at (1, 1, n + 1). When the intermediate Young diagram is given by $\mu = kn + r$ $(k \in \mathbb{Z}, 0 \le r < n)$, the configuration is identified as follows:



Figure 30: This is the figure for the case of $k \ge 0$. It is viewed from the top. The numbers written in the rectangles denote the heights to the direction of the third axis.



Figure 31: For the case of k < 0, the configuration changes depending on the value of r.

As in the case of n = 1, we have to add boxes to obtain non-null states. Let us first consider the case of $k \ge 1$. In Figure 30, the number of the boxes we have to add to *i*-th row is as follows:

$$\begin{cases} 2n(i-1) - (\nu_1 + \nu_2) & (2 \le i \le k) \\ (2k-2)r + \theta & (i = k+1), \end{cases}$$
(6.44)

where we set

$$\theta = \begin{cases} 0 & (r \le \nu_2) \\ r - \nu_2 & (\nu_2 < r \le \nu_1) \\ (r - \nu_1) + (r - \nu_2) & (r > \nu_1). \end{cases}$$
(6.45)

We also need to remove the overlapping boxes at $x_1 = 1, x_2 = 1, 2$ so that we will not count them twice. For convenience, we subtract the number of these boxes from (6.44) in advance. Then we can evaluate their contribution to the conformal dimension as

(the number of the added boxes) – (the number of overlapping boxes)
=
$$(k-1)kn - k(\nu_1 + \nu_2) + (2k-2)r + \theta.$$
 (6.46)

We note that this expression is also true for k = 0; we do not need to add boxes and the number of the overlapping boxes is indeed given by $2r - \theta$. After adding the boxes, the conformal dimension becomes the sum of (6.7), (6.41) and (6.46). Then the conformal dimension and the U(1) charge are given as

$$h = \frac{-2\nu_1\nu_2 + \nu_1 + (2n+3)\nu_2}{2(n+2)} + \frac{n(n+2)}{2}k^2 + \left((n+2)r - (\nu_1 + \nu_2)\right)k + \frac{r^2}{2} - r + \theta, \quad (6.47)$$

$$J = kn + r - \frac{\nu_1 + \nu_2}{n+2} \tag{6.48}$$

for $k \ge 0$. Actually, this expression is also true for k < 0. Let us check it in the case of $r < \nu_2$ (the third case in Figure 31). The number of the boxes we have to add is

 $k(k+1)n - k(\nu_1 + \nu_2 - 2r)$ and there are no overlapping boxes. Combining it with (6.8) and (6.41), we have (6.47). One can check the other two cases in a similar way. For the comparison with the literature, it is convenient to rewrite (6.47) and (6.48) in terms of the parameters l, m. From (6.43), we have

$$\begin{cases} h = \frac{n(n+2)}{2} \left(k + \frac{m+(r-1)(n+2)}{n(n+2)} \right)^2 + h_{l,m+2(r-1)}^{\text{PF}} + \theta \\ J = \frac{m}{n+2} + kn + r - 1 \\ h = \frac{n(n+2)}{2} \left(k + \frac{m+r(n+2)}{n(n+2)} \right)^2 + h_{l,m+2r}^{\text{PF}} + \theta \\ J = \frac{m}{n+2} + kn + r \end{cases}$$
(6.49)
$$(l \neq -m), \qquad (6.49)$$

where $h_{l,m}^{\text{PF}}$ is the conformal dimension of the SU(2) parafermion given in (2.76).

Once we have filled the blank with boxes, the shape of the plane partition makes sense and the corresponding state becomes non-null. We can obtain the descendant states by adding boxes to this plane partition so that the identification rule will be satisfied. We have already studied this Hilbert space in terms of $Y_{0,0,n} = W_n \times \hat{U}(1)$ in Section 5. On the other hand, we can also see it as the Hilbert space of $Y_{1,2,0}$, namely the SU(2) parafermion (and an extra U(1) boson). Both descriptions are equivalent³³, but the latter one is more convenient for the comparison with (6.23) because the character of the parafermion can be expressed by the string function.

The remaining thing we have to do is to clarify the correspondence between the asymptotic Young diagram and the primary field for the parafermion system. Let us consider the $k \ge 0$ case. In this case, the asymptotic Young diagram in the first (resp. second) axis is (ν_1, ν_2) (resp. (r)). As we discussed in Section 6.1, one can shift ν_1, ν_2, r by the same value. That can also be seen from the cyclic symmetry of N-tuple Young diagrams in Figure 20. Namely, we can change their order cyclicly because of the identification rule. By using this property, we can set r = 0. The asymptotic Young diagram (ν_1, ν_2) changes into $(\nu_1 - r, \nu_2 - r)$ if $r < \nu_2$, $(n + \nu_2 - r, \nu_1 - r)$ if $\nu_2 \le r \le \nu_1$ or $(n + \nu_1 - r, n + \nu_2 - r)$ if $r \ge \nu_1$. This is exactly the same as k < 0 case, as we can see from Figure 31.

We can compute the conformal dimension from (4.56) and we have

$$h = \begin{cases} h_{l,m+2(r-1)}^{\rm PF} & (r \le \nu_2) \\ h_{n-l,m+2(r-1)-n}^{\rm PF} & (\nu_2 < r \le \nu_1) \\ h_{l,m+2(r-1)-2n}^{\rm PF} & (r > \nu_1) \end{cases}$$
(6.51)

³³This equivalence has been known for a long time (for example, [65]) and was recently proved in [66].

for $l \neq -m$ and

$$h = \begin{cases} h_{l,m+2r}^{\rm PF} & (r=0) \\ h_{n-l,m+2r-n}^{\rm PF} & (0 < r \le \nu_1) \\ h_{l,m+2r-2n}^{\rm PF} & (r > \nu_1) \end{cases}$$
(6.52)

for l = -m. One can rewrite this into a simpler form:

$$h = \begin{cases} h_{l,m+2(r-1)}^{\rm PF} + \theta & (l \neq -m) \\ h_{l,m+2r}^{\rm PF} + \theta & (l = -m), \end{cases}$$
(6.53)

which coincides with the factor in (6.49) and (6.50). Actually, these modules are the same because of the identification (2.72) and (2.74). Therefore, we can express the generating function of the plane partition by the string function $c_{l,m+2(r-1)}(\tau)$ for $l \neq -m$ and $c_{l,m+2r}(\tau)$ for l = -m.

From the above, we can compute the character as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \chi(\tau,z) \\ &= \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}_n} c_{l,m+2r}^{(n)}(\tau) \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} q^{\frac{n(n+2)}{2} \left(k + \frac{m+r(n+2)}{n(n+2)}\right)^2} y^{kn+r+\frac{m}{n+2}} \\ &= \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}_n} c_{l,m+2r}^{(n)}(\tau) \left(\Theta_{2m+2r(n+2),2n(n+2)}(\tau,\frac{z}{n+2}) + \Theta_{2m+2(r+n)(n+2),2n(n+2)}(\tau,\frac{z}{n+2})\right)^{(6.54)} \\ &= \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}_{2n}} c_{l,m+2r}^{(n)}(\tau) \Theta_{2m+2r(n+2),2n(n+2)}(\tau,\frac{z}{n+2}), \end{aligned}$$

which agrees with the known result (6.23).

7 Bershadsky-Polyakov algebra

As we discussed in Section 2.2.2, the W-algebra obtained from Drinfeld-Sokolov reduction varies depending on SU(2) embedding. The best understood W-algebras are those associated with principal embedding. Both algebras we studied in the previous sections correspond to such cases. On the other hand, not much is known for non-principal W-algebras. The simplest non-principal W-algebra is $DS_2[\widehat{SU}(3)_k]$, which is known as Bershadsky-Polyakov (BP) algebra [67, 68]. Because SU(3) is decomposed as $\underline{8} = \underline{1} + \underline{2} + \underline{2} + \underline{3}$, it is expected that BP algebra is generated by the currents with conformal dimension $1, \frac{3}{2}, \frac{3}{2}, 2$. That is indeed true. Unlike the other W-algebras, one can write down the OPE relation explicitly as follows:

$$J(z)J(w) \sim \frac{2k+3}{3(z-w)^2}, \qquad G^{\pm}(z)G^{\pm}(w) \sim 0, \qquad J(z)G^{\pm}(w) \sim \pm \frac{1}{z-w}G^{\pm}(w),$$

$$T(z)T(w) \sim -\frac{(2k+3)(3k+1)}{2(k+3)(z-w)^4} + \frac{2}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial T(w)}{z-w},$$

$$T(z)G^{\pm}(w) \sim \frac{3}{2(z-w)^2}G^{\pm}(w) + \frac{\partial G^{\pm}(w)}{z-w}, \qquad T(z)J(w) \sim \frac{J(w)}{(z-w)^2} + \frac{\partial J(w)}{z-w},$$

$$G^{+}(z)G^{-}(w) \sim \frac{(k+1)(2k+3)}{(z-w)^3} + \frac{3(k+1)}{(z-w)^2}J(w)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{z-w} \left(3:J(w)^2: + \frac{3(k+1)}{2}\partial J(w) - (k+3)T(w)\right),$$

$$G^{\pm}(z)G^{\pm}(w) \sim 0.$$

(7.1)

Here, $J(z), G^{\pm}(z), T(z)$ are the currents with conformal dimension $1, \frac{3}{2}, \frac{3}{2}, 2$, respectively. It may look similar to $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra, but $G^{\pm}(z)$ are bosonic. For later convenience, we redefine the energy-momentum tensor as

$$\tilde{T}(z) = T(z) + \frac{1}{2}\partial J(z), \qquad (7.2)$$

which changes the conformal dimension of $G^+(z)$ and $G^-(z)$ to 1 and 2, respectively. We denote the mode expansion as follows:

$$\tilde{T}(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} L_n z^{-n-2}, \qquad J(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} J_n z^{-n-1}, G^+(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} G_n^+ z^{-n-1}, \qquad G^-(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} G_n^- z^{-n-2}.$$
(7.3)

For later use, we rewrite the OPE relation between $G^+(z)$ and $G^-(w)$ into the commutator as

$$[G_m^+, G_n^-] = 3\sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}} : J_l J_{m+n-l} : + (3(k+1)m - (2k+3)(m+n+1)) J_{m+n} - (k+3)L_{m+n} + \frac{(k+1)(2k+3)m(m+1)}{2} \delta_{m+n,0}.$$
(7.4)

In this section, we study the rationality of BP algebra discussed in [69]. Here, a Walgebra is called rational when it has a finite number of irreducible representations and the other properties such as modularity are satisfied. The typical example is a minimal model³⁴. In the following, we check that we can reproduce the correct modules by plane partitions. We first summarize the result of [69] in Section 7.1. In Section 7.2, we discuss it in terms of plane partitions. The analysis is almost the same as that in Section 6.

7.1 Modules

The highest weight representation of BP algebra is defined as follows:

$$L_{0} |h, J\rangle = h |h, J\rangle, \quad J_{0} |h, J\rangle = J |h, J\rangle,$$

$$L_{n} |h, J\rangle = 0, \quad J_{n} |h, J\rangle = 0, \quad G_{n}^{+} |h, J\rangle = 0 \quad (n > 0),$$

$$G_{n}^{-} |h, J\rangle = 0 \quad (n \ge 0).$$
(7.5)

Because the action of G_0^+ does not change the conformal dimension, the highest weight state is degenerate. It may look similar to Ramond sector of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra, but there is a significant difference. Because $G^+(z)$ is bosonic, the multiplicity of the highest weight state can be more than 2. In the following, we focus on the modules such that the multiplicity is finite. We denote by $i \in \mathbb{N}$ the multiplicity, namely

$$(G_0^+)^{i-1} |h, J\rangle = 0. (7.6)$$

BP algebra has an automorphism similar to the spectral flow of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra. The elements transform as follows:

$$J_n \to J_n - \frac{2k+3}{3}\delta_{n,0}, \quad L_n \to L_n - J_n + \frac{2k+3}{3}\delta_{n,0}, \quad G_n^+ \to G_{n-1}^+, \quad G_n^- \to G_{n+1}^-.$$
(7.7)

The conformal dimension and U(1) charge (h, J) for the highest weight state transform as

$$(h, J) \to (h', J') \equiv (h - (J - i + 1) + \frac{2k + 3}{3}, J + i - 1 - \frac{2k + 3}{3}).$$
 (7.8)

We set the multiplicity of this state to $j \in \mathbb{N}$, namely

$$(G_0^+)^{j-1} |h', J'\rangle = 0. (7.9)$$

We note that the multiplicity is not finite in general, so the module satisfying (7.9) corresponds to the degenerate module. One may also think of it as an analogue of the integrable representation of affine Kac-Moody algebras. The condition (7.6) requires the norm to vanish as

$$\langle h, J | (G_0^-)^{i-1} (G_0^+)^{i-1} | h, J \rangle = 0.$$
 (7.10)

³⁴One may not need to distinguish rational CFTs and minimal models in this thesis.

The same is true for (7.9). Using (7.4), we have

$$J = J_{i,j} \equiv \frac{1}{3}(-2i - j + 2k + 6),$$

$$h = h_{i,j} \equiv \frac{i^2 + ji - ki - 3i + j^2 - 6j - 2jk + 3k + 6}{3(k+3)}.$$
(7.11)

It was shown in [69] that one can construct the rational CFT when

$$k+3 = \frac{p}{2}$$
 $(p=3,5,7,9,\cdots).$ (7.12)

In this case, we can see

$$(G_{-1}^+)^{p-2} |0\rangle = 0 \tag{7.13}$$

by computing the norm. Here, we denote by $|0\rangle$ the vacuum state. This condition implies : $G^+(z)^{p-2} := 0$ by state-operator correspondence. Therefore, we have $1 \leq i, j \leq p-2$. Furthermore, the conformal dimension and U(1) charge should be in the form of (7.11) after the transformation (7.8). That requires $J_{i,j} + i - 1 - \frac{2k+3}{3} \leq \frac{1}{3}(-2j - 1 + 2k + 6)$, which leads to $j \leq p - i - 1$. Thus, the parameters i, j lie in the range

$$1 \le i \le p - 2, \quad 1 \le j \le p - i - 1.$$
 (7.14)

Summarizing, there are degenerate modules labeled by (7.14) and their conformal dimension and U(1) charge are given by (7.11).

7.2 Realization by plane partitions

Bershadsky-Polyakov algebra and an extra U(1) boson are realized by the following diagram:



Figure 32: This diagram realizes $DS_2[\widehat{U}(3)_{\Psi}]$, which is the product of Bershadsky-Polyakov algebra and U(1) boson.

We have $Y_{0,1,3}[\Psi]$ at the upper corner and $Y_{0,0,1}[\Psi-1]$ at the lower corner. We can interpret them in terms of the affine Yangians with the following parameters [27]:

$$\lambda_{1}^{(1)} = 3\Psi^{-1} - 2, \quad \lambda_{2}^{(1)} = \frac{2\Psi - 3}{\Psi - 1}, \quad \lambda_{3}^{(1)} = 2\Psi - 3,$$

$$\lambda_{1}^{(2)} = 1, \quad \lambda_{2}^{(2)} = -\frac{\Psi - 2}{\Psi - 1}, \quad \lambda_{3}^{(2)} = \Psi - 2.$$
(7.15)

The central charge is given by

$$c = -\frac{(2\Psi - 3)(3\Psi - 8)}{\Psi} + 1, \tag{7.16}$$

where the second term comes from the decoupled U(1) boson. The relation between Ψ and k is given by

$$\Psi = k + 3. \tag{7.17}$$

For ease of understanding, we give a figure for the $\mu > 0$ sector:



Figure 33: This figure shows the $\mu > 0$ sector. We omit the $\mu < 0$ case.

One can check that the conformal dimension of the intermediate Young diagram is $\frac{3}{2}|\mu|$. In terms of the modified energy-momentum tensor in (7.2), the conformal dimension is given by μ for $\mu > 0$ and $2|\mu|$ for $\mu < 0$. The configuration is identified with the state $(G_{-1}^+)^{\mu}|0\rangle$ for $\mu > 0$ and $(G_{-2}^-)^{|\mu|}|0\rangle$ for $\mu < 0$.

As in the case of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra, we denote by j the zero mode of the decoupled U(1) current. We also set $J = J_0$. Then we have

$$j = \psi_1^{(1)} h_2^{(1)} - \psi_1^{(2)} h_2^{(2)}, \tag{7.18}$$

$$J = -\frac{2\Psi - 3}{3} \left(\frac{\psi_1^{(1)}}{\psi_0^{(1)} h_2^{(1)}} + \frac{\psi_1^{(2)}}{\psi_0^{(2)} h_2^{(2)}} \right).$$
(7.19)

Now we are ready to check whether we can reproduce the modules (7.11) from the affine Yangian. The condition (7.12) means $2\Psi = p$ $(p = 3, 5, 7, \cdots)$. In this case, the additional pit appears at (1, 1, p - 2). This is exactly the situation we discussed in Section 5.1. We note that the condition (5.2) is satisfied: (p - 3) + 1 and (p - 3) + 3 are coprime because pis an odd number. Then we can do the calculation in a similar way as in the case of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra. We can insert the asymptotic Young diagram $\nu = (\nu_1, \nu_2, \nu_3)$ in the first axis of the first plane partition³⁵. Due to the pit at (1, 1, p - 2), the height of the Young diagram is at most p-3, namely $0 \le \nu_3 \le \nu_2 \le \nu_1 \le p-3$. Let us consider which configuration corresponds to the highest weight state. It is clear that the intermediate Young diagram $\mu < 0$ increases the conformal dimension. Let us focus on $\mu > 0$ sector. If we change μ to $\mu + 1$, the conformal dimension seems to increase by 1, but we need to take into account that we have to subtract the number of the overlapping boxes. As a result, the conformal dimension decreases when $\mu < \nu_2$, does not change when $\nu_2 \le \mu < \nu_1$ and increases when $\mu \ge \nu_1$. Therefore, the highest weight state exists in the sector of $\mu = \nu_2$. Because the conformal dimension takes the same value in the region $\nu_2 \le \mu \le \nu_1$, the multiplicity of the highest weight state is $\nu_1 - \nu_2 + 1$. We will see soon that it is consistent with (7.6).

We can compute the conformal dimension h and the U(1) charge J by using (4.56). For the U(1) charge, we immediately have

$$J = -\frac{\nu_1 + \nu_2 + \nu_3}{3} + \nu_2$$

= $\frac{(\nu_2 - \nu_1) + (\nu_2 - \nu_3)}{3}$, (7.20)

where the first term in the first line comes from the asymptotic Young diagram ν while the second one comes from the intermediate Young diagram. For the conformal dimension, we have

$$h = \frac{(\nu_1 - \nu_2)^2 + (\nu_2 - \nu_3)^2 + (\nu_3 - \nu_1)^2 + 6(1 - \Psi)(\nu_1 - \nu_3) + 2\Psi((\nu_1 - \nu_2) + (\nu_1 - \nu_3))}{6\Psi}.$$
(7.21)

See Appendix D for the detail of the computation. One can see that both (7.20) and (7.21) are invariant under the shift $(\nu_1, \nu_2, \nu_3) \rightarrow (\nu_1 + n, \nu_2 + n, \nu_3 + n)$. Comparing them with (7.11), we find the following one-to-one correspondence:

$$\nu_1 - \nu_2 = i - 1, \quad \nu_2 - \nu_3 = p - i - j - 1.$$
 (7.22)

One can see that the condition $0 \le \nu_3 \le \nu_2 \le \nu_1 \le p - 3$ leads to (7.14). We note that the multiplicity of the highest weight state is also compatible with (7.6).

 $^{^{35}}$ As mentioned earlier, we do not need to consider the second plane partition because there is an extra U(1) boson.

8 Conclusion

In this thesis, we studied the minimal models' representation theory by using plane partitions. We have first seen that the doubly constrained plane partition provides the correct Hilbert space of the W_N minimal model. By combining this result with Gaiotto-Rapcak's and Prochazka-Rapcak's construction, we proposed the prescription to describe the Hilbert space of the generalized Y-algebra. We mainly considered $\mathcal{N} = 2$ unitary minimal model and demonstrated that we can reproduce all the ingredients in the minimal models by plane partitions. More concretely, we saw that we can reproduce all the primary fields from the asymptotic Young diagrams and the character from the box-counting. We also showed that our construction reproduces the rational CFT for Bershadsky-Polyakov algebra.

The main advantage of using plane partitions is that we can compute the character for various W-algebras simply by counting the number of boxes. There are several applications of this technique to particle physics. First, it helps us understand higher spin theories on AdS₃ through the study of the 2d CFTs living at the boundary. In Ads_3/CFT_2 , it is important to confirm that the partition function of the bulk theory matches that of the boundary theory. In particular, when the boundary is given by a torus, the partition function of the boundary 2d CFT must be expressed as the modular invariant combination of the bulk theory. For example, the authors of [70] discussed the pure gravity in detail by using Virasoro minimal models. The similar analysis should be possible for higher spin theories as was studied for simple cases in [70]. The boundary theory of the higher spin theory is considered to be the minimal model for W-algebra, and our technique can be used to determine its partition function.

Another application is related to 4d superconformal field theories (SCFTs). According to the duality between 4d SCFT and 2d CFT [23], the character is mapped to the index in the 4d side, which counts the number of the particles keeping a part of the superconformal symmetry. This correspondence provides us a useful tool to understand the spectrum of 4d SCFTs. In particular, it enables us to study the strongly coupled SCFTs such as Argyres-Douglas theories. The counterparts of these theories are described by minimal models, and we expect that our technique helps calculate their characters.

Finally, we discuss several directions for the future work.

1. In Section 5, we considered the case that two truncation conditions are satisfied at the same time. To focus on the minimal model, we also imposed the condition (5.2). If it is not satisfied, there are more than two pits and the Hilbert space is expected to become more complicated. It may be interesting to explore its representation theory. One of the examples for such cases is $\hat{U}(2)$ with a particular fractional level. These modules are called admissible and possess a good modular property. It is known that they appear in the logarithmic conformal field theory [71]. They also play an important role in the context of 4d/2d duality [23]. We hope that we can classify the representation theory of the (generalized) Y-algebra from the affine Yangian.

- 2. In this thesis, we considered the W-algebras associated with Lie algebra of type A. It is natural to consider the generalization to B, C, D-type. In Gaiotto-Rapcak's construction, one can do that by introducing an orientifold [24]. The corresponding W-algebra is referred to as ortho-symplectic Y -algebras. If we can interpret them in terms of the affine Yangian, it may be possible to describe the Hilbert space explicitly using plane partitions. The related work has recently appeared [72]. By introducing a comodule algebra into the quantum toroidal algebra of \mathfrak{gl}_1 , the authors of [72] reproduced the q-deformed W-algebras of type B, C, D [73] and obtained their supersymmetric generalization. In this construction, the connection to W-algebras can be seen through the screening charges. Meanwhile, the plane partition representation has not been understood. If we achieve that, we can do the same analysis as we have done in this thesis. It is interesting to explore whether we can reproduce the correct Hilbert space of the minimal models for the W-algebras of type $B, C, D, \mathcal{N} = 1$ super Virasoro algebra and so on.
- 3. $W_{1+\infty}$ appears also in the context of AdS_3/CFT_2 as the underlying symmetry [5]. The generalization to supersymmetric cases were also discussed. In particular, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric generalization of $W_{1+\infty}$ was proposed in [13] and its realization by supersymmetric affine Yangian has been recently discussed in [74, 75]. We expect the relation to our results.
- 4. The affine Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1 originally attracted the attention of physicists and mathematicians in the context of AGT correspondence. In terms of 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric gauge theories, the Young diagram basis describes the fixed points of the instanton moduli space under the torus action. Gaiotto-Rapcak's construction is expected to provide a more general framework of AGT. For example, it was shown in [76] that the Y-algebra is the underlying symmetry of spiked instantons [77, 78, 79]. Interestingly, closely related works have recently appeared [80, 81]. In these papers, the authors proposed new affine Yangians associated with counting of Bogomol'nyi-Prasad-Sommerfield (BPS) states in type IIA string theory compactified on a toric Calabi-Yau threefold. It was discussed that the BPS spectrum can be identified with the configuration of plane partitions and the affine Yangian serves as the underlying symmetry. It is interesting to explore the relation to our work. In particular, it is interesting to study the meaning of a doubly constrained plane partition we discussed in this thesis in the context of string theory or gauge theory.

We hope that these problems will be solved in the future.

Acknowledgement

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor Professor Yutaka Matsuo for his guidance, discussions and collaborations for five years. Without his guidance, I could not accomplish my research. I would also like to thank Hidetoshi Awata, Masayuki Fukuda, Hiroaki Kanno, Akimi Watanabe and Rui-Dong Zhu for discussions, collaborations and many beneficial comments.

A Plane partition representation from the quantum toroidal algebra³⁶

In this section, we briefly discuss the plane partition representation of the quantum toroidal algebra of \mathfrak{gl}_1 (also called Ding-Iohara-Miki algebra [82, 83]), which is the q-deformation of the affine Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1 . It has two properties the affine Yangian does not have. First, we can construct the plane partition representation systematically. Second, it has free field representation, which makes the relation to W-algebra clear. In the following, we give a sketch for these points.

The quantum toroidal algebra $\mathcal{E}_1(q_1, q_2, q_3)$ of \mathfrak{gl}_1 is generated by the currents E(z), F(z), $K^{\pm}(z)$ and the centers C, C^{\perp} . It has three parameters q_1, q_2, q_3 with the constraint $q_1q_2q_3 =$ 1. As we will see later, it degenerates to the affine Yangian in the limit of $q_1, q_2, q_3 \rightarrow 1$. As opposed to the affine Yangian, the currents have both positive modes and negative modes as follows:

$$E(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} E_n z^{-n}, \quad F(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} F_n z^{-n}, \quad K^{\pm}(z) = (C^{\perp})^{\mp 1} \exp\left(\sum_{r>0} \mp \frac{\kappa_r}{r} H_{\pm r} z^{\mp r}\right), (A.1)$$

where

$$\kappa_r = \prod_{i=1}^3 (q_i^{r/2} - q_i^{-r/2}). \tag{A.2}$$

The defining relations are given as follows:

$$\begin{split} g(z,w)E(z)E(w) + g(w,z)E(w)E(z) &= 0, \qquad g(w,z)F(z)F(w) + g(z,w)F(w)F(z) = 0, \\ K^{\pm}(z)K^{\pm}(w) &= K^{\pm}(w)K^{\pm}(z), \qquad \frac{g(Cz,w)}{g(z,Cw)}K^{+}(z)K^{-}(w), = \frac{g(w,Cz)}{g(Cw,z)}K^{-}(w)K^{+}(z) \\ g(z,w)K^{\pm}(C^{(-1\mp 1)/2}z)E(w) + g(w,z)E(w)K^{\pm}(C^{(-1\mp 1)/2}z) &= 0, \\ g(w,z)K^{\pm}(C^{(-1\pm 1)/2}z)F(w) + g(z,w)F(w)K^{\pm}(C^{(-1\pm 1)/2}z) &= 0, \\ [E(z),F(w)] &= \frac{-1}{\kappa_1} \left(\delta(\frac{Cw}{z})K^{+}(w) - \delta(\frac{Cz}{w})K^{-}(z) \right), \end{split}$$
(A.3)

where

$$g(z,w) = \prod_{i=1}^{3} (z - q_i w), \quad \delta(z) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} z^m.$$
 (A.4)

The algebra \mathcal{E}_1 is equipped with the coproduct

$$\Delta(E(z)) = E(z) \otimes 1 + K^{-}(z) \otimes E(z), \quad \Delta(F(z)) = F(z) \otimes K^{+}(z) + 1 \otimes F(z),$$

$$\Delta(K^{+}(z)) = K^{+}(z) \otimes K^{+}(C_{1}z), \quad \Delta(K^{-}(z)) = K^{-}(C_{2}z) \otimes K^{-}(z), \quad (A.5)$$

$$\Delta(X) = X \otimes X \quad \text{for } X = C, C^{\perp},$$

³⁶This section is a supplement for Section 4 and the reader can skip it.

where $C_1 = C \otimes 1$, $C_2 = 1 \otimes C$. One can rewrite some of the above relations in terms of H_r $(r \in \mathbb{Z})$ as follows:

$$[H_r, H_s] = \delta_{r+s,0} \frac{C^r - C^{-r}}{\kappa_r},$$

$$[H_r, E(z)] = -C^{(-r-|r|)/2} E(z) z^r, \quad [H_r, F(z)] = C^{(-r+|r|)/2} F(z) z^r,$$

$$\Delta(H_r) = H_r \otimes C^{(-r+|r|)/2} + C^{(-r-|r|)/2} \otimes H_r.$$
(A.6)

When the centers act as $C = l_1^{1/2}$ and $C^{\perp} = l_2^{1/2}$, it is said that the representation has a level (l_1, l_2) . When $l_1 = 1$, three types of the representations are known, which are called vector representation , Young diagram representation and plane partition representation [84, 85], respectively. The representation space can be graphically shown as follows:



Figure 34: Left: vector representation. Middle: Young diagram representation. Right: plane partition representation.

As expected from this figure, we can construct the Young diagram representation from the tensor product of the vector representation and the plane partition representation from the Young diagram representation.

A.1 Construction of the plane partition representation

The bases of the vector representation are labelled by an integer $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and the action of the currents are given as follows:

$$(1 - q_2)E(z)[u]_i = \delta(q_2^i u/z)[u]_{i+1}, \tag{A.7}$$

$$-(1 - q_2^{-1})F(z)[u]_i = \delta(q_2^{i-1}u/z)[u]_{i-1},$$
(A.8)

$$K^{+}(z)[u]_{i} = \frac{(1 - q_{2}^{i}q_{1}u/z)(1 - q_{2}^{i}q_{3}u/z)}{(1 - q_{2}^{i}u/z)(1 - q_{2}^{i-1}u/z)}[u]_{i},$$
(A.9)

$$K^{-}(z)[u]_{i} = \frac{(1 - q_{2}^{-i}q_{1}^{-1}z/u)(1 - q_{2}^{-i}q_{3}^{-1}z/u)}{(1 - q_{2}^{-i}z/u)(1 - q_{2}^{-i+1}z/u)}[u]_{i}.$$
 (A.10)

Here, the parameter u is originated from the rescaling symmetry $z \to uz$. We denote by V(u) the representation space. The eigenvalues of $K^{\pm}(z)$ are the same as rational functions.

For convenience, we set

$$K_i^V(u/z) = K^V(q_2^i u/z), \qquad K^V(z) = \frac{(1 - q_1 u/z)(1 - q_3 u/z)}{(1 - u/z)(1 - q_2^{-1} u/z)}.$$
 (A.11)

We note that the vector representation is not a highest (or lowest) weight representation.

One can consider the tensor product of the vector representations. Let us consider $V(u) \otimes V(uq_3^{-1}) \otimes V(uq_3^{-2}) \otimes \cdots V(uq_3^{1-N})$. We set

$$|\lambda\rangle = [u]_{\lambda_1} \otimes [uq_3^{-1}]_{\lambda_2 - 1} \otimes \dots \otimes [uq_3^{1 - N}]_{\lambda_N + 1 - N}.$$
 (A.12)

The action of the currents are determined from the coproduct (A.5). For example,

$$\Delta^{(N-1)}(E(z)) = E(z) \otimes 1 \otimes \cdots \otimes 1 + K^{-}(z) \otimes E(z) \otimes 1 \otimes \cdots \otimes 1 + \cdots + K^{-}(z) \otimes \cdots \otimes K^{-}(z) \otimes E(z),$$
(A.13)

where we set $\Delta^{(i)} = (\underbrace{\Delta \otimes 1 \otimes \cdots \otimes 1}_{i}) \cdot \Delta^{(i-1)}, \ \Delta^{(1)} = \Delta$. From this, one can see that the state $|\lambda_1, \cdots, \lambda_{i-1}, \lambda_i + 1, \cdots, \lambda_N\rangle$ is not generated if $\lambda_{i-1} = \lambda_i$ because

$$K_{\lambda_{i-1}+2-i}(q_3^{2-i}u/z)\delta(q_2^{\lambda_i+1-i}q_3^{1-i}u/z) = 0.$$
(A.14)

In a similar way, we see that the state $|\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_{i-1} - 1, \lambda_i, \dots, \lambda_N\rangle$ is not generated by the action of F(z) if $\lambda_i = \lambda_{i+1}$. Therefore, the subspace spanned by $\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge \dots \ge \lambda_N$ is irreducible.

The above representation is not a highest (or lowest) weight representation for finite N, which does not match with the representation theory of W-algebras. We can resolve this by considering the semi-infinite tensor product as follows:

$$\mathcal{F}(u) = V(u) \otimes V(uq_3^{-1}) \otimes V(uq_3^{-2}) \otimes V(uq_3^{-3}) \otimes \cdots$$
 (A.15)

In this case, we can bound the representation space from below. To see that, let us consider the state $|\emptyset\rangle \equiv |0, 0, \dots\rangle$. Then we have

$$F(z) \left| \emptyset \right\rangle = 0 \tag{A.16}$$

because we have $\lambda_i = \lambda_{i+1}$ for all $i \geq 1$. We note that this annihilation condition is satisfied thanks to the combination $\cdots \otimes F(z) \otimes K^-(z) \otimes \cdots$: for finite N, the last term in $\Delta^{(N-1)}(F(z))$ breaks this condition. As a result, the representation space consists of the states labelled by a set of integers $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3, \cdots)$ with $\lambda_1 \geq \lambda_2 \geq \lambda_3 \geq \cdots \geq 0$ and $\lambda_N = 0$ for a large N. This representation is the Young diagram representation.

In order to justify the infinite product, we need some regularization. The eigenvalues of $K^{\pm}(z)$ are given by the infinite product,

$$K^{\pm}(z) \left| \lambda \right\rangle = K^{Y}_{\lambda}(u/z) \left| \lambda \right\rangle, \quad K^{Y}_{\lambda}(u/z) = \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} K^{V}_{\lambda_{i}-i+1}(uq_{3}^{1-i}/z).$$
(A.17)

Because of the relation

$$K_{\lambda}^{V}(u/z) = \tilde{K}(u/z)\tilde{K}(q_{1}u/z)^{-1}, \qquad \tilde{K}(u/z) = \frac{1 - q_{3}u/z}{1 - u/z},$$
 (A.18)

it is natural to regularize the eigenvalue for the empty Young diagram as follows:

$$K_{\emptyset}^{Y}(u/z) = \prod_{i=0}^{\infty} \tilde{K}(q_{3}^{i}u/z)\tilde{K}(q_{3}^{i+1}u/z)^{-1} \sim \tilde{K}(u/z).$$
(A.19)

For general Young diagrams, we can determine the eigenvalues recursively as

$$K_{\lambda}^{Y}(u/z) = K_{\emptyset}^{Y}(u/z) \prod_{(i,j) \in \lambda} G(q_{1}^{i-1}q_{2}^{j-1}u/z),$$
(A.20)

where we set

$$G(q_1^{i-1}q_2^{j-1}u/z) = K_{\lambda+1_i}^Y(u/z)/K_{\lambda}^Y(u/z), \quad G(w/z) = \prod_{i=1}^3 \frac{1 - q_i^{-1}w/z}{1 - q_iw/z}$$
(A.21)

and $\lambda + 1_i = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_{i-1}, \lambda_i + 1, \lambda_{i+1}, \dots)$. The same infinite product also appears in the action of F(z) and we can apply the same regularization to F(z). We note that the level of the representation has changed to $(1, q_3)$.

We can construct the plane partition representation from the semi-infinite product of the Young diagram representation in the same way as the above. We set

$$\mathcal{M}(u,K) = \mathcal{F}(u) \otimes \mathcal{F}(uq_3) \otimes \mathcal{F}(uq_3^2) \otimes \mathcal{F}(uq_3^3) \otimes \cdots$$
 (A.22)

The parameter K is related to the regularization as we will explain later. The subspace spanned by $|\Lambda\rangle = |\Lambda^{(1)}\rangle \otimes |\Lambda^{(2)}\rangle \otimes |\Lambda^{(3)}\rangle \otimes \cdots$ with $\Lambda^{(1)} \supseteq \Lambda^{(2)} \supseteq \Lambda^{(3)} \supseteq \cdots$ is irreducible. We note that Λ corresponds to a configuration of a plane partition. As in the previous case, the eigenvalue of $K^{\pm}(z)$ is given as the infinite product

$$K^{\pm}(z) |\Lambda\rangle = K^{P}_{\Lambda}(u/z) |\Lambda\rangle, \quad K^{P}_{\Lambda}(u/z) = \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} K^{Y}_{\Lambda^{(i)}}(u/z).$$
(A.23)

Let us first consider the vacuum state, namely, $\Lambda = \vec{\emptyset} \equiv (\emptyset, \emptyset, \emptyset, \cdots)$. As opposed to the previous case, the infinite product does not converge:

$$K^{P}_{\vec{\emptyset}}(u/z) = \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{1 - q_{3}^{i} u/z}{1 - q_{3}^{i-1} u/z} = \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1 - q_{3}^{N} u/z}{1 - u/z}.$$
 (A.24)

To regularize it, we formally replace q_3^N with an arbitrary parameter K:

$$K^{P}_{\vec{\emptyset}}(u/z) = \frac{1 - Ku/z}{1 - u/z}.$$
(A.25)

The eigenvalue for generic plane partitions is given by

$$K^{P}_{\Lambda}(u/z) = K^{P}_{\vec{\emptyset}}(u/z) \prod_{(i,j,k)\in\Lambda} G(q_{1}^{i-1}q_{2}^{j-1}q_{3}^{k-1}).$$
(A.26)

The action of E(z), F(z) can be determined by the coproduct. For F(z), we need to apply the same regularization. One can express the action of E(z), F(z) into a simpler form by changing the normalization of the state $|\Lambda\rangle$ as follows:

$$\begin{split} |\Lambda\rangle \to c_{\Lambda} |\Lambda\rangle, \\ c_{\Lambda} &= \prod_{(i,j,k)\in\Lambda} \left(-q_2 \sqrt{\frac{(1-q_1)(1-q_3)}{(1-q_2)(1-u/z)}} K^P_{\vec{\emptyset}}(u/z) \frac{1-u/z}{1-q_3^k u/z} K^Y_{\vec{\emptyset}}(q_1^i q_3^{k-1} u/z) \right) |_{z/u \to q_1^{i-1} q_2^{j-1} q_3^{k-1}} \\ &\times \sqrt{\prod_{\substack{(i_1,j_1,k_1),(i_2,j_2,k_2)\in\Lambda\\(i_1,j_1,k_1)<(i_2,j_2,k_2)}} G(q_1^{i_2-1} q_2^{j_2-1} q_3^{k_2-1} u/z) |_{z/u \to q_1^{i_1-1} q_2^{j_1-1} q_3^{k-1}}, \end{split}$$
(A.27)

where we define $(i_1, j_1, k_1) < (i_2, j_2, k_2)$ as $\begin{cases} k_1 < k_2 \\ k_1 = k_2, i_1 < i_2 \\ k_1 = k_2, i_1 = i_2, j_1 < j_2 \end{cases}$. Then we have

$$E(z) |\Lambda\rangle = \sum_{\square \in \Lambda^+} \delta(q_\square u/z) \sqrt{\frac{(1 - q_\square u/z) K_\Lambda^P(u/z)}{(1 - q_1)(1 - q_2)(1 - q_3)}} |\Lambda + \square\rangle, \qquad (A.28)$$

$$F(z) |\Lambda\rangle = \sum_{\square \in \Lambda^{-}} \delta(q_{\square} u/z) \sqrt{\frac{(1 - q_{\square} u/z) K_{\Lambda - \square}^{P}(u/z)}{(1 - q_{1})(1 - q_{2})(1 - q_{3})}} |\Lambda - \square\rangle, \qquad (A.29)$$

where we assign the value $q_{\Box} = q_1^i q_2^j q_3^k$ to each box at (x, y, z) = (i, j, k).

A.2 Free field realization and Miki-automorphism

The algebra \mathcal{E}_1 has three types of free field realizations. The levels of these representations are $(q_i, 1)$ (i = 1, 2, 3), respectively. For each *i*, we introduce the Heisenberg algebra a_r $(r \in \mathbb{Z})$ and *Q* with the commutation relations

$$[a_r, a_s] = r \frac{(q_i^{r/2} - q_i^{-r/2})^3}{-\kappa_r} \delta_{r+s,0} \quad r, s \neq 0, \qquad [a_0, a_r] = 0, \quad [a_n, Q] = \frac{\epsilon_i^3}{\epsilon_1 \epsilon_2 \epsilon_3} \delta_{n,0}.$$
(A.30)

Then we have the following representations:

$$\rho_u^{(i)}(E(z)) = \frac{u(1-q_i)}{\kappa_1} \exp\left(\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{q_i^{-r/2} \kappa_r}{r(q_i^{r/2} - q_i^{-r/2})^2} a_{-r} z^r\right) \exp\left(\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{\kappa_r}{r(q_i^{r/2} - q_i^{-r/2})^2} a_r z^{-r}\right), \quad (A.31)$$

$$\rho_{u}^{(i)}(F(z)) = \frac{u^{-1}(1-q_{i}^{-1})}{\kappa_{1}} \exp\left(\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{-\kappa_{r}}{r(q_{i}^{r/2}-q_{i}^{-r/2})^{2}} a_{-r} z^{r}\right) \exp\left(\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{-q_{i}^{r/2} \kappa_{r}}{r(q_{i}^{r/2}-q_{i}^{-r/2})^{2}} a_{r} z^{-r}\right) (A.32)$$

$$\rho_{u}^{(i)}(H_{r}) = \frac{a_{r}}{q_{i}^{r/2}-q_{i}^{-r/2}}.$$
(A.33)

Here, $u \equiv \exp\left(-\frac{\epsilon_1 \epsilon_2 \epsilon_3}{\epsilon_i^2} a_0\right)$ is the parameter associated with the weight parameter. The representation space is the Fock module $\mathcal{F}_u^{(i)}$, which is spanned by the vectors $a_{-n_1} a_{-n_2} \cdots a_{-n_N} |u\rangle$ $(n_1 \ge n_2 \ge \cdots n_N \ge 0, \ N \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0})$ where $|u\rangle$ is the the highest weight vector satisfying

$$a_n |u\rangle = 0, \ n > 0, \qquad u |u\rangle = u |u\rangle.$$
 (A.34)

One can consider the tensor product of the Fock modules. In general, we can consider

$$\mathcal{F}_{u_1}^{(i_1)} \otimes \mathcal{F}_{u_2}^{(i_2)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{F}_{u_N}^{(i_N)}, \tag{A.35}$$

where $i_1, i_2, \dots, i_N \in \{1, 2, 3\}$. The action of the generators is determined by the coproduct structure. One can see that the level of this representation is $(\prod_{j=1}^N q_{i_j}, 1)$. The simplest case is the tensor product of two Fock spaces of the same type. Let us consider $\mathcal{F}_{u_1}^{(3)} \otimes \mathcal{F}_{u_2}^{(3)}$. From (A.5), one can see that the current E(z) acts on the representation space as the sum of two vertex operators:

$$E(z) \to \frac{u_1(1-q_3)}{\kappa_1} \Lambda_1(z) + \frac{u_2(1-q_3)}{\kappa_1} \Lambda_2(z),$$
 (A.36)

$$\Lambda_{1}(z) = \exp\left(\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{q_{3}^{-r} \kappa_{r}}{r(q_{3}^{r/2} - q_{3}^{-r/2})^{2}} a_{-r}^{(1)} z^{r}\right) \exp\left(\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{q_{3}^{r/2} \kappa_{r}}{r(q_{3}^{r/2} - q_{3}^{-r/2})} \left(\frac{a_{r}^{(1)}}{q_{3}^{r} - q_{3}^{-r}} - a_{r}^{(2)}\right) z^{-r}\right) (A.37)$$

$$\Lambda_{2}(z) = \exp\left(\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{q_{3}^{-r/2} \kappa_{r}}{r(q_{3}^{r/2} - q_{3}^{-r/2})^{2}} a_{-r}^{(2)} z^{r}\right) \exp\left(\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{\kappa_{r}}{r(q_{3}^{r/2} - q_{3}^{-r/2})^{2}} a_{r}^{(2)} z^{-r}\right).$$
(A.38)

Here, we set $a_n^{(1)} = a_n \otimes 1$ and $a_n^{(2)} = 1 \otimes a_n$. The current F(z) is written in a similar form. For H_n , it acts as

$$H_r \to \frac{1}{q_3^{r/2} - q_3^{-r/2}} (a_r^{(1)} + q_3^{-r/2} a_r^{(2)}), \quad H_{-r} \to \frac{-1}{q_3^{r/2} - q_3^{-r/2}} (q_3^{r/2} a_{-r}^{(1)} + a_{-r}^{(2)}) \qquad r > 0,$$
(A.39)

which corresponds to the extra U(1) factor of $W_{1+\infty}$. The current E(z), F(z) are exactly the current of q-Virasoro algebra [86] up to U(1) factor. Next, we consider the tensor product of N Fock modules of the same type, for example, $\mathcal{F}_{u_1}^{(3)} \otimes \mathcal{F}_{u_2}^{(3)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{F}_{u_N}^{(3)}$. The level of the representation is $(q_3^N, 1)$. From the coproduct structure, we see that the current E(z), F(z) are written by the sum of N vertex operators. As pointed out in [87], they are exactly the current of q- W_N algebra [88]. Thus, the algebra \mathcal{E}_1 realizes the product of the quantum W_N algebra and U(1) boson in the representation space $\mathcal{F}_{u_1}^{(3)} \otimes \mathcal{F}_{u_2}^{(3)} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{F}_{u_N}^{(3)}$. One can also consider the tensor product of the Fock modules of different types. See [25] for the detail.

The free boson representation and the Young diagram representation are related by Mikiautomorphism [83], under which the generators transform as follows:

$$E_0 \to H_1, \quad H_1 \to F_0, \quad F_0 \to H_{-1}, \quad H_{-1} \to E_0, \quad C \to C^{\perp}, \quad C^{\perp} \to C^{-1}.$$
 (A.40)

One can see that this transformation indeed preserves the following relation:

$$[E_0, F_0] = \frac{1}{\kappa_1} ((C^{\perp})^{-1} - C^{\perp}), \qquad [H_1, H_{-1}] = \frac{1}{\kappa_1} (C - C^{-1})$$
(A.41)

Because the elements $E_0, F_0, H_{\pm 1}$ and the centers generate all of the elements in \mathcal{E}_1 , the transformation rule (A.40) can be extended to the whole elements. Because the automorphism changes the centers, we find that the free boson representation with level $(q_i, 1)$ and the Young diagram representation with level $(1, q_i)$ are equivalent. By applying the same discussion to the tensor products, we find that the product of q- W_N algebra and U(1) boson is realized on the plane partition representation with $K = q_i^N$, which is given by the plane partition with a pit at (1, 1, N + 1).

A.3 Degenerate limit of the quantum toroidal algebra

Let us go back to the affine Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1 . The quantum toroidal algebra $\mathcal{E}_1(q_1, q_2, q_3)$ of \mathfrak{gl}_1 degenerates to the affine Yangian $Y_1(h_1, h_2, h_3)$ of \mathfrak{gl}_1 in the limit of $q_1, q_2, q_3 \to 1$. The explicit relation between $\mathcal{E}_1(q_1, q_2, q_3)$ and $Y_1(h_1, h_2, h_3)$ was discussed in [10], where the algebra homomorphism Υ from $\mathcal{E}_1(q_1, q_2, q_3)$ to the completion of $Y_1(\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2, \epsilon_3)$ was established. As we will explain later, this homomorphism is valid only when C = 1. The correspondence between the generators of these two algebras is complicated, but it becomes simple in the degenerate limit. For convenience, let us set $q_i = e^{Rh_i}$ (i = 1, 2, 3) and take the limit of $R \to 0$. Then the algebra homomorphism under the limit is given as follows [10]:

$$\Upsilon_{R\to0}: \ \mathcal{E}_1(e^{Rh_1}, e^{Rh_2}, e^{Rh_3}) \to Y_1(Rh_1, Rh_2, Rh_3)$$

$$E_j \mapsto \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{j^n}{n!} e_n, \quad F_j \mapsto \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{j^n}{n!} f_n, \quad H_m \mapsto -\frac{1}{R^3 \sigma_3} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{m^{n-2}}{n!} k_n \quad (j \in \mathbb{Z}, \ m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\neq 0}),$$

$$C^{\perp} \mapsto e^{-R^3 \psi_0 \sigma_3}, \qquad (A.42)$$

where $k(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} k_n z^{-n-1} \equiv \log \psi(z)^{37}$. We note that the limit of $R \to 0$ does not cause substantial effects on the affine Yangian of \mathfrak{gl}_1 because it has the automorphism (4.19) which scales h_1, h_2, h_3 simultaneously. By using this automorphism, we can rewrite (A.42) as

$$\Upsilon_{R\to0}: \ \mathcal{E}_{1}(e^{Rh_{1}}, e^{Rh_{2}}, e^{Rh_{3}}) \to Y_{1}(h_{1}, h_{2}, h_{3})$$

$$E_{j} \mapsto R^{-1} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(Rj)^{n}}{n!} e_{n}, \quad F_{j} \mapsto R^{-1} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(Rj)^{n}}{n!} f_{n}, \quad H_{m} \mapsto -\frac{1}{\sigma_{3}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(Rm)^{n-2}}{n!} k_{n},$$

$$C^{\perp} \to e^{-R\psi_{0}\sigma_{3}}.$$
(A.43)

 37 For the definition of the affine Yangian, see Section 4.1.

We can further simplify it in terms of Drinfeld currents. For that, we need the following formal relation,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(Rj)^n}{n!} z^{-j} = \frac{1}{n!} (RD_w)^n \frac{1}{1-w} = \frac{1}{n!} (-\partial_u)^n \frac{1}{1-e^{-Ru}} \xrightarrow{R \to 0} \frac{1}{Ru^{n+1}}, \quad (A.44)$$

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-Rj)^n}{n!} z^j \xrightarrow{R \to 0} -\frac{1}{Ru^{n+1}}, \tag{A.45}$$

where we set $z = w^{-1} = e^{Ru}$, $D_w = w\partial_w$. Using this, we have

$$\Upsilon_{R\to0}: \ \mathcal{E}_1(e^{Rh_1}, e^{Rh_2}, e^{Rh_3}) \to Y_1(h_1, h_2, h_3) E^{\pm}(z) \mapsto \pm R^{-2}e(u), \quad F^{\pm}(z) \mapsto \pm R^{-2}f(u), \quad K^{\pm}(z) \mapsto \psi(u),$$
(A.46)

where we set $E^{\pm}(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} E_{\pm j} z^{\pm j}$, $F^{\pm}(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} F_{\pm j} z^{\pm j}$. This is the final result which describes explicitly how the toroidal algebra degenerates to the affine Yangian.

As we mentioned, the above procedure is valid when C = 1. That implies that we cannot tale the degenerate limit of the free boson representation of \mathcal{E}_1 in this way. Indeed, the right hand side in (A.43) consists of infinitely many terms, which does not make sense as long as they do not converge to finite terms on the representation space. Meanwhile, this condition is satisfied for the vector representation, Young diagram representation and plane partition representation. Thus, the plane partition representation of the affine Yangian (4.50), (4.51), (4.52) are obtained from (A.26), (A.28) and (A.29).

B The conformal dimension of the primary field in W_N minimal models from affine Yangian

In this section, we check that the asymptotic Young diagrams correspond to the primary fields with the conformal dimension (5.9) under the identification (5.8). We can implement that in the four steps as follows. First, we see from (4.56) that the asymptotic Young diagram μ has the conformal dimension

$$h_{1} = -\frac{\lambda_{1}}{2\lambda_{2}} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \mu_{i}^{2} - \frac{\lambda_{1}}{2\lambda_{3}} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} (2i-1)\mu_{i} + \frac{\lambda_{1}}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \mu_{i}$$

$$= \frac{\beta}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \mu_{i}^{2} + \frac{1-\beta}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} (2i-1-N)\mu_{i}.$$
(B.1)

In the same way, we can calculate the contribution from the asymptotic Young diagram ν as

$$h_2 = \frac{1}{2\beta} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \nu_i^2 - \frac{1-\beta}{2\beta} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} (2i-1-N)\nu_i.$$
 (B.2)

As we have seen in (4.57), we need to subtract the number of overlapping boxes

$$\#(\mu \cap \nu) = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \mu_i \nu_i.$$
 (B.3)

Finally, we have to remove the contribution from the extra U(1) boson, which is evaluated by $\frac{\psi_1^2}{2\psi_0}$. Using (4.56), we have

$$h^{U(1)} = \frac{1}{2\psi_0} \left(-\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \mu_i}{h_1} - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \nu_i}{h_2} \right)^2$$

= $\frac{\beta}{2N} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \mu_i \right)^2 + \frac{1}{2N\beta} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \nu_i \right)^2 - \frac{1}{N} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \mu_i \right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \nu_i \right).$ (B.4)

Here, we use the relations such as $\frac{1}{\psi_0 h_1^2} = \frac{h_2}{\psi_0 \sigma_3} \frac{h_3}{h_1} = -\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_2 \lambda_3}$. Combining the above, we have

$$h = h_{1} + h_{2} - \#(\mu \cap \nu) - h^{U(1)}$$

$$= \frac{N-1}{2N} \left(\beta \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \mu_{i}^{2} - 2 \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \mu_{i} \nu_{i} + \frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \nu_{i}^{2}\right) - \frac{1}{2N} \left(\beta \sum_{i \neq j} \mu_{i} \mu_{j} - 2 \sum_{i \neq j} \mu_{i} \nu_{j} + \frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{i \neq j} \nu_{i} \nu_{j}\right)$$

$$+ \frac{1-\beta}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} (2i - 1 - N)(\mu_{i} - \frac{1}{\beta} \nu_{j}) \quad (B.5)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2pq} \left(\frac{N-1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} (p\mu_i - q\nu_i)^2 - \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i \neq j} (p\mu_i - q\nu_i) (p\mu_j - q\nu_j) + (p-q) \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} (N+1-2i)(p\mu_i - q\nu_i) \right).$$

By using the vectors introduced in Section 2.3.1, we can rewrite (B.5) as

$$h = \frac{1}{2pq} \left(\left(\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} (p\mu_i - q\nu_i)\vec{\xi_i} \right)^2 + 2(p-q) \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} (p\mu_i - q\nu_i)\vec{\xi_i} \cdot \vec{\rho} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2pq} \left(\left(\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} (p\mu_i - q\nu_i)\vec{\xi_i} + (p-q)\vec{\rho} \right)^2 - (p-q)^2 \frac{N(N^2 - 1)}{12} \right)$$

$$= \frac{12(\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} (pm_i - qn_i)\vec{\omega_i})^2 - N(N^2 - 1)(p-q)^2}{24pq},$$
 (B.6)

which is consistent with (5.9). Here, we use the formula $\vec{\xi_i} \cdot \vec{\rho} = \frac{N+1}{2} - i$ and $\vec{\rho} \cdot \vec{\rho} = \frac{N(N^2-1)}{12}$.

C The norm of the primary states corresponding to the intermediate Young diagrams

In this section, we check that the state given in (6.13) becomes null when the central charge is $c = \frac{3n}{n+2}$ ($n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$). According to the discussion below Figure 25, the state should become null if $|\mu| > n$. Let us check that directly from the defining relation (2.66) of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Virasoro algebra. For the computation, we rewrite a part of it in terms of the commutator as follows:

$$[L_m, G_r^{\pm}] = (\frac{1}{2}m - r)G_{m+r}^{\pm}, \qquad [J_m, G_r^{\pm}] = \pm G_{m+r}^{\pm}, \qquad \{G_r^{\pm}, G_s^{\pm}\} = 0.$$

$$\{G_r^{+}, G_s^{-}\} = 2L_{r+s} + (r-s)J_{r+s} + \frac{c}{3}(r^2 - \frac{1}{4})\delta_{r+s,0}.$$
(C.1)

Using it, we can compute the norm of the state (6.13) as follows:

$$\langle 0 | G_{3/2}^{\mp} \cdots G_{|\mu|-1/2}^{\mp} G_{|\mu|+1/2}^{\mp} \cdot G_{-|\mu|-1/2}^{\pm} G_{-|\mu|+1/2}^{\pm} \cdots G_{-3/2}^{\pm} | 0 \rangle$$

$$= \langle 0 | G_{3/2}^{\mp} \cdots G_{|\mu|-1/2}^{\mp} \{ G_{|\mu|+1/2}^{\mp}, G_{-|\mu|-1/2}^{\pm} \} G_{-|\mu|+1/2}^{\pm} \cdots G_{-3/2}^{\pm} | 0 \rangle$$

$$= \langle 0 | G_{3/2}^{\mp} \cdots G_{|\mu|-1/2}^{\mp} \Big(2L_0 \mp 2 \Big(|\mu| + \frac{1}{2} \Big) J_0 + \frac{c}{3} \Big((|\mu| + \frac{1}{2})^2 - \frac{1}{4} \Big) \Big) G_{-|\mu|+1/2}^{\pm} \cdots G_{-3/2}^{\pm} | 0 \rangle$$

$$= \frac{|\mu|^2 + |\mu|}{3} \Big(c - \frac{3(|\mu| - 1)}{|\mu| + 1} \Big) \langle 0 | G_{3/2}^{\mp} \cdots G_{|\mu|-1/2}^{\mp} G_{-|\mu|+1/2}^{\pm} \cdots G_{-3/2}^{\pm} | 0 \rangle$$

$$= \cdots$$

$$= \prod_{i=1}^{|\mu|} \frac{i(i+1)}{3} \Big(c - \frac{3(i-1)}{i+1} \Big).$$

$$(C.2)$$

We note that the terms containing $\{G_{|\mu|+1/2}^{\mp}, G_{-i-1/2}^{\pm}\}$ $(i = 1, 2, \dots, |\mu| - 1)$ do not appear in the second line because they become zero. This result shows that the state is indeed null if $|\mu| > n$.

D The computation for (7.21)

The conformal dimension (7.21) can be obtained as follows. First, the contribution from the asymptotic Young diagram $\nu = (\nu_1, \nu_2, \nu_3)$ can be evaluated from (4.56) as

$$h_{\nu} = \frac{\nu_1^2 + \nu_2^2 + \nu_3^2}{2\Psi} + \frac{1 - \Psi^{-1}}{2}(\nu_1 + 3\nu_2 + 5\nu_3) + \frac{3\Psi^{-1} - 2}{2}(\nu_1 + \nu_2 + \nu_3).$$
(D.1)

Second, the contribution from the intermediate Young diagram $\mu = \nu_2$ is given by

$$h_{\mu} = \nu_2. \tag{D.2}$$

Third, we have to subtract the contribution from U(1) factor which is evaluated as

$$h^{U(1)} = \frac{\left(\sum_{j=1}^{3} \nu_j\right)^2}{6\Psi}.$$
 (D.3)

Finally, we have to remove the number of the overlapping boxes

$$\#(\nu \cap \mu) = 2\nu_2 + \nu_3. \tag{D.4}$$

Combining the above, the conformal dimension h can be obtained as

$$h = h_{\nu} + h_{\mu} - h^{U(1)} - \#(\nu \cap \mu), \qquad (D.5)$$

which gives (7.21).

References

- A. Belavin, A. M. Polyakov, and A. Zamolodchikov, "Infinite Conformal Symmetry in Two-Dimensional Quantum Field Theory," *Nucl. Phys. B* 241 (1984) 333–380.
- [2] A. Zamolodchikov, "Infinite Additional Symmetries in Two-Dimensional Conformal Quantum Field Theory," *Theor. Math. Phys.* 65 (1985) 1205–1213.
- [3] V. Fateev and S. L. Lukyanov, "The Models of Two-Dimensional Conformal Quantum Field Theory with Z(n) Symmetry," *Int.J.Mod.Phys.* A3 (1988) 507.
- [4] M. R. Gaberdiel and T. Hartman, "Symmetries of Holographic Minimal Models," JHEP 1105 (2011) 031, arXiv:1101.2910 [hep-th].
- [5] M. R. Gaberdiel and R. Gopakumar, "Triality in Minimal Model Holography," JHEP 1207 (2012) 127, arXiv:1205.2472 [hep-th].
- [6] L. F. Alday, D. Gaiotto, and Y. Tachikawa, "Liouville Correlation Functions from Four-dimensional Gauge Theories," *Lett. Math. Phys.* 91 (2010) 167–197, arXiv:0906.3219 [hep-th].
- [7] N. Wyllard, " A_{N-1} conformal Toda field theory correlation functions from conformal N = 2 SU(N) quiver gauge theories," JHEP **0911** (2009) 002, arXiv:0907.2189 [hep-th].
- [8] D. Maulik and A. Okounkov, "Quantum Groups and Quantum Cohomology," arXiv:1211.1287 [math.AG].
- [9] O. Schiffmann and E. Vasserot, "Cherednik algebras, W-algebras and the equivariant cohomology of the moduli space of instantons on A 2," *Publications mathématiques de l'IHÉS* 118 no. 1, (2013) 213-342, arXiv:1202.2756 [math].
- [10] A. Tsymbaliuk, "The affine Yangian of gl₁ revisited," Advances in Mathematics 304 (2017) 583-645, arXiv:1404.5240 [math.RT].
- [11] T. Procházka, "W -symmetry, topological vertex and affine Yangian," JHEP 10 (2016) 077, arXiv:1512.07178 [hep-th].
- [12] R. Stanley, Enumerative Combinatorics, Vol. 2. Cambridge, 1999.
- [13] C. Candu and M. R. Gaberdiel, "Duality in N=2 Minimal Model Holography," JHEP 02 (2013) 070, arXiv:1207.6646 [hep-th].
- [14] M. Beccaria, C. Candu, M. R. Gaberdiel, and M. Groher, "N=1 extension of minimal model holography," JHEP 07 (2013) 174, arXiv:1305.1048 [hep-th].

- [15] M. R. Gaberdiel and R. Gopakumar, "Large N=4 Holography," JHEP 09 (2013) 036, arXiv:1305.4181 [hep-th].
- [16] T. Creutzig and Y. Hikida, "Rectangular W-algebras, extended higher spin gravity and dual coset CFTs," JHEP 02 (2019) 147, arXiv:1812.07149 [hep-th].
- [17] V. Belavin and B. Feigin, "Super Liouville conformal blocks from N=2 SU(2) quiver gauge theories," JHEP 07 (2011) 079, arXiv:1105.5800 [hep-th].
- [18] T. Nishioka and Y. Tachikawa, "Central charges of para-Liouville and Toda theories from M-5-branes," *Phys. Rev.* D84 (2011) 046009, arXiv:1106.1172 [hep-th].
- [19] L. F. Alday, D. Gaiotto, S. Gukov, Y. Tachikawa, and H. Verlinde, "Loop and surface operators in N=2 gauge theory and Liouville modular geometry," *JHEP* 01 (2010) 113, arXiv:0909.0945 [hep-th].
- [20] H. Kanno and Y. Tachikawa, "Instanton counting with a surface operator and the chain-saw quiver," JHEP 06 (2011) 119, arXiv:1105.0357 [hep-th].
- [21] C. A. Keller, N. Mekareeya, J. Song, and Y. Tachikawa, "The ABCDEFG of Instantons and W-algebras," JHEP 1203 (2012) 045, arXiv:1111.5624 [hep-th].
- [22] H. Awata, B. Feigin, and J. Shiraishi, "Quantum Algebraic Approach to Refined Topological Vertex," JHEP 03 (2012) 041, arXiv:1112.6074 [hep-th].
- [23] C. Beem, M. Lemos, P. Liendo, W. Peelaers, L. Rastelli, and B. C. van Rees, "Infinite Chiral Symmetry in Four Dimensions," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 336 no. 3, (2015) 1359–1433, arXiv:1312.5344 [hep-th].
- [24] D. Gaiotto and M. Rapčák, "Vertex Algebras at the Corner," JHEP 01 (2019) 160, arXiv:1703.00982 [hep-th].
- [25] M. Bershtein, B. Feigin, and G. Merzon, "Plane partitions with a "pit": generating functions and representation theory," *Selecta Mathematica* 24 no. 1, (2018) 21–62, arXiv:1512.08779 [math].
- [26] A. Litvinov and L. Spodyneiko, "On W algebras commuting with a set of screenings," JHEP 11 (2016) 138, arXiv:1609.06271 [hep-th].
- [27] T. Procházka and M. Rapčák, "Webs of W-algebras," JHEP 11 (2018) 109, arXiv:1711.06888 [hep-th].
- [28] T. Procházka and M. Rapčák, "W -algebra modules, free fields, and Gukov-Witten defects," JHEP 05 (2019) 159, arXiv:1808.08837 [hep-th].

- [29] B. Feigin, E. Feigin, M. Jimbo, T. Miwa, and E. Mukhin, "Quantum continuous gl(∞): Tensor products of Fock modules and W_n characters," Kyoto Journal of Mathematics 51 no. 2, (2011) 365–392, arXiv:1002.3113 [math.QA].
- [30] V. Belavin, O. Foda, and R. Santachiara, "AGT, N-Burge partitions and W_N minimal models," JHEP 10 (2015) 073, arXiv:1507.03540 [hep-th].
- [31] K. B. Alkalaev and V. A. Belavin, "Conformal blocks of W_N minimal models and AGT correspondence," *JHEP* **07** (2014) 024, arXiv:1404.7094 [hep-th].
- [32] M. Fukuda, S. Nakamura, Y. Matsuo, and R.-D. Zhu, "SH^c realization of minimal model CFT: triality, poset and Burge condition," *JHEP* 11 (2015) 168, arXiv:1509.01000 [hep-th].
- [33] Y. Matsuo, "Character Formula of C < 1 Unitary Representation of N = 2Superconformal Algebra," *Prog. Theor. Phys.* **77** (1987) 793.
- [34] V. K. Dobrev, "Characters of the Unitarizable Highest Weight Modules Over the N = 2 Superconformal Algebras," *Phys. Lett.* **B186** (1987) 43.
- [35] F. Ravanini and S.-K. Yang, "Modular Invariance in N = 2 Superconformal Field Theories," *Phys. Lett.* **B195** (1987) 202–208.
- [36] K. Harada and Y. Matsuo, "Plane partition realization of (web of) W -algebra minimal models," JHEP 02 (2019) 050, arXiv:1810.08512 [hep-th].
- [37] K. Harada in preparation.
- [38] P. Bouwknegt and K. Schoutens, "W symmetry in conformal field theory," *Phys.Rept.* 223 (1993) 183-276, arXiv:hep-th/9210010 [hep-th].
- [39] E. Frenkel and D. Ben-Zvi, Vertex algebras and algebraic curves. 2004.
- [40] L. Dickey, "Lectures on Classical W-Algebras," Acta Appl. Math. 47 no. 3, (1997) 243–321.
- [41] V. Drinfeld and V. Sokolov, "Lie algebras and equations of Korteweg-de Vries type," Journal of Soviet Mathematics 30 (1985) 1975–2036.
- [42] B. Feigin and E. Frenkel, "Quantization of the Drinfeld-Sokolov reduction," Phys. Lett. B 246 (1990) 75–81.
- [43] J. de Boer and T. Tjin, "The Relation between quantum W algebras and Lie algebras," Commun. Math. Phys. 160 (1994) 317–332, arXiv:hep-th/9302006.

- [44] V. Kac, S.-s. Roan, and M. Wakimoto, "Quantum Reduction for Affine Superalgebras," Communications in Mathematical Physics 241 (2003) 307–342, arXiv:math-ph/0302015.
- [45] P. Goddard, A. Kent, and D. I. Olive, "Virasoro Algebras and Coset Space Models," *Phys. Lett. B* 152 (1985) 88–92.
- [46] V. Fateev and A. Zamolodchikov, "Parafermionic Currents in the Two-Dimensional Conformal Quantum Field Theory and Selfdual Critical Points in Z(n) Invariant Statistical Systems," Sov. Phys. JETP 62 (1985) 215–225.
- [47] D. Karabali and H. J. Schnitzer, "BRST Quantization of the Gauged WZW Action and Coset Conformal Field Theories," Nucl. Phys. B 329 (1990) 649–666.
- [48] V. Fateev and S. L. Lukyanov, "The Models of Two-Dimensional Conformal Quantum Field Theory with Z(n) Symmetry," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A3 (1988) 507.
- [49] M. Kato and S. Matsuda, "Null field construction in conformal and superconformal algebras," Adv. Studies in Pure Math. 16 (1988) 205.
- [50] P. Di Vecchia, J. Petersen, M. Yu, and H. Zheng, "Explicit Construction of Unitary Representations of the N=2 Superconformal Algebra," *Phys. Lett. B* 174 (1986) 280–284.
- [51] O. Aharony and A. Hanany, "Branes, superpotentials and superconformal fixed points," Nucl. Phys. B 504 (1997) 239-271, arXiv:hep-th/9704170.
- [52] O. Aharony, A. Hanany, and B. Kol, "Webs of (p,q) five-branes, five-dimensional field theories and grid diagrams," JHEP 01 (1998) 002, arXiv:hep-th/9710116.
- [53] A. Kapustin and E. Witten, "Electric-Magnetic Duality And The Geometric Langlands Program," Commun. Num. Theor. Phys. 1 (2007) 1–236, arXiv:hep-th/0604151.
- [54] E. Witten, "A New Look At The Path Integral Of Quantum Mechanics," arXiv:1009.6032 [hep-th].
- [55] V. Mikhaylov and E. Witten, "Branes And Supergroups," Commun. Math. Phys. 340 no. 2, (2015) 699-832, arXiv:1410.1175 [hep-th].
- [56] T. Arakawa, T. Creutzig, and A. R. Linshaw, "W-algebras as coset vertex algebras," Invent. Math. 218 (2019) 145-195, arXiv:1801.03822 [math.QA].
- [57] T. Creutzig and A. Linshaw, "Trialities of W-algebras," arXiv:2005.10234 [math.RT].

- [58] V. Kac and A. Radul, "Quasifinite highest weight modules over the Lie algebra of differential operators on the circle," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 157 (1993) 429–457, arXiv:hep-th/9308153 [hep-th].
- [59] W. Burge, "Restricted partition pairs," Journal of Combinatorial Theory, Series A 63 no. 2 (1993) 210–222.
- [60] E. Frenkel, V. Kac, and M. Wakimoto, "Characters and fusion rules for W algebras via quantized Drinfeld-Sokolov reductions," *Commun. Math. Phys.* 147 (1992) 295–328.
- [61] A. Kuniba, T. Nakanishi, and J. Suzuki, "Ferro-and antiferro-magnetizations in RSOS models," *Nuclear Physics B* 356 no. 3, (1991) 750–774.
- [62] D. Altschuler, M. Bauer, and H. Saleur, "Level rank duality in nonunitary coset theories," J. Phys. A 23 (1990) L789–L794.
- [63] B. L. Feigin and A. M. Semikhatov, " $W_n^{(2)}$ algebras," Nucl. Phys. B698 (2004) 409-449, arXiv:math/0401164 [math-qa].
- [64] W. Lerche, C. Vafa, and N. P. Warner, "Chiral Rings in N=2 Superconformal Theories," Nucl. Phys. B 324 (1989) 427–474.
- [65] F. Bais, P. Bouwknegt, M. Surridge, and K. Schoutens, "Coset Construction for Extended Virasoro Algebras," Nucl. Phys. B 304 (1988) 371–391.
- [66] T. Arakawa, C. H. Lam, and H. Yamada, "Parafermion vertex operator algebras and W-algebras," Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 371 (2019) 4277–4301, arXiv:1701.06229 [math.RT].
- [67] M. Bershadsky, "Conformal field theories via Hamiltonian reduction," Commun. Math. Phys. 139 (1991) 71–82.
- [68] A. Polyakov, "Gauge Transformations and Diffeomorphisms," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A5 (1990) 833.
- [69] T. Arakawa, "Rationality of Bershadsky-Polyakov vertex algebras," Commun. Math. Phys. 323 (2013) 627-633, arXiv:1005.0185 [math.QA].
- [70] A. Castro, M. R. Gaberdiel, T. Hartman, A. Maloney, and R. Volpato, "The Gravity Dual of the Ising Model," *Phys. Rev. D* 85 (2012) 024032, arXiv:1111.1987 [hep-th].
- [71] T. Creutzig and D. Ridout, "Logarithmic Conformal Field Theory: Beyond an Introduction," J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 4006, arXiv:1303.0847 [hep-th].

- [72] B. Feigin, M. Jimbo, E. Mukhin, and I. Vilkoviskiy, "Deformations of W algebras via quantum toroidal algebras," arXiv:2003.04234 [math.QA].
- [73] E. Frenkel and N. Reshetikhin, "Deformations of W algebras associated to simple Lie algebras," Commun. Math. Phys., 197 (1998), no. 1, 1-32 (1998),
 arXiv:q-alg/9708006 [q-alg].
- [74] M. R. Gaberdiel, W. Li, C. Peng, and H. Zhang, "The supersymmetric affine Yangian," JHEP 05 (2018) 200, arXiv:1711.07449 [hep-th].
- [75] M. R. Gaberdiel, W. Li, and C. Peng, "Twin-plane-partitions and $\mathcal{N} = 2$ affine Yangian," arXiv:1807.11304 [hep-th].
- [76] M. Rapčák, Y. Soibelman, Y. Yang, and G. Zhao, "Cohomological Hall algebras, vertex algebras and instantons," arXiv:1810.10402 [math.QA].
- [77] N. Nekrasov, "BPS/CFT correspondence: non-perturbative Dyson-Schwinger equations and qq-characters," JHEP 03 (2016) 181, arXiv:1512.05388 [hep-th].
- [78] N. Nekrasov, "BPS/CFT CORRESPONDENCE II: INSTANTONS AT CROSSROADS, MODULI AND COMPACTNESS THEOREM," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 21 (2017) 503-583, arXiv:1608.07272 [hep-th].
- [79] N. Nekrasov, "BPS/CFT Correspondence III: Gauge Origami partition function and qq-characters," Commun. Math. Phys. 358 no. 3, (2018) 863-894, arXiv:1701.00189 [hep-th].
- [80] W. Li and M. Yamazaki, "Quiver Yangian from Crystal Melting," JHEP 11 (2020) 035, arXiv:2003.08909 [hep-th].
- [81] D. Galakhov and M. Yamazaki, "Quiver Yangian and Supersymmetric Quantum Mechanics," arXiv:2008.07006 [hep-th].
- [82] J.-t. Ding and K. Iohara, "Generalization and deformation of Drinfeld quantum affine algebras," *Lett. Math. Phys.* 41 (1997) 181–193.
- [83] K. Miki, "A (q, γ) analog of the W_{1+∞} algebra," Journal of Mathematical Physics 48 no. 12, (2007) 3520. http: //scitation.aip.org/content/aip/journal/jmp/48/12/10.1063/1.2823979.
- [84] B. Feigin, E. Feigin, M. Jimbo, T. Miwa, E. Mukhin, et al., "Quantum continuous gl(∞): Semiinfinite construction of representations," Kyoto Journal of Mathematics 51 no. 2, (2011) 337–364, arXiv:1002.3100 [math.QA].

- [85] B. Feigin, M. Jimbo, T. Miwa, E. Mukhin, et al., "Quantum toroidal gl₁-algebra: Plane partitions," Kyoto Journal of Mathematics 52 no. 3, (2012) 621–659, arXiv:1110.5310.
- [86] J. Shiraishi, H. Kubo, H. Awata, and S. Odake, "A Quantum deformation of the Virasoro algebra and the Macdonald symmetric functions," *Lett. Math. Phys.* 38 (1996) 33-51, arXiv:q-alg/9507034 [q-alg].
- [87] B. Feigin, A. Hoshino, J. Shibahara, J. Shiraishi, and S. Yanagida, "Kernel function and quantum algebras," arXiv:1002.2485 [math].
- [88] H. Awata, H. Kubo, S. Odake, and J. Shiraishi, "Quantum deformation of the W(N) algebra," in Extended and Quantum Algebras and their Applications to Physics Tianjin, China, August 19-24, 1996. 1996. arXiv:q-alg/9612001 [q-alg].